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Annual General Meeting 
Teleste Corporation’s Annual General Meeting will be held on 
Friday, 8 April 2011, commencing at 3 p.m., at Finlandia Hall in 
Helsinki, Mannerheimintie 13 e. Registration begins at 2 p.m.

Shareholders wishing to attend the Annual General Meeting 
must be registered on the list of shareholders kept by  
Euroclear Finland Ltd no later than Tuesday, 29 March 2011.

Shareholders wishing to attend the Annual General Meeting 
must inform the specified company no later than Thursday,  
31 March 2011 by 4 p.m. 

Registration
Email: investor.relations@teleste.com
Post: Teleste Corporation, Tiina Vuorinen
P.O. Box 323, FI-20101 Turku, Finland
Phone: +358 2 2605 611, fax: +358 2 2605 812 

A Holder of Nominee Registered Shares
A holder of nominee registered shares is advised without 
delay to request necessary instructions regarding the registra-
tion in the shareholders’ register of the Company, the issuing 

of powers of -attorney and the registration for the Annual 
General Meeting from his/her custodian bank. The account 
management organization of the custodian bank will register a 
holder of nominee registered shares, who wants to participate 
in the Annual General Meeting, to be temporarily entered in 
the shareholders’ register of the Company at the latest  
5 April 2011 at 10 a.m.

Proposal for Distribution of Dividend 2010 
The Board of Directors proposes that a dividend of EUR 0.12 
per share for the financial year 2010 will be paid to free-float-
ing shares. The dividend will be paid to shareholders who are 
registered on the record date of 13 April 2011 on the com-
pany’s Shareholder List, which is kept by Euroclear Finland Ltd. 

Publication of Financial Information in 2011
Interim Report, January–March................................... 27.4.2011
Interim Report, January–June.........................................3.8.2011
Interim Report, January–September.........................26.10.2011
Financial Statements.......................................................1.2.2012

More information on pages 84–91.

VIDEO NETWORKS  
A leading provider of 

integrated video surveil-
lance solutions.

VIDEO AND  
BROADBAND SOLUTIONS 

Innovative and reliable technology 
solutions for the development of home 

information and entertainment.

NETWORK SERVICES 
New construction, upgrading  

and maintenance services  
for cable networks.

TELESTE  
Year 2010 net sales 

amounted to EUR 168 million 
and operating profit grew 

significantly. At the year-end 
the Group employed  

1 233 persons.

The revolution  
in communications  

as well as new digital content  
and services will change  

the world. 

We are constantly  
working to improve  
our understanding of our 

customers’ needs to be able to 
produce more innovative, value-

added technology solutions.

3



Key Figures

Business Areas

Global Presence –  
Local RelevanceFounded in 1954, Teleste became listed on the current NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy in 1999. 

Teleste is an international high-technology and network services company the strategy of 
which is to create increased added value to our solutions by continuously improving our 
understanding of the operators’ business, applications and needs. Our expertise is based on 
product solutions and services for the processing, networking, transmission and management 
of video and data for operators and public authorities. 

Since acquisitions carried out in 2009 and 2010 the company has two equally large, mutually 
supportive businesses. At that time, by net sales, Network Services rose to the level of Video 
and Broadband Solutions. 

Our businesses are linked by shared customer base as well as video and broadband 
technology. Video and Broadband Solutions business segment has its emphasis on product 
solutions for broadband access networks, video service platforms and video surveillance 
applications. Our Network Services business provides operators in selected markets with 
comprehensive network-related technical services. 

2010 2009 Change, %

Orders received, Meur 167.2 151.0 10.7

Net sales, Meur 167.8 141.7 18.5

Operating profit, Meur 7.4 2.5 194.5

Profit for the financial period, Meur 4.8 0.4

Earnings per share, eur 0.27 0.02

Shareholder´s equity per share, eur 2.90 2.68

Return on capital employed, % 10.2 3.3

Share trade, % of share capital 17.4 44.0

Video and Broadband Solutions

The Teleste Video and Broadband Solutions business units aim 
to promote the business of operators and public authorities who 
provide a variety of video-related information, entertainment 
and security services to end-users. The business segment has its 
emphasis on product solutions for broadband access networks, 
video service platforms and video surveillance applications.

In the area of broadband access networks, our focus is on deliver-
ing Hybrid Fibre-Coaxial (HFC) network solutions, including Deep 
Fibre, and other advanced fibre-rich network solutions for Cable 
TV and next generation network operators. In the area of video 
service platforms, we deliver product solutions for digital video 
processing and distribution applications, such as cable TV and 
IP TV headend solutions. For video surveillance applications, we 
deliver advanced professional network solutions – mainly to public 
authorities – for processing, transmission and management of 
real-time video, data and audio.

Network Services 

The Network Services Business provides network-related tech-
nical services to operators in selected markets. The develop-
ment of the business unit has taken place through a mix of 
organic growth and focused acquisitions. Our offering consists 
of network design and planning, turn-key projects, new con-
struction, rebuilding, upgrading and maintenance services of 
cable and FTTx networks. A core area of our service offering is 
Network planning & Technical management services, with over 
70 dedicated planning and engineering professionals. We are 
well placed to provide operators with the resources they need 
to carry out any detailed network design on time. Currently, we 
have service operations in Germany, UK, Belgium and Finland, 
with focus on the leading operators at each country.

Video and Broadband Solutions 2010 2009 Change, %

Orders received, Meur 86.5 81.6 6.0

Net sales, Meur 82.0 76.3 7.5

Operating profit, Meur 6.3 –0.7

Operating profit, % 7.7 –0.9

Network Services 2010 2009 Change, %

Orders received, Meur 80.7 69.4 16.2

Net sales, Meur 85.9 65.4 31.3

Operating profit, Meur 1.1 3.2

Operating profit, % 1.3 4.9

Business segments from 1 January, 2010.
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Profit for the 
Financial Period

Central Europe, covered by our densest 
network of agencies, constitutes our main 
market. The number of Teleste offices 
around the world is more than 30.

For contact information please access the 
company website at www.teleste.com

Our Customers are
Operators focusing on 
video, e.g. cable and 

surveillance operators 
globally.

Video and  
Broadband  
Solutions

Product solutions for broad-
band access networks,  
video service platforms  
and video surveillance  

applications.

Network  
Services

Comprehensive network 
service solutions for 

cable and FTTx  
networks.

Teleste in Brief

Teleste Netherlands Teleste Sweden Teleste UK

Teleste headquarters in Turku region, Littoinen
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Highlights in 2010

Heading for Lean Production

Chairman of the Board New module plant

New pull-controlled picking warehouse New production cell New lean shipping department New pallet storage and loading area

In 2010, Teleste continued with lean manufacturing and increas-
ing the efficiency of its production according to the company’s 
production strategy. At the beginning of the year, in the end of 
January, the new module manufacturing plant built next to the 
Littoinen headquarters was introduced. New premises enabled 
pulling all manufacturing activities taking place in Finland toget
her into one single plant. That meant, that nearly 90 persons 

changed office from Nousiainen to Littoinen. Concentrating the 
manufacturing to Littoinen was a major logistical and environ
mental reform, which reduced the processing of materials and  
semi-finished goods, minimized transportation time and enabled 
reduction in work in progress. Employees welcomed the change 
and the move of module manufacturing activities carried out in 
stages was finished swiftly in less than a week.

In addition to consolidation of our manufacturing operations, 
we invested in 2010 heavily in the development of logistics 
operations of the Littoinen plant. With the new premises we 
introduced a storage location system integrated in our ERP 
system and a new pull-controlled picking storage. The layout and 
component placement of the new picking area was implemented 
by optimizing picking routes, which enabled a reduction both in 
terms of picking distance and time. As part of the development 
of our logistics functions we also introduced a new lean dispatch 
center.

In 2010 we continued to develop our final production by switch-
ing over to the pull-controlled cell-based manufacturing, which 
enables a customer-oriented, efficient and flexible method of 
production. This Lean Production -project will continue in 2011 
with a special focus to improve production control and supply 
chain management in line with the LEAN principles.

Marjo Miettinen Teleste Corporation, Chairman of the Board

Currently, Teleste’s industry is right in the middle of an upheaval, which is why it has been 
so very interesting to be involved in the company’s development. We have come out of 
a severe economic crisis having intensified our operations at the same time. Now we are 
pondering what kind of impact the coming significant industry breakthroughs in the video 
distribution and broadband technology will have on Teleste’s long-term business.”

The global economic situation showed gradual improvement, which began to be reflected in 
the operators’ investment behavior in 2010. Nevertheless, the company still continued its 
streamlining measures in material procurement and by adapting the need for labour by the 
prevailing situation. 

In terms of figures, year 2010 can be seen economically successful; net sales increased by 
18.5% to EUR 167.8 million and operating profit improved significantly. It may be pointed 
out that in Q4 Teleste’s orders received reached the all-time high.

Acquisitions were continued in 2010 as in April Teleste made an opening gambit in the Swiss 
services market by acquiring local services company Freycom S.A. focusing on network 
maintenance and upgrading. In the autumn, the company acquired the Polish system 
integrator Satlan Sp. z o.o.

Significant Events

At the end of January Teleste Video Service 
Platforms (VSP) launched a Partner Program 
for Video Service Platforms Partners (=key 
customers). The goal with the Partner 
Programs is to increase both Teleste’s and 

our Partners’ sales and business profitability by working more 
closely together. 

The VSP Partner Program was launched with a Partner Meeting 
held in Teleste 
HQ in Turku. 
The agenda of 
the meeting 
included both 
technical and 
sales training, 
furthermore 
we had one-
to-one discus-
sions with our Partners about current and near future business 
cases. The participants came mainly from Europe and especially 
Central and Eastern Europe. The visitors came from Serbia, 
Hungary, Bulgaria, Romania, Poland, Switzerland, Sweden, Italy 
and the United Arab Emirates.

Q1 In July Teleste was awarded a contract 
to supply, together in partnership with 
IBM France, who is acting as the prime 
integrator, to SNCF (French National Rail-
way Corporation) a centralized recording 

solution to be used for their video surveillance infrastructure. 
The centralized recording system in question has capacity to 
record 8 300 surveillance camera streams simultaneously, 
expandable to 35 000 cameras, which is one of the largest 
single recording platforms in use globally in video surveillance 
systems. 

In August Teleste was chosen as an exclusive FTTx-equip-
ment supplier for HOT Telecom in Israel. The large-scale 
Fttx upgrade deployment program of HOT Telecom cable 
networks, covering two million Homes Passed, will start by 
changing the architecture from HFC towards very deep fibre 
to enable higher capacity for new services up to 100 Mb/s 
high speed data, VOD, telephony and HDTV. 

In September Teleste acquired a Polish system integrator 
Satlan Sp. z o.o. The company delivers IP video and broad-
band solutions for Polish operators and service providers. 
Through this acquisition, Teleste further expands its market 
presence as a video services solution partner for cable opera-
tors, broadcasters and IPTV service providers.

Q3In Spring the Finnish cable operator Turku 
Cable TV launched a new Cable Video-on-
Demand (VOD) service which works on 
the Teleste-developed MyCast-application 
platform. The Video-on-Demand service will 

significantly change viewing habits over the next few years, as 
more and more consumers appreciate the opportunity to choose 
their own program content and the time to view it. Cable Video-
on-Demand is 
an easy and 
affordable 
option, as the 
services work 
on customer’s 
existing cable 
receivers (set-
top-boxes).

In April Teleste 
entered the Swiss services market by acquiring a local services 
company specialising in network maintenance and upgrades. 
The company in question is Freycom S.A. with its business area 
in upgrades and maintenance of cable and house networks. In 
Switzerland, penetration of cable networks is one of the high-
est in Europe with about 250 local operators in the business.

Q2 In October Teleste’s subsidiary Cableway 
AG signed a three-year contract extension 
with Kabel Deutschland on the upgrading  
and maintenance services of cable net-
works. In terms of net sales, the estimated 

annual value of this frame agreement equals approximately 
EUR 50 million. Cableway is by far the largest service provider 
in Germany focusing on cable networks with every major Ger-
man cable operator included in its clientele. Kabel Deutschland 
is the largest cable operator in Germany with approximately  
9 million connected households today. 

Further in October 
Teleste undersigned 
an agreement with 
INEO (GDF Suez Group) 
to provide a video 
surveillance system for 
Paris police organisa-
tion (Paris Préfecture 
de Police). The system will manage directly more than 1 100 
cameras within Paris territory, and will interconnect with 
other security networks across Paris metropolitan area, in 
total covering more than 10 000 cameras: railways, under-
ground, city of Paris traffic control, large Parisian malls, etc. 

Q4
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Strategy and Vision

Strategic Directions

Key Strategy Areas

Leader in Broadband Video
The world is at the brink of digital revolution. The changes in communications are going to 
change the world. Digital video will be everywhere. People want to see their favourite content 
wherever they want and whenever they want. Networks must evolve to make it all possible.

We at Teleste are ready to transform these challenges into opportunities, based on our strong 
knowhow and competence backed by over 50 years of industry experience. We do this by 
developing innovative solutions and services to build the future.

Video and Broadband Solutions

Our strategic development focuses on inno-
vative and more value creating product solu-
tions for broadband and access networks, 
TV headends (video processing) and profes-
sional video surveillance applications with 
increasing interest in network management. 

We will continue our strong local presence 
in our target markets (Europe and selected 
other markets) and will continue to utilise 
and strengthen our deep understanding 
of the needs of our customers for offering 
optimised solutions. Technology will remain 
at the core of our activities.

We are a high technology company with customer oriented 
technology development as our main approach. By utilising the 
synergy of our product solutions, we are investing also for the 
development of the second pillar of Teleste – services business.  
We will be the winning Pan-European service provider for opera-
tors offering top service quality. 

We do this by expanding our best practises, increasing our know
ledge based services, moving fast, trusting on local entrepreneur-
ship and understanding well the specific customer needs. We work 
 towards understanding even better the operator’s business, app
lication, their needs and underlying drivers, to be better able to 
create value by innovations.

Network Services

Our strategic development focuses on com-
prehensive and high added value network 
service solutions for cable networks in 
selected markets. 

We will continue strengthening our strong 
local entrepreneurship, our operational 
excellence and technology understanding. 
We aim to become the most preferred 
Pan-European service provider for cable 
operators.

Core Competence, Values and Vision

Values 

•  Customer centricity

•  Respect

•  Reliability

•  Result orientation

Core competence
Transformation of awareness
about customer needs and
technology into fully
optimised end-to-end
broadband and video
solutions for operators

Video processing and
transmission technology (RF, IP)

VISION 
Leading provider of 

broadband video 
technology and servi-

ces for operators

Teleste is number one European provider of HFC (hybrid fibre-optic 
and coax network), including deep fibre networks, and we are 
working towards increasing our market share. We are challenging 
the residential data market with our advanced next generation  
network solutions, which include our optimised offering for mig
rating HFC towards more fibre-rich networks (FTTx). We continue 
developing comprehensive DVB and IP based products and sys- 
tems to improve our strong position in cable TV and IPTV head-
end and video management business, as well as widening our 
product range and competence through strategic partnering. In 
video surveillance business, we are focusing on large integrated 
systems, customization capability and total network and manage-
ment solutions.

At Teleste we have defined three key objective areas where we will take strategic steps:

Customer  
Satisfaction

Comprehensive application understanding. We offer solutions•	
More value by innovations (improving ARPU, reducing OPEX)•	
Local presence, channel partners, new customer base (telecoms, ISP’s)•	

Technology  
Leadership

Number one in European cable access networks•	
Innovative broadband solutions (e.g. Fibre-to-the-Home)•	
Best mid-segment TV headend solutions•	
Managed professional surveillance systems•	

Pan-European  
Services

The most preferred Pan-European service provider for cable operators•	
Entrepreneurship combined with operational excellence and technology understanding•	
High added value services•	

The revolution in communications as well 
as new digital content and services will 
change the world. We will communicate 
with people and devices/machines in new 
ways, and consume new content in new 
ways; wherever and whenever we want, 
with whatever device we have for the 
purpose.

HDTV, IPTV, 3DTV, YouTube, up/down-
loading, social media, WebTV, gaming, 
smart phone and tablet PC’s, mini laptops, 
mobile TV, Security & surveillance all 
around you… this is just the beginning!

All this means more bandwidth require-
ments. Actually, we will need more 
bandwidth/speed tomorrow than we can 
imagine today. In spite of, and especially 
because of the fast evolution in mobile 
communications, the need for expanded 
physical access will increase, generating 
new uses. Actually, for high-speed 
connections, i.e. up to 1 000 Mbps or 
higher, physical network is so far the only 
cost-efficient solution. The existing hybrid 
fibre coaxial (HFC) networks already 
provide very high capacity, and they will 
continue their evolution towards fibre-rich 
networks (FTTx).

Service and Network Requirement Are Changing…

We continue to focus on product solutions and services for processing, networking, transmission and  
management of video and data for operators and public authorities.
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Streamlined Cost Structures

In 2010, Teleste continued to lighten the costs to the level 
required by the market situation. 24 people were made 
redundant as agreed in the co-determination process and the 
personnel in Finland continued on rotating layoffs. Savings were 
achieved also in material procurement. In production, lean manu-
facturing was developed further. Towards the year-end, expan-
sion measures were launched to concentrate Teleste’s Finnish 
operations in to the Littoinen plant.

The impact of the effective cost adaptation measures were felt in 
Teleste’s result. Difficult projects were carried out through good 
co-operation with the personnel. Team Spirit was in the focus of 
training provided in our special Forward Together Year. This was a 
campaign for the development of leadership and team skills, and 
introduction of new methods drawing on the expertise of the 
personnel.

Teleste’s competence lies in its state-of-the-art technical exper-
tise. Thus, our R&D efforts were maintained on a high level given 
the size of the company. Our investments in R&D amounted to 
EUR 10.3 million (10.8). The key development items included the 
Luminato headend system, our modular optical node, and the 
video surveillance management system VMX.

Outlook 2011

Teleste is operating in growth areas of the future such as net-
work technologies and services as well as processing and video 
surveillance systems. Convergence in the provision of services 
by the cable and telecom operators, toughening competition 
and the growing threats of the general security situation create 
conditions, which promote demand for our product and service 
solutions.

Nevertheless, I expect the growth in 2011 to be just moderate. 
Teleste is a strong player, especially in Europe, where the market 

We managed to achieve considerable cost savings by increasing 
the efficiency of our material procurement and by adjusting our 
need for labor to the prevailing challenging market conditions. 
Satisfactory economic development could also be seen in our 
product business, where the sales of network technology, video 
processing solutions and video surveillance systems were picking 
up slightly. These measures and developments also affected 
Teleste’s key figures. Net sales increased by 18.5% amounting to 
EUR 167.8 million (141.7). Operating profit increased by 195.0% 
standing at EUR 7.4 million (2.5). Undiluted result per share 
equaled EUR 0.27 per share (0.02) and return on capital emp
loyed was 10.2% (3.3%). This positive trend was also reflected in 
orders received, which rose by 10.7% to EUR 167.2 (151.0).

Network Evolution Continues

The developed world is undergoing a great digital transition. In 
particular, the use of moving images across multiple channels 
and devices continues to grow strongly. Yet the breakthrough 
of ubiquitous video unrestricted by time or space makes high 
demands on the network and video processing technology. More-
over, the ways of distributing the wide variety of video services 
are looking for their well-established commercial forms. 

The progress of technological evolution is positive news for 
Teleste Video and Broadband Solutions, which is a major player 
in modern broadband subscriber networks, video-on-demand plat-
forms and video surveillance systems in the European market. 
Teleste is the leading European company in the hybrid fibre-
coaxial (HFC) networks used, in particular, by the cable operators. 
These advanced networks allow the operators to provide the 
end-users with a wide range of services including high-definition 
broadcasts, IPTV options, VoD and 3D services, and high-speed 
internet connections.

A gradual improvement in the general economic situation began  
to show in the operators’ investment behavior in 2010. Similarly, 
exacerbation in the global security situation together with 
increasing numbers of passenger was positively reflected in the 
sale of solutions provided by our product business. Signs of 
recovery were particularly seen in the demand for optical network 
solutions, Luminato headends and our video surveillance and 
recording systems.

A concrete manifestation of this was the EUR 16 million frame 
agreement signed in July with HOT Telecom. The conventional 
cable networks of the Israeli company will be upgraded to a deep  
fiber solution, which enables high-speed data as well as the 
future services of video-on-demand, high-definition television  
and telephony. 

Our long-term cooperation with the French national railway 
company SNCF continued in July, when we secured the order 
for the centralized storage solution for video surveillance. The 
centralized system delivered together with IBM France will simul-
taneously record digital content supplied by 8 300 surveillance 
cameras monitoring traffic on the rails.

In October, another handsome entry could be added to our 
prominent track record in video surveillance in France, when 
Teleste signed a contract of almost EUR 7 million with the Paris 
metropolitan police organization. The video surveillance solution 
for downtown Paris delivered together with Ineon is designed to 
facilitate traffic management, maintenance of order, rescue work 
and prevention of crime and terrorism. The system includes an 
active video network equipment, recording infrastructure, soft-
ware applications and systems management.

In the autumn, we strengthened our position in Poland’s rapidly 
emerging markets by acquiring the entire share capital of the 
major systems integrator Satlan Sp. z o.o.. Satlan supplies IP 
video and broadband solutions to Polish cable operators and 
service providers.

Video and Broadband Solutions’ net sales in 2010 amounted to 
EUR 82.0 million (76.3), an increase of 7.5%. The impact on net 
sales of the Satlan acquisition was 3.6 million. Operating profit of 
our product division increased significantly to EUR 6.3 million (0.7).

German Services Operations Reorganized

Teleste’s services business area Network Services focused on 
supporting the operations of Europe’s largest cable operators. In 
practical terms this involves services related to design, construc-
tion, upgrading and maintenance of cable networks. An increasing 
number of operators outsource their technical services to special-
ist firms as the system becomes more complex and the costs 
of the network maintenance increase. This, of course, opens up 
opportunities for the sales of Teleste’s own product solutions.

Our strategic acquisitions carried out in 2009 in the most valuable 
European cable networks market of Germany had a key impact on 
the profit from our services business in 2010. Reorganizations of 
our German operations such as merging of companies, elimina-
tion of overlaps, geographical clarification and temporary use of 
contractors took longer than expected, which slowed down the 
development in net sales. Moreover, deliveries mainly involved 
simple services like cable modem installations, which brought 
down the level of financial performance. Nevertheless, the three-
year services contract signed with Kabel Deutschland at the end 
of the year secures our leading position in the German services 
market enabling a long-term development of the business.

Besides Germany Teleste also runs active services business else-
where in Central and Northern Europe and Great Britain and these 
are all areas with a very high cable penetration. In Switzerland we 
invested in a relatively small services company to get established 
in the French-speaking region of the country. In Belgium and Fin-
land Teleste continued deliveries of network design services to the 
leading cable operators in these countries. Similarly, in the UK our 
planning and projecting services remained at a satisfactory level.

Net sales of Network Services increased by 31.0% to EUR 85.5 
million (65.4). Part of the increase in net sales was due to acquisi-
tions. Operating profit stood at EUR 1.1 million (EUR 3.2 million).

2010 – Year of Good Recovery
Recovery of the global economy from the deep economic crisis of 2008–2009 has 
been relatively slow. This has, of course, also had its implications for Teleste’s success 
in 2010. Yet, thanks to our acquisitions, own efficiency measures and the moderate 
pick-up in the demand for solutions of our product business area, we can look back to 
2010 as a financially successful year. Both net sales and operating profit increased 
significantly compared with the previous fiscal year. 

CEO ś Letter

recovery is seen to continue relatively subdued. I believe that the 
gradual revival in our target markets will, however, continue. The 
cold winter in Europe will, in its part, affect our operations in the 
first quarter of 2011. Demand for the services provided by our 
Network Services is likely to remain relatively stable.

While posing a challenge, the calmness in the markets also pro-
vides us with an opportunity. We will continue determinedly the 
implementation of our strategy with our goal set on profitable 
growth. Our offering of products and services is competitive, and 
our well-known track record of customers will strengthen the 
sales of Teleste products. 

I would like thank everyone at Teleste for the cooperation and 
team spirit shown in a truly challenging year. As to Teleste’s 
other stakeholders including customers, partners and share
holders, I thank you for your continued support and commitment.

Jukka Rinnevaara 
President and CEO  

Convergence in the provision of ser-
vices by the cable and telecom ope
rators, toughening competition and 
the growing threats of the general 
security situation create conditions, 
which promote demand for our  
product and services solutions. 
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In Teleste’s two business areas,  
Video and Broadband Solutions and  
Network Services, we focus on product  
and service solutions for the processing,  
transmission and management of video  
and data for operators and public authori
ties who provide a variety of video-related 
information, entertainment and security 
services to end-users.

Video and Broadband Solutions is organized into 
business units with emphasis on product solutions for broad-
band access networks, video service (headend) platforms and 
video surveillance applications. With broadband access and 
Cable TV & IPTV headend solutions we are paving the way 
towards a new, more interactive world of media. We do this 
by making future TV quality and data transfer rates available 
today. In Video Surveillance, our aim is to help improving the 
safety and efficiency of society.

Network Services delivers comprehensive network service 
solutions, including network design and planning, rebuild-
ing, updating and maintenance services for cable and FTTx 
network operators. This allows the operators to keep a step 
ahead with their infrastructures to make digital revolution 
possible. 

Our Businesses

THE DIGITAL FUTURE – The changes in communications will 
impact the whole world. Digital video and data will be everywhere. 
People want to enjoy their favourite content wherever they want,  
whenever they want and with the device they prefer. We at 
Teleste supply solutions to make that change possible.
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Video and Broadband Solutions 
TV Distribution Businesses 

Teleste Video and Broadband Solutions provides access network products, headends 
and on-demand video solutions to cable and telecom operators of all sizes.

Business Areas

Customer Cases

Numericable is a part of Altice Group and the largest cable 
TV operator in France with 97% market share and coverage of 
nearly 10 million homes. Their network consists of tens of regio-
nal hubs knitted together by nationwide IP backbone.

Due to gradual discontinuation of analogue TV broadcasting 
during 2010 and 2011, Numericable was looking for an advan
ced solution to turn traditional analogue TV services to digital. 
In addition to providing TV services received via the IP back-
bone, Numericable wanted to complement the service selection 
with local terrestrial TV services received at each of the local 
headend. All the services were to be broadcasted with both 
DVB-T and DVB-C standards into Numericable cable TV network.

Teleste Luminato platform was shortlisted for negotiations and 
it appeared to be appealing to Numericable both technically and 
commercially. The main advantages were modularity and density 
of Teleste Luminato, meaning in practise that each Numericable 
headend required only one Luminato chassis to receive the TV 
services from the specified sources and ingest them to Numeri-
cable network in the required formats. Luminato redundancy 
features and ease of use were considered outstanding as well, 
all resulting to high reliability and cost savings which were well 
appreciated by Numericable.

TeliaSonera is an International telecom group that offers both 
fixed and mobile network telecommunications services to enter-
prise and consumer customers. TeliaSonera offers services in 20 
markets in the Nordic and Baltic countries, the emerging markets 
of Eurasia - including Russia and Turkey - as well as in Spain.

For years TeliaSonera Finland has been building up a fiber-optic 
network in numerous Finnish cities to span the last mile. This has 
provided a good starting point for offering households both TV 
and broadband services. 

TV services are delivered via TeliaSonera’s own national IP 
backbone network in several towns in which the services are 
transferred through fiber-optic network to households. Teleste’s 
equipment deliveries related to fiber-optic network began in late 
2009. The deliveries included Edge-QAM headends and optical 
transmitters, light amplifiers and real estate receivers of the 
optical transmission system. 

All delivered system components are also connected to a net-
work monitoring system via TeliaSonera’s network management. 
For TeliaSonera comprehensive monitoring of network elements 
is an important function to ensure the quality of networks. Telia-
Sonera will continue to build new networks based on the same 
technology.

Numericable – DVB-C and DVB-T service  
delivery in cable TV network

TeliaSonera Finland – Cost-effective Distribution 
of TV Services by Means of Teleste’s Product 
Solutions

Our Business

Teleste is the leading supplier of access networks to European 
cable operators. Our offering includes all components of the 
HFC network from fibre-optic solutions to field amplifiers and all 
the way to house network amplifiers and passive components. 
Teleste’s key competitive edge is our ability to respond to the 
needs of the large operators by modifying our provision of 
products to solve the customers’ challenges.

Teleste goes back a long time as a supplier of headends. Our 
focus has shifted from analogue headends to fully digital ones 
to be complemented by our next generation IPTV product range. 
In this segment we have expanded our market area especially in 
Eastern Europe and in selected Asian markets, with new expan-
sion focusing in Spain and Latin America.

The significance of support systems is growing rapidly as the 
technologies and systems get increasingly complex. In our 
product business we focus on the provision of consultancy serv-
ices related to system design and system verification, mainte-
nance services for the supplied systems as well as training.

Customers and Markets

The traditional backbone of Teleste’s clientele is formed by larg-
est European cable operators. Today’s cable operators provide 
the households with all the essential telecommunication services: 
TV programming, telephony and broadband access to Internet. 
For the operators to maintain and strengthen their competitive 
edge they need to invest continually in increasing access network 
capacity and in solutions allowing them to launch to the market 
new innovative services.

The operator world is experiencing a major disruption when the 
traditional broadcast TV distribution is evolving to on-demand 
service delivery. For the first time, the incumbent telecom opera-
tors are in a position to start winning significant market share 
in TV distribution market. This may open new business oppor-
tunities for Teleste’s DVB head-end offering as well as associ-
ated optical transmission equipment for distribution of the TV 

programs to consumers. Such solutions have already been sup-
plied by Teleste to TeliaSonera for their TV distribution service in 
Finland.

Teleste’s latest generation of headend solutions is designed 
for small and medium sized networks. Alongside with small 
independent operators this also allows the large cable operators 
– who apply Teleste’s solution to their regional networks – to use 
our products. In order to reach the small and medium operators 
Teleste has focused particularly on building up distribution chan-
nels especially in Central and Eastern Europe. With the target to 
reach overseas markets, Teleste has established OEM arrange-
ments with branded vendors who have existing sales channels in 
markets such as Middle-East, Spain, Russia and Americas.

Highlights 2010

Year 2010 was characterized by continuation of economic 
depression, which started in 2009. This recession continued to 
affect network investments by some cable operators. Due to the 
picking up of investments during Q4, the sales reached modest 
growth. 

The main investment in 2010 was the acquisition of Satlan  
Sp. z o.o.. Satlan is a system integrator in Poland, with signifi-
cant market share in the digital head-end market in Poland. The 
target is to further grow the Satlan system integration business, 
with particular focus on Video on Demand solutions, leveraging 
Teleste MyCast software platform. Furthermore, the target is to 
leverage Satlan presence in Poland to win market share in the 
HFC market.

A major win worth noting was HOT Telecom agreement which 
opened our sales into Israel. Another significant new market 
entry has been the roll-out of RF overlay solution for TeliaSonera 
in Finland, helping TeliaSonera promote its TV services to a much 
wider subscriber base in major cities in Finland. Fibre optic seg-
mentation projects generated sales in Benelux, Nordic countries, 
France, Germany and UK. Eastern European market has been 
more active as well.

In 2010 we continued our strong sales growth of the Luminato 
headend system. We have received orders from major cable 
operators like Numericable in France, as well as through our 
sales partners in Eastern Europe and China. Towards the end 
of the year, a strategic collaboration agreement was completed 
with Ikusi in Spain, with the target to grow Luminato sales in 
Spain and Latin America, using Ikusi’s strong presence in those 
markets. 

The Steps to Follow 

As to the HFC network, we will especially focus on fibre-optic 
solutions. Main emphasis is on flexible optical nodes allowing 
operator to optimize its network investments, using flexible, 
future proof product platform. We are continuously developing 
our Fibre to the Home solution for cable operators, using Radio 
Frequency over Glass (RFoG) technology. We are constantly 
looking for new innovations allowing the operating expenses to 

be minimised either by automating field work or by replacing it 
with remote network management.

The optical access network and the passive products market 
provide opportunities for growth in which Teleste’s traditional 
strengths can be put to excellent use. Furthermore, in in-home 
networks there is need for new technical innovations allowing 
interactive video to be distributed to various devices in house-
holds.

On sales development area, we will further evaluate sales oppor-
tunities to telecom operators, with main focus being in Europe.

We will continue in developing the Teleste Partner Program 
designed to ensure our resellers’ ability to develop the sales 
of Teleste products while providing professional maintenance 
services.

Our Vision 
The leading technology 

partner to the cable 
operators.

Mission 
To enable the development 
of home entertainment by 
providing innovative and 

reliable technology solutions.

Solution 
HFC access network  
and integrated video 
headend solutions.

Key markets 
Europe and selected 

markets in Asia.

Primary clientele 
Cable operators, 

telephone operators 
and system integrators.
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Business Areas

Our Business

Teleste Video Networks makes available comprehensive CCTV 
solutions, which consist of a combination of state-of-the-art 
products and technologies, complemented with professional 
services ranging from system design through project deploy-
ment to system maintenance and training. In system integration 
projects, CCTV is linked up with other systems like traffic man-
agement systems, alarm & crisis management systems etc. 

Through its own offices, Teleste Video Networks is present locally 
in all the major geographical markets: Europe, North-America and 
Southeast Asia. End-users are reached mainly through channel 
partners. 

Customers and Markets

Teleste Video Networks is focusing on end-user segments requir-
ing large-scale systems with a wide range of advanced features. 
The most significant segments stand for the public sector, such 
as local police for city centre monitoring, and authorities in 
charge of rail, road and air transport. As to the private sector 
applications, the primary end-user segments include business 
running critical infrastructure as well as utilities. These target 
market segments demand advanced video surveillance systems 
requiring high-quality and real-time video, audio and data net-
working, including tools to analyse and process the recorded 
video material.

Our customers wish to use the same CCTV system for a number 
of purposes. For instance, the video monitoring system at an air-
port can be used by airlines, retailers at the airport, guardian and 
security service providers, police and border guard, to name a 
few. This allows for maximum utilisation of the made investment. 
For these complex demands, the end-customers are looking for 
partners who can deliver customised solutions including mainte-
nance and operation of the relevant infrastructure.

Video and Broadband Solutions 
Video Networks

Teleste Video Networks delivers all-inclusive CCTV applications. We focus on 
demanding targets requiring video surveillance that allow the end-user to benefit 
from networking together cameras, recorders and workstations across a number of 
locations into one unified CCTV system.

The long-term market outlook for IP based video surveillance is 
positive – in the coming years the current analogue systems will 
be replaced by full-digital systems and any new constructions will 
rapidly move over to IP based solutions in all the market areas.

Highlights 2010

The global recession made its mark also on the video surveil-
lance market, with some customer segments or markets facing 
downturn. Investments were slow e.g. in banking, retail and 
traffic monitoring applications. Similarly, public deficits impacted 
negatively public sector investments e.g. in Spain and UK. On the 
other hand, investments targeting enhancements in homeland 
security continued on a strong level. Additionally, markets like 
China and France experienced healthy growth.

Major customer wins in 2010 included a contract to deliver a 
world-class centralized recording platform for French National 
Railway Company SNCF. This project was won together with 
IBM, who provides the technology platform to SNCF as a hosted 
service. This platform provides a single recording entity with 
initial capacity to handle 8 000 video streams. The previously 
contracted deliveries to SNCF continued on a steady level. In the 
rail segment Teleste also completed deliveres to Chicago Transit 
Authority, covering recording solutions for 144 stations. 

In city surveillance segment, Teleste secured a position as 
the technology supplier for the winning consortium to supply 
Préfecture de Police in Paris metropolitan area state-of-the-art 
video surveillance platform. The consortium is lead by Ineo, part 
of GDF Suez group in France. The project deliveries, valued at 
almost EUR 7 million, take place in 2011–2013.

The first system to Queensland State Gatton prison was com-
pleted. This project was delivered in collaboration with Saab 

Security as the prime integrator. Also further expansions of the 
CCTV platforms in Capetown, South Africa, are worth a mention.

In addition to these significant projects, we have continued and 
expanded our businesses in the existing market areas of Aus-
tralia, the Near East, South Africa, Europe and the USA.

The Steps to Follow 

The video surveillance market is in the phase of transitioning 
from analogue video to all-digital video surveillance systems, 
built on generic IP networking infrastructure. The focus in R&D 
has shifted towards application software development, as well 
as implementing new system level functionality, encompassing 
both video encoding, recording and client application. 

The video surveillance industry has adopted a strong agenda 
to reach interoperability across products used to build CCTV 
systems. Teleste is in favour of these standardisation initia-
tives and is committed to adopt ONVIF standard for relevant 
products. During 2010 first implementations of ONVIF interfaces 
have been done. In conjunction with this, video standard H.264 

is rapidly gaining ground in the video surveillance applications. 
The VMX video control and recording software by Teleste already 
support the H.264 standard. This development will be comple-
mented with launching of field hardened encoders supporting the 
H.264 standard to the market during 2011. 

The VMX video control and recording software is being devel-
oped in two respects. First, the video recording capacity will 
be increased so that the software can be applied to create the 
world’s most heavy-duty centralised recording systems with 
top-notch reliability. Second, the software will be made more 
integration-friendly by adopting, for instance, Web Services tech-
nologies in the user interface development.

Teleste Video Networks is continuously expanding its network of 
channel partners in order to address new markets and to maxim-
ise our reach to end-users. Our aim is to establish long-term part-
nerships through promotion of mutually profitable growth. Key 
development is to win new channel partners with IT or Telecoms 
system integration background, as the fully digital video surveil-
lance systems will be demanding integration competences from 
the IT domain.

Our Vision  
A leading provider 
of integrated video 

surveillance  
solutions.

Mission  
Enable high-quality 

and efficient work of 
security professionals 
through provision of 

video surveillance 
technologies.

Solution  
Extensive networked 

video monitoring 
solutions.

Key markets  
The business focus is 
on high-quality video 

surveillance networks for 
road, rail and public places 
monitoring and corporate 

security systems on a 
global scale.

Primary clientele  
The systems developed by 
Teleste are supplied mainly 
to the public sector. Teleste 
delivers its solutions to the 

end-clients for the most part 
through system integrators.

Customer Cases

The State Government of Queensland, Australia is construct-
ing a new Correctional Precinct at Gatton in Southern Queens-
land. A 300-bed high security correctional centre is currently 
being constructed as part of the first stage of the precinct 
development and SAAB Security Pty Ltd are the electronic 
security solution provider. The CCTV solution was designed 
to utilise both the VMX management products, and the MPX 
edge devices from Teleste Video Networks. The equipment 
was delivered through our Australian partner company Optical 
Solutions Australia.

The Saab Group serves the global market with world-leading 
products, services and solutions from military defence to civil 
security. With operations on every continent, Saab continu-
ously develops, adapts and improves new technology to meet 
customers’ changing needs. It’s most important markets 
today are Europe, South Africa, Australia and the US. Saab 
has in excess of 13 000 employees globally, and approxi-
mately 400 in Australia. To adapt to the new conditions in 
the global Defence market, SAAB reorganised earlier in 2010 
into five business areas: Aeronautics, Dynamics, Electronic 
Defence Systems, Security and Defence Solutions, and Sup-
port and Services. It is the Security and Defence Solutions 
business unit (Saab Security Pty Ltd.), headquartered in 
Adelaide, South Australia, which Teleste is co-operating with,  
in the correctional facilities market.

Optical Solutions Australia is a supplier to the fiber optic 
industry, and the distribution partner of Teleste Corporation 
Australia. They are distributors of a select collection of prod-
ucts from world leading manufacturers, as well as their own 

Southern Queensland Correctional Precinct

manufactured items. They have 6 offices dispersed around 
the country, servicing government, mining and transportation 
clients in New South Wales, Queensland, Victoria, Western 
Australia and the Australian Capital Territory. 

The three entities all brought their ‘best game’ to the effort, 
to ensure that the end customer received a standards based, 
future proof, flexible, robust and fully integrated security 
system. Saab, Optical Solutions Australia and Teleste, 
designed and developed the closed circuit television segment 
of a comprehensive security system. The Saab product is the 
integrated security management platform, which delivers the 
unified user interface for all the disparate parts, which include 
intercommunications and public address, access control, 
perimeter fence alarms, CCTV and others.

The task required Teleste to develop their software decoding 
engine to be embedded within the Saab platform, as well as, 
offer an open technical support service to enable Saab to con-
struct the programmes that allow their product, to accurately 
direct the VMX utilities to respond to commands to transmit, 
display, store and retrieve voice and video data, from any 
location to any location.

Optical Solutions Australia was also responsible for design- 
ing and supplying the data network for the whole facility,  
and additionally took on the role as the conduit through which 
the IP camera vendor, Pelco, had their products integrated 
into VMX.

As far as robustness is concerned the customer, quite cor-
rectly, demanded multiple layers of redundancy. That is why 
the VMX solution has been implemented with the usual 
collection of automated failover systems for the servers, and 
recording devices. 

The CCTV element of the security solution comprises a hybrid 
collection of analogue and IP cameras, more than 400 in total. 
The video data is displayed in multiple control rooms, as well 
as being recorded simultaneously with the audio devices in 
use. The system includes more than 375 TBytes of online 
video storage.

As mentioned in the introduction, this is the first phase of 
construction at this precinct, which will continue to be deve
loped to meet the increasing demand for secure correctional 
accommodation, and is expected to finally be approximately 
seven or eight times as large as the present system.
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Network Services	
The year 2010 was twofold; the first half was characterized by a stillness in the market 
and hence a low volume of services, whereas in the end of the year even noticeable  
capacity constraints in the implementation of the services became evident.

Business Description

The primary clientele of Network Services business area consists 
of cable operators providing their end-users with three main 
basic services: TV channels, telephone connections and broad-
band data communication services.

Services provided by this business area include planning, new 
construction, upgrading and maintenance of cable networks. 
The implementation and scope of the relevant services varies by 
client ranging from stand-alone applications to integrated turnkey 
deliveries. In addition to operating and consulting services we 
also offer Teleste’s own product solutions.

Our know-how in services covers all the sectors related to the 
cable network technology from installation and maintenance of 
headends to upgrading of house networks. Parts of the projects 
are carried out by our subcontractor network.

Our main market includes Northern and Central Europe with 
Germany being the single biggest market area. In addition to 
Germany the business unit is currently engaged in local opera-
tions in the United Kingdom, Belgium, Switzerland and Finland. 

Customers and Markets

The primary client group of the business area consists of the 
largest European cable operators. A great deal of the opera-
tors intends to ensure their competitiveness by providing their 
clientele with new and increasingly more efficient services. These 
services are designed to decrease churn among the clients and, 
on the other hand, to increase the average revenue per user 
(ARPU). Internally, the operators are increasingly focusing on 
their own cost structure. Operations related to the technical 
management and hardware solutions of the cable network are, 
to an ever-increasing degree, outsourced or transferred over to 
the suppliers.

The main markets for the services include Central Europe and 
United Kingdom, where cable penetration is very high. In these 
countries, the cable networks enable a very high-speed capacity 
access for the households and in recent years the cable opera-

Business Areas

tors have been able to turn this online feature into a successful 
service. Today, cable operators typically provide their broadband 
customers with 20 to 50 megabit speeds at a very affordable price.

Highlights 2010

The first half of 2010 was characterized by a stillness in the mar-
ket and hence a low volume of services, whereas the latter part 
showed sizeable capacity constraints in the implementation of the 
services.

Mainly this dichotomy related to the timing of our German main 
customer’s marketing efforts and it had an impact on the pace of 
broadband access construction. In the early spring the customer’s 
marketing efforts concerning networks were small so the number 
of network upgrade projects carried out on the turnkey principle in 
our service areas was also small. At the end of the second quarter 
and in the third quarter the decline in volume and the fact that the 
service mainly involved simple cable modem installations resulted 
in a lower level of income. Towards the year-end, the volume level, 
however, rose, but continued to focus on simple cable modem 
installations performed in households. 

Operation of our other major German customers continued by and 
large on the level similar to 2009. For example, the number of 
turnkey FTTH projects remained at the previous year’s level.

To organize our German operations and to simplify their structure 
one of the four acquired companies was merged with the three 
remaining ones. Organization and the companies’ operations were 
re-arranged better to support regional operation close to the 
customer. Moreover, geographic regions of the different companies 
were specified and the regional organizations were reorganized bet-
ter to meet the needs for service coverage. The role of the central-
ized organization came to include the control and support functions 
of the business. Business operations were decentralized into three 
regional companies. The number of office workers was reduced 
whereas the number of field personnel was increased to ensure 
sufficient capacity in the end of the year. At the end of 2010, the 
number of personnel in our German operations amounted to 594, 
out of which 370 worked in the field installations.

Our Vision 
To be the leading provider  

of network services to  
cable operators in the  

entire Europe.

Solutions
New construction, upgrading 

and maintenance services  
for cable networks.

Key markets
Northern and  

Central Europe. 

Primary clientele
Our main customers include cable 

operators providing end-users 
with TV channels, telephone 
connections and broadband  

data communications.

In the UK our cooperation with customers developed positively 
in the first half. We achieved the status of a major service 
partner and in the first half of the year our volume of services 
rose steadily in the planning and projecting services. In the third 
quarter there was a sharp decline in demand, which in total 
terms also led to a decrease in the services delivered by Teleste. 
However, we managed to keep the level good throughout the 
year and in November we saw the volume to turn upward again 
and to develop very positively.

In Switzerland, we acquired a relatively small service company 
to kick off the services business in the French-speaking region 
of the country. The acquired company has two major customers, 
and a few smaller local service relationships. At the end of 2010, 
the company was reorganized better to respond to future needs. 
Efforts were also made to develop key customer quality. Earlier 
in the spring when the service company was acquired a five-year 
extension of contract was signed with the main customer of the 
region.

In Belgium, the network planning service offered to the country’s 
leading cable operator at the end of 2009 was extended with 
additional volume, so that we currently have 11 people to imple-
ment network planning for the customer in question. In addition 
to this, at the end of 2010 we started upgrading the distribution 
network amplifiers for the same customer. Recruitment for assign-
ments involving installation operations will continue in 2011.

In the Finnish cable network market we continued to offer our 
network planning service for the major cable operators. In addi-
tion, we negotiated with a number of operators about the pos-

sibility to take in charge of their cable networks maintenance and 
upgrades. We expect to see the results of these negotiations in 
the first half of 2011.

The Steps to Follow

The main priority for 2011 will continue to be the development 
of profitability of the Germany volume business. We will push 
through two major development programs, the first of which 
relates to automating and streamlining of our resource manage-
ment in the field installation service and the second involves 
development of quality of service in partnership with our main 
customer. With the first program we will introduce new software 
to optimize resource planning and to organize the fieldwork. The 
key activities of the second program include targeted field staff 
training programs for both the subcontractors’ personnel and 
that of our own. In addition to these programs we will continue 
to shape our nationwide organization to better meet the local 
service needs, and we will invest in the reporting and material 
management systems.

In the UK we will continue to focus on profitable growth. Our 
goal is to expand the key customerships so that at the end of 
2011 we would have at least 2-3 significant new customers. 
In 2011 the number of UK personnel will break the limit of 100 
people.

In the smaller service countries we will continue to ramp-up the 
business in line with country-specific plans. We will focus on 
recruitment and ensure the profitability of the business right 
from the beginning. There are no planned acquisitions for 2011.

Customer Cases

EBL Telecom

EBL Telecom is a daughter company of EBL, a Swiss utility 
company operating in electricity, heat and telecommunica-
tions businesses. EBL Telecom provides modern triple-play 
services to its customers in Northwest parts of Switzerland 
and in the area of Romandie. EBL’s network consists of a 
combination of HFC-infrastructure and fibre based connec-
tions, catering both for private and corporate customers. As 
part of their commitment to the region, EBL has acquired 
several networks in their geographical area and has invested 
in the upgrades of these networks.

Teleste strengthened its’ position in the Swiss market by 
adding a local installation company, Freycom, to the group 
in April 2010. EBL Telecom chose to work together with 
Teleste and Freycom, both in the field of network mainte-
nance and upgrades. The upgrade and modernisation co-
operation projects include both planning and implementation. 
Teleste’s target is to be the preferred partner for EBL also 
in the future and therefore Teleste is investing in technical 
training of the staff as well as has brought in technical and 
management personnel with industry specific background.

CTO, Roberto Pellizzon:

“Teleste Network Services, represented by Freycom SA 
in Switzerland, is our main partner in the field of network 
operation, maintenance and extensions of our broadband 
networks in Romandie area (French speaking part of Switzer-
land). Furthermore the partnership includes also the upgrade 
of additional networks we’re acquiring in this area.

EBL will strongly follow its strategy to invest in the expan-
sion of the cable business for the next years because strong 
synergies with the other activities have been identified. This 
will be done by maintaining the principle of outsourcing net-

work construction, operation and maintenance to qualified, 
reliable and future-oriented partners.

Those requisitions where fulfilled by Teleste and their local 
company Freycom SA. Although the several challenging 
processes faced in the projects, EBL and Teleste/Freycom 
have build-up a prosperous partnership based on mutual 
trust and understanding.”

Network Design Services at Telenet
Telenet is a leading provider of broadband cable services in 
Belgium. Telenet provides cable television, high speed inter-
net and telecom services, primarily to residential customers 
in Flanders and Brussels. Under the brand name Telenet 
Solutions, it also provides services for companies in Belgium 
and Luxembourg. Telenet has about 2,8 million homes 
passed in their combined networks and over 1,1 million 
broadband internet customers, and is listed on the Euronext 
Brussels stock exchange.

In the beginning of 2010, Telenet chose to work together 
with Teleste Belgium in the area of detailed network design, 
in their Pulsar upgrades programme. The programme lasts 
for several years and includes capacity upgrades and 
segmentations in their network, to cater for the growing 
bandwidth demand among Telenet’s customers. Teleste’s 
network designers are carrying out design tasks and are 
interfacing with Telenet’s own personnel, as well as with 
other contractors. Teleste’s designers and coordinators are 
working in close co-operation with Telenet, in order a cost-
effective and fast delivery from high level network design to 
actual realisation in the network. Key reasons for Telenet’s 
decision to choose Teleste were Teleste’s extensive applica-
tion know-how, references and strong presence in Belgium. 
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As an innovative technology group Teleste’s 
expertise and competitive edge are based 
on motivated and professional personnel. 
The conducted internal personnel surveys 
have long indicated our strengths to lie in 
openness, appreciation and encouragement 
of responsibility. We are determined both 
to maintain and develop these strengths 
by encouraging and supporting personnel’s 
initiative and by improving the opportunities 
to get involved.

Personnel and 
Environment 

During the year, improvement in management & leadership, 
competencies and communications has taken place. Trained 
participative methods have been introduced and utilized really 
extensively throughout the organization the whole year around. 
It has been gratifying to see the wide and varied application of 
participative methods in projects as well as in the development of 
daily work and activities - in meetings for example.
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Mission 
HR aim at satisfied,  

committed and skilled 
personnel.

Well-being at Work

We at Teleste believe that a good climate and work motivation 
affect well-being at work and that a healthy work community 
sends out a positive image of the company and contributes to 
the willingness to stay of competent employees. 

At Teleste, the well-being at work can be seen in terms of low 
figures for days lost through sickness and long years in service. 
In 2010, 55 of our staff were celebrating their 10th anniversary 
at Teleste (compared to 32 in the previous year), whereas 8 were 
celebrating their 20th year at Teleste’s service (21) and five of us 
had been in the house for no less than 30 years (2).

Together with the occupational health services, to support the 
efforts by Teleste’s supervisors on managing the well-being at 
work we drew up and introduced the Early Support approach 
designed to identify problems posing a risk to the ability to work 
and to come up with the correct solutions as early as possible. 
The supervisors have been broken into this approach with 
practical exercises.

Our leisure committee called Vapari is selected annually from 
amongst the Teleste staff. This body is in charge of organising 
summer and Christmas parties and various events related to 
physical exercise. The company promotes many types of physical 
activities by the staff through financial support. This support 
was sustained even in 2010 in spite of the challenging financial 
circumstances. 

Personnel

Personnel
Teleste is an innovative technology group, the expertise and competitive edge of which  
are based on motivated and professional personnel. At the end of 2010, the number of  
Teleste’s employees stood at 1233. 

HR Vision, Goals and Strategy

In terms of our vision concerning HR, the company is in posses-
sion of a flexible, innovative and learning organisation, which 
supports the corporate strategy.

The objective with HR is satisfied, committed and competent 
personnel supported by good leadership, open and participatory 
work culture as well as functional HR processes.

Strategic focus areas in 2010 included:
Participatory dialog between the employees and management •	
implemented during the strategy drive and which enabled a 
broader understanding concerning interdependencies between 
the strategies of different units.
Leadership training with the focus on personal and team •	
leadership, innovation skills, and their management, as well as 
participatory methods.
	Personnel survey exploring the views of the entire staff.•	
	Launch of the development of the remuneration policies.•	

Forward Together Theme Year 2010

Like many other companies operating in the export and techno
logy industry Teleste has also struggled with recession. On the 
part of the personnel, the recent years have necessitated a high 
degree of flexibility, for instance, in the form of layoffs. The con-
ducted internal personnel surveys have long indicated Teleste’s 
strengths to lie in openness, appreciation, encouragement and 
encouragement of responsibility. Despite the recession we were 
determined both to maintain and develop these strengths by 
announcing 2010 our Forward Together Theme Year. Objectives 
of the Theme Year were: 

To be ready for the next economic boom•	
To raise the company spirit and to support participatory culture•	
To improve our own practices in order to strengthen our •	
international competitiveness 
To build a solid ground for our future success through new •	
business innovations 
To have shared goals and to build interorganizational culture.•	

The project has been instrumental in engaging Teleste’s person-
nel in the construction of organization’s innovation culture. 

During the Theme Year we focused on developing leadership, 
expertise and internal communications. We encouraged and sup-
ported our personnel in taking initiative by improving further the 
opportunities for participation by setting up preparatory leader-
ship training for the supervisors and innovation skills geared to 
the development of work community skills for the personnel. In 
this training we have also learned and practiced activating and 
participatory methods of working. 

Training all supervisors simultaneously has helped greatly 
in putting the new skills and working procedures into use. 
Participatory methods have been introduced and utilized truly 
extensively across the organization and throughout the year. It 
has been gratifying to see these participatory methods to be 
applied widely and variedly both in projects (Strategic Projects), 
development of daily work and operations and in meeting 
situations (everyday innovations). Also the top management is 
committed to the introduction of new practices. Methods have 
been utilized, for example, in developing the procedures of the 
Board of Directors and the Management Group as well as in the 
participatory communications strategy of our entire personnel.

Joint generation of ideas and the introduction of participatory 
approaches have greatly increased collaboration both within 
the units as well as between them. Shared events have 
increased awareness of the work of others, and pushed back 
interdepartmental barriers. During the project, participants from 
different functions have been grouped for further processing 
of the generated ideas, which ensures that different needs and 
views will be included. Understanding diversity and increased 
cooperation have contributed positively to our whole working 
community by increasing job satisfaction and the experience of 
the meaningfulness of work.

Reward and Encouragement

At Teleste, systems related to payment and encouragement 
are based on profitability both at the company and personal 
level. The deployed incentives include systems of bonuses and 
payment by results as well as those involving share bonus 
schemes and options. A working group was established to refine 
the ideas related to rewarding that have come about during the 
Theme Year.

Personnel on December 31

2010 2009

Total 1 233 1 260

Research and Development 119 135

Operations 946 964

Sales and marketing 123 115

Admin & IT 45 46

Finland 364 403

Other countries 869 857

Female 320 335

Miehet 913 925
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Personnel and Environment 

our Vision 
Flexible, innovative  

and learning organization  
in support of Teleste’s 

strategy.
Solutions 

Good governance, open 
and inclusive work culture 

and functional  
HR processes.

The theme  
for the year 2010 

Forward  
Together

Co-operation

Continuous interaction and communication between the 
personnel and the company is ensured by way of monthly 
meetings between the representatives of the employer and the 
employees. Interaction between the management and personnel 
is also maintained by setting up joint meetings participated by 
the management group and the union representatives. By this 
means we have managed to create a flexible atmosphere of 
cooperation, which allowed us to adapt rapidly to the changed 
market situation. 

Joint discussions started in late 2008 ended on January 22, 
2010. These negotiations involved the entire personnel of 
Teleste Corporation. 

Co-operation with Universities and Third Parties

We have continued co-operation with universities and other 
educational establishments to promote the image of a positive 
workplace for the future professionals. This process has taken 
forms such as research collaboration, patronage, and Teleste’s 
representation in various bodies of universities and educational 
institutes. This activity is designed to ensure the utilisation of 
top expertise of the scientific community and the taking into 
account of Teleste’s strategic needs in the learning programs 
of the relevant educational establishments. Teleste is also 
a representation of the Turku Chamber of Commerce, law, 
education and labor committees.

Finland

Other countries

Geographic Distribution 

Female

Male

Sex Distribution

Among the personnel we have carried out a survey, which has 
focused on issues relating to the work process and management. When 
employees’ opinions are taken into account and everyone is allowed to 
join in implementing the change, the end result will be improved.
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Teleste complies with environmental legislation and regulations 
in all of its operations. We at Teleste keep an eye on develop-
ments in different markets and any implications thereof to our 
operations.

Teleste is guided by its environmental policy, which has been 
communicated to each employee.

Minor Environmental Impact from  
Production and Operations

At Teleste, the environmental burden caused by the manufactur-
ing of our physical products is relatively low compared to the 
impact of the product life-cycle as a whole. Our production is 
based on the assembly of printed circuit boards and electronic 
equipment that bring about no significant discharges. Primary 
causes of environmental load related to Teleste’s operative 
activities currently include generation of waste, energy consump-
tion and transport. Furthermore, Teleste is a significant producer 
of software applications the environmental impact of which is 
very limited.

Teleste aspires to reduce the generation of waste in all its opera-
tions. All waste is sorted and most of it is recycled or used for 
energy. Currently, only a small fraction of the waste ends up as 
landfill. The amount of hazardous waste is very small and most 
of it can be recycled further.

Items consuming energy include heating and power for produc-
tion facilities, testing equipment and office equipment. In 2010, 
of all electric energy consumed by Teleste Corporation in Finland 
68.7% was produced by renewable energy sources, 17.1% by 
nuclear power and 14.2% by fossil sources.

Personnel and Environment 

Concern for the Environment
In environmental issues we at Teleste proceed responsibly intending to adopt an 
overall approach in support of sustainable development. Based on continuous 
improvement, and in line with our environmental policy, we are committed to reduce 
the environmental burden created by our own operations. Teleste Corporation has 
received the ISO 14001 Environmental Management System Certificate.

Teleste Environmental Objectives

Promotion of product-driven environmental thinking

Reducing the amount of waste

Reduction in energy consumption

Continuous environmental improvement in logistics and transport

Promotion of environmentally conscious thinking in supply chain

Increasing environmental awareness among staff

Highlights 2010

	In Finland improvements have been made on transport logistics in such a way that one less full-time truck is needed to carry out •	
the transportation duties. This will, among other things, contribute to reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

	By developing and re-planning the demand-supply process between our factories in China and in Finland there has been a •	
significant reduction in air freight. This, too, contributes to reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

	Packages of our three largest volume products have been redesigned. As a result, usage of space in transportation has been •	
improved by about 20% with respect to the relevant products.

	The so-called client packages of our passive products have been revised so that the white cardboard container has been replaced •	
by an unbleached brown carton. In addition, packages of some passive products have been modified so that they now include more 
products than previously – an improvement in the usage of space in transportation.

	Power consumption of our AC volume products has been reduced.•	

Printed manuals of all our AC volume products previously supplied to customers have been replaced instructions for use available •	
on the extranet and/or the Internet.

We further reduce the environmental load caused by duty travel 
by increasing access to modern IT facilities such as teleconfe
rencing. 

Minor Environmental Load Caused by Products

At Teleste, management of environmental issues is focused on 
environmental impact control encompassing the product’s life-
cycle as a whole. This puts more emphasis on the significance of 
cooperation with our suppliers, sub-suppliers and customers. Cur-
rently, environmental issues form a part of assessment involving 
suppliers and sub-suppliers, and Teleste requires commitment to 
continuous improvement in the field of environmental issues.

When it comes to minimising the products’ environmental impact, 
product development provides a tool of great importance. Cur-
rently, our final products mainly consist of recyclable materials 
like metals. Cable network equipment and video surveillance 
systems represent relatively long-term investments in compari-
son with, for instance, consumer electronics. Moreover, they are 
maintainable as well as upgradable, which means that their life-
cycle can be extended even more. This is to say that the single 
most significant environmental aspect related to our products is 
the power they consume. In recent years particular attention has 
been paid to this aspect.

At Teleste, we also pay particular attention to the end-product 
packaging and their environmental friendliness. The relevant 
materials are mainly fibrous and, thus, easily recyclable.

Reducing the Environmental Impact in 2010

Regarding its operations Teleste has defined long-term environ-
mental objectives, which are subject to annual specification by 
way of more detailed environmental goals.

in 2010, centralization of the Finnish manufacturing operations to 
Littoinen had a key role in the drive for reducing our environmental 
impact. In line with our specified environmental goals, this move 
into one place has significantly reduced the energy consumption in 
Teleste’s properties and the need for internal transportation.

We recognize the value of 
environmental responsibility and 
we are committed to sustainable 

development, prevention of 
pollution and reduction of 

resource consumption.

We understand  
environmental protection as a 

strategic choice that is in harmony 
with Teleste’s economic and 

qualitative objectives.

We comply with relevant 
environmental legislation, 

regulations and other requirements 
to which we subscribe.
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The Corporate Governance Statement 
report has been drawn up on the basis 
of Chapter 2 Section 6 of the Securities 
Markets Act and of the recommendation 
54 specified in the Finnish Corporate 
Governance Code 2010.

Corporate  
Governance  
Statement

Consumption of video services expands to new consumer 
platforms and is independent of time and place. Features related to 
flexible selection of time of viewing video are increasing and distri-
bution of video services is expanding to new platforms in addition 
to traditional television sets. Teleste MyCast IPTV platform enables 
timeshift related features and receiving of video services to other 
consumer platforms in addition to television sets.
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the Management Group members report. Members of the Manage-
ment Group consist of the directors of Teleste’s business areas and 
the Group Management. Most of the subsidiaries are operating as 
parts of the business areas.

The Management Group handles the issues that concern managing 
the company, such as issues related to strategy, budget, interim 
reports and acquisitions, and prepares investments for approval by 
the Board of Directors. The Management Group meets once a month 
or at other times, when necessary.

Salary for all Members of the Management Group consists of a fixed 
basic salary and a results-based bonus. The amount of results-based 
bonus is determined by the company performance, the business area 
in question and other key operative objectives. The Board decides on 
the remuneration, and in March 2010 it made a decision on a new 
executive incentive scheme (Teleste Management Oy) for the Mem-
bers of the Teleste Management Group. For more information on this 
new scheme see Teleste’s Annual Report 2010, see Notes section: 
Related party transactions.
 
Management Interest
Teleste Management Oy is in possession of 381,000 Teleste Corpora-
tion’s shares. CEO’s holding in the Teleste Management shares stands 
at 34.4% while the ownership by other Members of Teleste Corpora-
tion’s Management Group equals to 65.6%.
 
Share Ownership and Options of the Management Group
With the exception of the CEO, other Members of Teleste Corpora-
tion’s Management Group were not in the possession of Teleste 
Corporation shares on December 31, 2010. The holding by other 
Members of the Management Group in Teleste Management Oy set 
up as an executive incentive scheme was, in total, 65.6%.

On 31 December 2010, in addition to CEO’s stock options, Mem-
bers of Teleste Corporation’s Management Group owned a total of 
255,000 Teleste 2007 options.

For details related to option specifics see Teleste’s Annual Report 
2010, Notes section: Share-based payments. For holdings and stock 
options of the President and CEO and the Management Group see 
Notes section: Related party transactions.

Auditing and Revisions
The term of office of Teleste Corporation auditor expires at the closing 
of the first Annual General Meeting following the election. On April 9, 
2010 Teleste AGM selected Authorized Public Accountants KPMG Oy 
Ab for the company auditor. The Company’s Chief Auditor is Esa Kai-
liala, KHT auditor (authorised public accountant). In addition to their 
statutory duties the auditors report to the Teleste Corporation Board 
of Directors and attend the Board meeting at least once a year.

In 2010, Teleste Group’s auditing expenses totaled EUR 200 000 in 
which the share of KPMG was EUR 164,000. Moreover, auditing units 
of KPMG have supplied Teleste Group companies with other consulta-
tion worth, in total, EUR 44,000 and other than KPMG auditors for 
EUR 21,000. 

Insider Register 
Since 1 March 2000, Teleste complies with the insider guidelines 
issued by the Board of Directors of the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy in 
their valid form at any given time. These insider guidelines are comple-
mented by Teleste’s internal guidelines.

Membership in the Teleste Corporation permanent inner circle is 
based on position. Thus, the group consists of Members of the Board 
of Directors, CEO and the auditors. Furthermore, the extended inner 
register includes Members of the Management Group and the CEO’s 
assistant.

Moreover, insider rules and regulations include provisions concern-
ing temporary commercial activities. Project-specific insider register 
includes personnel who, based on their position, have access to 
company-related information, which upon publication may affect the 
value formation of the company’s share. The CEO will assess, on a 
case-by-case basis, whether an issue or arrangement under prepara-
tion will be defined as a project.

It is recommendable for those included in the insider register to time 
any intended trading involving company shares and derivatives in such 
a manner that optimum information affecting the value of the shares 
is available in the market at the time. The permanent members of Tel-
este Corporation’s insider register are obliged by the so-called Silent 
Period during which trading on company shares is banned completely 
for 14 days preceding publication of interim reports and the financial 
statements. During the specified period Teleste Corporation will not 
engage in any meetings with investors or analysts and no Teleste 
Group representative is allowed to comment upon company results.

The company insider administration is included in the SIRE system of 
Euroclear Finland Oy.

Teleste abides by the Securities Market Act, rules and regulations for 
the public companies issued by the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy, includ-
ing the Finnish Corporate Governance Code, and rules and regulations 
issued by the Financial Supervisory Authority. 

Corporate Governance Statement 2010
This Corporate Governance Statement report has been drawn up on 
the basis of Chapter 2 Section 6 of the Securities Markets Act and of 
the recommendation 54 specified in the Finnish Corporate Govern-
ance Code 2010 available in the Securities Market Association web-
site at www.cgfinland.fi. The Corporate Governance Statement will be 
issued separate from the Annual Report.

Corporate Governance
Teleste Corporation aims at organising its management in a consist-
ent and functional manner. The governance is based on the Finnish 
Companies Act and Teleste Articles of Association. Teleste shares are 
listed on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy (hereafter Stock Exchange). 
The company abides by the Securities Market Act, rules and regula-
tions for the listed companies issued by the Stock Exchange, including 
the Finnish Corporate Governance Code, and rules and regulations 
issued by the Financial Supervisory Authority. Since 1 March 2000 
Teleste complies with the insider guidelines issued by the Board of 
Directors of the Stock Exchange in their valid form at any given time. 
These insider guidelines are complemented by Teleste’s internal guide-
lines. The company has confirmed the set of applied key values. 

Annual General Meeting 
The Annual General Meeting (hereafter AGM) of Teleste Corporation 
is the highest decision-making body of the company. It is held at 
least once a year by the end of June as specified in the Articles of 
Association. The AGM is held in Helsinki in the customary manner, 
and it decides on any specified tasks in compliance with the Finnish 
Companies Act.

Issues decided by the AGM include approval of the financial state-
ment, allocation of profit shown in the balance sheet, discharge from 
liability of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director, and the 
election of the members of the Board of Directors and the auditor. 
Responsibilities of the AGM also include making amendments to the 
Articles of Association, decision-making concerning share issues, 
granting of entitlements to options and other special rights, procure-
ment and redeeming of company’s own shares and reduction of 
share capital. Teleste Corporation’s Annual General Meeting shall be 
convened by the Board of Directors.

Board of Directors 
Rules of Procedure
It is the function of Teleste Corporation’s Board of Directors to carry 
out any administrative duties in accordance with the law, statutory 
regulations, Articles of Association and decisions taken by the General 
Meeting. The operating procedures and main duties of the Board 
of Directors have been specified in the Board’s Rules of Procedure. 
The Board shall resolve any matters of great importance in terms of 
scope and magnitude to the Group’s operation. The Board oversees 
and assesses the operation of the CEO and the Management Group. 
The Board decides on the criteria of the company’s compensation 
system and makes decisions on any other far-reaching issues related 
to personnel. 

In line with the view adopted by the Board of Teleste Corporation, 
the proceedings of the Board will be carried out in an optimum way 
without formation of separate committees but by involving the entire 
Board in the so-called committee proceedings. The Board is also carry-
ing out the duties of the Audit Committee.

The Board shall conduct an annual evaluation of its performance and 
working methods. The Board of Teleste Corporation has laid down 
rules of procedure according to which the essential duties of the 
Board include the following:

Provision for the company business strategy and its revision at •	
regular intervals
Approval of annual budgets and supervision of their •	
implementation
Decisions concerning major investments and divestments•	
Handling and approval of annual financial statements and interim •	
reports
Appointment of the President and CEO and discharging him from •	
his duties and specification of his responsibilities and conditions 
of work
Decisions concerning incentive and bonus systems involving •	
management as well as staff and presentation of any related 
proposals to the General Meeting as required

Annual revision of any essential risks related to the company •	
operation and management thereof
Laying down the company values and policies.•	

Election and Term of Office of the Board of Directors
According to the Articles of Association, the Board consisting of a 
minimum of three and a maximum of eight members will be elected 
annually the Annual General Meeting. Members shall hold office until 
the end of the next AGM. On April 9, 2010 the AGM elected Chair-
man of the Board, but the same General Meeting also approved the 
amendment to the Articles of Association by which the Board of 
Directors will elect Chairman of the Board from among its members. 
This amendment to the Articles of Association was entered into the 
Trade Register on May 5, 2010.

In its meeting held on April 9, 2010 the AGM elected the following six 
persons to the Board of Directors of Teleste Corporation:
 

Marjo Miettinen, Chairperson,  •	
b. 1957, M.Sc. (Ed.), EM Group Oy, CEO
Pertti Ervi, Member of the Board,  •	
b. 1957, B.Sc. (Eng.), Independent Consultant
Tero Laaksonen, Member of the Board,  •	
b. 1946, M.Sc. (Math.), Professional Board Member
Pertti Raatikainen, Member of the Board,  •	
b. 1956, Dr. Sc. (Technology), VTT ICT, Director Technology
Kai Telanne, Member of the Board,  •	
b. 1964, M.Sc. (Econ.), Alma Media Corporation, CEO
Petteri Walldén, Member of the Board,  •	
b. 1948, M.Sc. (Eng.)

The Members of the Board are not employed by the company, and are 
in line with the issued Finnish recommendations independent of the 
company and any significant shareholders of it with the exception of 
Chairperson Marjo Miettinen, who is CEO of EM Group Oy, a signifi-
cant shareholder.

In 2010, the Board of Directors of Teleste Corporation had 12 meet-
ings. The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings was 
96%. In addition to the Members of the Board the meetings were 
attended by the CEO, the deputy CEO and concerning interim reports 
also the CFO and persons invited separately as required.

Remuneration for the Members of the Board
The remuneration of the Members of the Board of Directors is 
decided on by the Annual General Meeting. On April 9, 2010 the 
AGM decided that the Chairman of the Board be paid annually EUR 
40,000 and each Member will receive EUR 25,000 a year. Attendance 
allowance, which is paid separately, stands at EUR 250 per meeting. 
Remuneration for the Members of the Board will be paid so that 40% 
of the specified annual amount will be company shares and the rest 
will be remitted in money.

Salaries, remuneration and other benefits paid in 2010 to the Board 
of Directors were as follows:

Marjo Miettinen, EUR 47,000 including 3521 Teleste shares•	
Pertti Ervi, EUR 30,500 including 2201 Teleste shares•	
Tero Laaksonen, EUR 30,250 including 2201 Teleste shares•	
Pertti Raatikainen, EUR 30,500 including 2201 Teleste shares•	
Kai Telanne, EUR 30,250 including 2201 Teleste shares•	
Petteri Walldén, EUR 30,250 including 2201 Teleste shares•	

President and CEO
The Company’s CEO is in charge of the Group’s business operations 
and corporate governance in line with the law, Teleste Corporation’s 
Articles of Association as well as instructions and regulations issued 
by the Board.

Detailed terms of employment of the CEO are specified in a separate 
contract subject to the Board approval. CEO is not a member of 
Teleste’s Board of Directors. The current CEO of Teleste, Jukka 
Rinnevaara, b. 1961, M.Sc. (Econ.), assumed his present responsibili-
ties on November 1, 2002. The CEO is assisted by the Corporate 
Management Group.

The Company Board of Directors decides on the salary, fees and other 
benefits received by the President and CEO. Salary, remuneration 
and other benefits paid in 2010 to the CEO of Teleste Corporation 
totaled EUR 498,931. The contractual age of retirement of CEO Jukka 
Rinnevaara is 60. The insurance premium of the voluntary retirement 
insurance policy of the Managing Director was EUR 55,289, which 
amount is not included in the paid salary and remuneration. As to the 
contract of CEO Rinnevaara, his term of notice has been specified as 
six (6) months in case the President and CEO decides to withdraw, 
and eighteen (18) months should the contract be terminated by the 
company.

Management Group
The Teleste Corporation Management Group is chaired by the CEO 
who reports to the Board of Directors. The Group’s Management 
Group currently consists of seven Members including CEO, to whom 

Internal Supervision, Risk Management 
and Internal Auditing

Internal Supervision
Teleste’s internal supervision is designed to support the implementa-
tion of the strategy and to ensure the achievement of the specified 
goals, compliance with the regulations as well as reliability and 
correctness of the conducted financial reporting. Internal supervision 
is based on Teleste’s values and corporate culture as well as on mutu-
ally supporting structures and processes on the Group and opera-
tional levels. Management of the Group and the business units moni-
tor the internal supervision as part of their normal managerial duties 
while the Board evaluates and ensures its correctness and efficiency. 
Supported by Teleste’s centralised controller function, management 
of the relevant business unit in both business units answers for the 
compliance with the internal supervision principles on every level of 
the unit in question. 

Risk Management 
Group risk policy with the relevant principles and objectives are sub-
ject to approval by the Teleste Board of Directors. Risk management 
is based on the specified business objectives of the Teleste Group. 
Risk management aims to ensure achievement of operational goals 
so that essential risks affecting the business operation and posing a 
threat to its objectives are identified and that these will be monitored 
and valued at all times. The risk management methods are specified 
and the implementation of risk prevention is attempted through the 
same. Moreover, any risks that for economic or other reasons are rea-
sonable to insure, are aimed to be covered. In risk management, the 
regular evaluation of most significant risks and exercising control in 
a cost-effective manner are emphasized. Risk management supports 
the business activity and generates added value, assisting decision-
making for the management in charge of business. A part of the risk 
management system is monthly reporting by which the development 
of the orders received, turnover, order backlog, deliveries, trade 
receivables and cash flow is monitored and, through the same, the 
profit development of the entire Teleste Group.

Teleste’s risk management system covers, for instance, the following 
classes of risk:

operational prerequisites•	
personnel risks•	
property and business interruption risks•	
interest groups•	
economic risks•	
strategic risks•	

Internal Auditing
Internal auditing unit is in charge of the internal auditing of Teleste 
Corporation and its subsidiaries. The results are reported to the 
appointed Member of the Board. The internal auditing evaluates 
business operations, any related processes, their involved risks and 
efficiency of the conducted supervision while making suggestions for 
developmental measures. These activities are performed in coopera-
tion with controllers and other relevant bodies as needed. Further-
more, the internal auditing carries out any special assignments issued 
by the Management. The internal auditing covers all levels of the 
organisation. Internal auditing is reported to the Teleste Corporation 
Board of Directors twice a year. External auditor participates in the 
selection of the priorities for the internal auditing.

Key features of the Internal Auditing and Risk 
Management Systems Related to the Financial 
Reporting Process 
Internal supervision and risk management involved in the financial 
reporting process are based on the general principles of internal 
supervision and risk management described above. CFO answers for 
the systems involved in the internal supervision and risk management 
related to the financial reporting process.

Internal supervision related to the financial reporting process has 
been created by describing the reporting process, surveying its rel-
evant risks and by defining the control points on the basis of the con-
ducted risk assessment. Results from the risk and control assessment 
have been reported to the Board. The entire reporting process from 
the accounting by the subsidiaries to monthly, quarterly and annual 
reporting is covered by these controls. There are inbuilt controls in 
the reporting systems, or they can involve, for instance, matching, 
inspections conducted by the Management or specified procedures or 
policies. CFO is responsible for it that for each control there is a sepa-
rately defined person in charge who answers for the implementation 
and efficiency of the control in question. Standards for the financial 
reporting are specified in the Group Accounting Manual. Financial 
reports due for publishing will be processed by the Management 
Group and the Board prior to their publication. Correctness of the 
external annual financial reporting is verified by the External auditor.
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Pertti Raatikainen

Dr. Sc. (Technology), born in 1956
Member of the Board since 2003–
Independent of Teleste and its significant 
shareholders

Principal occupation: 
VTT ICT, Director Technology 2009–

Primary working experience: 
VTT Information Technology, Research professor, 1998–2008
Helsinki University of Technology, Docent 2002–
University of Jyväskylä, Docent 1998–
Helsinki University of Technology professor (fixed term) 1997

Petteri Walldén

M.Sc. (Eng.), born in 1948
Member of the Board 7.4.2009–
Independent of Teleste and its  
significant shareholders

Principal occupation: 
M.Sc. (Eng.)

Primary working experience: 
Alteams Oy, CEO 2007–1/2010
Onninen Oy, CEO 2001–2005
Ensto Oy, CEO 1996–2001

Other elected positions of trust: 
Comptel Corporation, Member of the Board 2009–
eQ Bank Ltd, Member of the Board 2005–
Kuusakoski Group Oy, Member of the Board 2007–
Mesera Group Oy, Member of the Board 2010–
Nokian Tyres plc, Chairman of the Board 2006–
Tikkurila Oy, Member of the Board 2008–

Kai Telanne

M.Sc. (Econ.), born in 1964
Board Member since 2008– 
Independent of Teleste and its significant 
shareholders

Principal occupation: 
Alma Media Corporation, CEO 2005–

Primary working experience: 
Kustannus Oy Aamulehti, Managing Director 2001–2005
Kustannus Oy Aamulehti, Deputy MD 2000–2001

Other elected positions of trust: 
Confederation of Finnish Industries, Member of the Board 2010–
Federation of the Finnish Media Industry,  
Chairman of the Board 2007–
The Central Chamber of Commerce of Finland,  
Member of the Board 2007–
The Finnish News Agency (STT), Member of the Board 2008–
Talentum Oyj, Deputy Chairman 2010–
Tampereen Lääkärikeskus Oy (Tampere Private Clinic),  
Member of the Board 2009
Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company,  
Member of the Board 2009–

Tero Laaksonen

M.Sc. (Math.), born in 1946
Member of the Board 1999–
Independent of Teleste and its 
significant shareholders

Principal occupation: 
Professional Board Member

Primary working experience: 
Comptel Corporation, CEO 2002–2004 
Telia Finland Oy, CEO 1998–2001
Nokia Telecommunication Oy, SVP 1995–1998

Other elected positions of trust: 
Ixonos Plc, Chairman of the Board 2005–
Tieto-X Plc, Member of the Board 2004–2005

Marjo Miettinen

M.Sc. (Ed.), born in 1957 
Chairman of the Board 7.4.2009–
EM Group Oy is a significant 
shareholder of Teleste

Principal occupation: 
EM Group Oy, CEO 2006–

Primary working experience:
Ensto Oy, Chairman of the Board 2002–2006
Ensto Oy, managerial positions 1989–2001

Other elected positions of trust: 
Componenta Oyj, Member of the Board 2004–
Efla Oy, Chairman of the Board 2007–
EM Group Oy, Member of the Board 2005–
Ensto Oy, Member of the Board 1999–
Technology Industries of Finland, Member of the Board 2005–

Jukka Rinnevaara

M.Sc. (Econ.), born in 1961
President and CEO

Joined Teleste in 2002

Primary working experience:
ABB Building Systems, Group Senior  
Vice President 2001–2002
ABB Installaatiot Oy, President  
1999–2001

Other elected positions of trust:
Salcomp Plc, Member of the Board 2009–
Ventilation Holding Finland Oy, Member of the Board 2008–

Juha Järvenreuna

M.Sc. (Eng.), born in 1964 
Network Services,  
Senior Vice President

Joined Teleste in 2004

Primary working experience:
Nokia Networks, Quality Director  
2003–2004  
Teleste Corporation, Product Operations, 
Director 1998–2003

Johan Slotte

LL.M, EMBA, born in 1959
Deputy CEO

Joined Teleste in 1999

Primary working experience:
Uponor Group, Various directorial  
positions 1989–1999

Erja Saarikoski

Business school graduate, born in 1953 
CFO

Joined Teleste in 1984

Hanno Narjus

M.Sc. (Econ.), born in 1962
Video and Broadband Solutions,  
Senior Vice President

Joined Teleste in 2006

Primary working experience:
Nokia Corporation, Various managerial 
positions 1996–2006 Teleste 
Corporation, Director, Sales/Continental 
Europe 1989–1996

Esko Myllylä

B.Sc. (Eng.), CBA, born in 1966
Research and Development, CTO

Joined Teleste in 1994

Markus Mattila

M.Sc. (Eng.), born in 1968 
Operations, Senior Vice President

Joined Teleste on Feb. 4, 2008

Primary working experience:
Nokia Mobile Phones/Nokia Corporation, 
Manager and Director
positions in Operations, Logistics and 
Sourcing 1993–2008

Pertti Ervi

B.Sc. (Eng.), born in 1957
Member of the Board 7.4.2009– 
Independent of Teleste and its 
significant shareholders

Principal occupation: 
Independent Consultant

Primary working experience:
Computer 2000, Co-President until 2000
Computer 2000 Finland Oy, MD until 1995

Other elected positions of trust: 
Aldata Solution Oyj, Member of the Board 2010–
Efecte Oy, Member of the Board 2009– ,  
Chairman of the Board 2011– 
Forte Netservices/Groupservices Oy, Member and  
Chairman of the Board 2000–
F-Secure Corporation, Member of the Board 2003– ,  
Chairman of the Audit Committee 2006–
Inventure Oy, Chairman of the Board 2005–
Ixonos Plc, Vice Chairman of the Board and  
Chairman of the Audit Committee 2009–
Nevtor Oy, Chairman of the Board 2008–
OpusCapita Oy, Member of the Board 2010–
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Financial  
Statements  
1.1.–31.12.2010

We at Teleste intend to adopt an overall approach in support 
of sustainable development. For example, the environmental 
impact of our manufacturing and other operational activities  
is relatively minor.
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Report of the Board of Directors
Founded in 1954, Teleste is a technology company consisting of two business areas: 
Video and Broadband Solutions and Network Services. In line with its strategy, Teleste 
continues to focus on the chosen product and technology segments as well as services 
business.

applications. Activated R&D inputs totaled EUR 1.7 (1.6) million. 
Depreciation on activated R&D expenses amounted to EUR 2.4 
(2.5) million.

At the end of the financial period, 9.7% (10%/2009, 25%/2008) 
of the Group personnel were working in R&D related duties. A 
number of Teleste’s projects involved co-operation with Finnish 
universities and research institutes. 

Investments for the period under review totaled EUR 3.8 (25.2) 
million making 2.2% (17.8%) of net sales. The most significant 
investment involved the Polish Satlan Sp. z o.o. acquired for EUR 
6.3 million (including the estimated additional purchase price).
In Switzerland, Freycom SA was acquired for EUR 0.6 million. 
Direct costs resulting from acquisitions have been entered 
under expenses, and their impact on other operating expenses 
is insignificant. The estimated additional purchase price for the 
German acquisitions in the last quarter of 2009 was largely 
unrealized, so an item of EUR 5.8 million has been recorded in 
the fiscal year 2010 as a deduction under investments. Product 
development investments totaled EUR 1.7 (1.6) million. As to 
investments, EUR 0.1 (0.2) million was implemented by means 
of financial leasing. The last phase of the Littoinen extension 
project was launched at the end of the year involving product 
development facilities. The investment amounts to approximately 
EUR 1.0 million and is expected to be completed in June 2011. 

Financing

Liquidity of the Group remained good throughout the year. Oper-
ating cash flow stood at EUR 5.4 (9.8) million. Accounts receiva-
ble caused no credit losses. At the end of the period, the amount 
of unused binding stand-by credits amounted to EUR 13.5 (18.5) 
million. The current binding stand-by credits of EUR 40.0 million 
run till November 2013. The Group’s equity ratio equaled 43.6% 
(43.6%) and net gearing 25.5% (22.0%). Interest bearing debt on 
31 December 2010 stood at EUR 28.0 (22.8) million.

Personnel and Organization

In 2010, the Group employed an average of 1215 people 
(1103/2009, 702/2008). At the year-end, the figure totaled 1231 
(1260/2009, 677/2008) of which 70% (68%/2009, 33%/2008) 
were stationed overseas. Employees stationed outside Europe 
accounted for less than 5% of the Group’s personnel. Expendi-
ture on employee benefits amounted to EUR 50.8 (44.6/2009, 
33.2/2008) million. The increase in employee benefits was mainly 
due to the change in the Group structure. 

As part of the cost-structure adaptation measures required by 
the general market situation, the Finnish personnel have been on 
a rotating layoff. The co-determination procedure was concluded 
on January 22, 2010. In Finland, the measures agreed in the 
co-determination procedure continued until the end of 2010. 
The operational efficiency drive involving the sales organization 
abroad continued also. 

Group Structure

The Polish Satlan was acquired on September 1, 2010 to 
strengthen Video and Broadband Solutions’ integration expertise. 
The price of EUR 2.8 million at the conclusion of the deal was 
paid in cash. The total purchase price is estimated at EUR 6.3 mil-
lion, depending on the development in profitability of the acquired 
company within the next two years. In these financial statements 
the acquisition cost for Satlan is presented as preliminary since 
there are grounds for viewing the information concerning its 
profitability in a longer perspective given the moderately high con-
ditional purchase price. An acquisition in Switzerland for Freycom 
SA was carried out on April 4, 2010 by the Network Services busi-
ness area. The purchase price of EUR 0.6 million was paid in cash. 
The direct costs related to the acquisition of both companies have 
been entered under the Group’s other operating expenses. 

With the ownership arrangements Teleste’s holding in the 
German Cableway AG rose to 100% when a Cableway minority 
interest was bought for EUR 0.4 million. The effect of Satlan on 

Business Description and Overview 

Video and Broadband Solutions’ net sales and profitability 
improved over the year of comparison. In 2010 the business 
area continued to exercise its cost adaptation (rotating lay-offs 
in Finland).

Network Services’ year-on-year net sales increased mainly due 
to changes in the Group structure on July 1, 2009 (we acquired 
a 100% holding of AVC’s shares, while at the same time raising 
our ownership in Cableway to 75%). In Germany, streamlining of 
service processes was running, but no impact on profitability was 
achieved in 2010. Profitability was additionally weakened by the 
severe weather conditions in the main market in Q1 and Q4. 

Net Sales and Profitability

Teleste’s net sales totaled EUR 167.8 (141.7) million, an increase 
of 18.5% over the previous year. Owing to the general tight 
situation in the financial market, our main customers, i.e. the 
European cable operators, have been fairly cautious about their 
network investments. Concerning growth in net sales, EUR 20.4 
million, or 12.2%, were due to changes in Group structure.

Operating profit stood at EUR 7.4 (2.5) million making 4.4% 
(1.8%) of the net sales. The year-on-year growth in operating 
profit was due to an increase in Video and Broadband Solutions’ 
net sales, efficient control over the material costs and cost 
adaptation.

Year-on-year orders received by the Group improved by 10.7% 
standing at EUR 167.2 (151.0) million. The impact of the change 
in the Group structure on the increased orders received was 
EUR 20.4 million. At the year-end, the order backlog stood at 
EUR 17.0 million. The order of EUR 12.0 million received in the 
summer of 2008 from India was written off from the order 
backlog.

Profit after financial items totaled EUR 6.7 (1.4) million while 
the net profit equalled EUR 4.7 (0.4) million. Undiluted result per 
share for the Group stood at EUR 0.27 (EUR 0.02). The return on 
capital employed was 10.2% (3.3%) and the return on equity was 
9.9% (0.9%).

BUSINESS AREAS

Video and Broadband Solutions

This business area focuses on broadband subscriber networks, 
video services platforms and CCTV applications. Major clientele 
of the business area consists of cable operators but includes also 
resellers and public sector organizations. The main market of the 
business area is Europe. In 2010, we strengthened our expertise 
in IP video technology and presence in the Polish market through 
the Satlan acquisition. The business area has 23 offices of its 
own and a number of retail and integration partners. Outside 
Europe, Video and Broadband Solutions has offices of its own 
located in the United States, Australia, China and India.

The R&D effort of the business area focused on the video 
surveillance transfer system based on standard H.264. The 
continued R&D efforts included the Internet protocol-based 
video processing system (Luminato product range), amplification 
technology (Access product range), optical transmission system 
for the HFC network (HDO product range) and the video 
surveillance management system (VMX).

Orders received totaled EUR 86.5 (81.6) million, while the order 
backlog amounted to EUR 17.0 (28.6) million. The order of EUR 
12.0 million received in the summer of 2008 from India was 
written off from the order backlog.

Net sales grew by 7.5% over the year of comparison amounting 
to EUR 82.0 (76.3) million. The impact of the Satlan acquisition 
on net sales for 2010 was EUR 3.6 million.

Operating profit stood at EUR 6.3 (-0.7) million making 7.7% 
(-0.9%) of the net sales. The improvement in the year-on-year 
operating profit was brought about by increased net sales, 
controlled material costs and cost adaption. In 2010, the 
business area’s Finnish personnel were on a rotating layoff.

Network Services

The clientele of Teleste’s Network Services business mainly con-
sists of large European cable operators. The services provided by 
this business area include planning, new construction, upgrading 
and maintenance of cable networks. Implementation and scope 
of the relevant services vary by client ranging from standalone 
applications to integrated turnkey deliveries. Most deliveries are 
based on frame agreements. The services also include Teleste’s 
own product solutions. Our know-how in services covers all the 
sectors related to the cable network technology from installation 
and maintenance of headends to upgrading of house networks. 
Services are also provided through a network of subcontractors. 

Orders received totaled EUR 80.7 (69.4) million. Net sales 
amounted to EUR 85.8 (65.4) million. As to the increased net 
sales and orders received, EUR 14.8 million was due to changes 
in Group structure dated on 1st July 2009 (AVC and Cableway). 
The impact of the acquisition of Freycom on net sales was 
EUR 2.0 million. Operating profit amounted to EUR 1.1 (3.2) 
million. The weakening in the operating profit was caused by the 
delivered services having included more basic items of a lower 
price and margin bracket. Additionally, our deliveries of services 
was aggravated by severe weather. 

R&D and Investments

R&D expenditure for the period under review totaled EUR 10.3 
(10.8) million making 6.1% (7.6%) of net sales. Teleste’s R&D 
expenditure focused on the business area of Video and Broad-
band Solutions, the R&D expenses of which amounted to 12.6% 
(14.2%) of the net sales. 

Some 60% (60%) of the R&D expenses involved continued 
development of product platforms currently in production 
and their maintenance as well as customer-specific product 

Teleste’s net sales for 2010 was EUR 3.6 million and on profit 
EUR 0.7 million, respectively. Freycom’s effect on net sales stood 
at EUR 2.0 million with no impact on profit. 

The branch office in Spain was closed and the Slovak subsidiary 
dissolved. Teleste Kaurakatu Oy was merged into Ortikon 
Interactive Oy, which changed its name to Teleste Kaurakatu 
Oy. Teleste Video Networks AB and Teleste Försäljning AB were 
merged into Teleste Sweden AB. Young-Net GmbH was merged 
into Cableway Mitte GmbH and DINH Vlaanderen NV into DINH 
Telecom S.A.

Parent company Teleste has branch offices in Australia, the 
Netherlands, China and Denmark with subsidiaries in 12 countries 
outside Finland. 

Essential Risks of Business Areas

Founded in 1954, Teleste is a technology and service provider 
consisting of two business areas: Video and Broadband Solutions 
and Network Services. With Europe as the main market area, our 
most significant clients include European cable operators and 
specified organizations in the public sector. 

Concerning Video and Broadband Solutions, integrated deliveries 
of solutions create favourable conditions for growth, even if the 
involved resource allocation and technical implementation pose 
a challenge involving, therefore, also reasonable risks. The still 
ongoing difficult market situation may delay the implementation 
of investment plans among the clientele. Network investments 
carried out by the clients vary based on their need for upgrading 
and their capital structure. Much of Teleste’s competition comes 
from the USA so the exchange rate of euro up against the US 
dollar affects our competitiveness. Teleste hedges against short-
term currency exposure by means of forward contracts. Correct 
technological choices and their timing are vital for our success. 

Net sales for Network Services comes, for the most part, from 
a small number of large European customers, so a significant 
change in the demand for services by any one of them is 
reflected in the actual deliveries. To ensure quality of services 
and cost-efficiency, along with an efficient service process 
management, customer satisfaction requires innovative solutions 
in terms of processes, products and logistics. Smooth operation 
of the cable networks requires effective technical management 
and functional hardware solutions. This, in turn, means that 
the skill levels of our subcontractors and their personnel needs 
continuous and determined development. In addition, availability 
of capacity in our network of subcontractors may limit our ability 
to supply. 

It is equally important for our business areas to take into account 
any market developments such as consolidations taking place 
among the clientele and competition. Weather conditions affect 
the supply conditions of products and services of our business 
areas. 

The Board of Directors annually reviews any essential risks 
related to the company operation and the management thereof. 
Risk management constitutes an integral part of the strategic 
and operative practices of our business areas. Risks and their 
probability are reported to the Board by regular monthly reports. 

The company has covered major risks of damage through 
insurance policies. These insurances do not include credit loss 
risks. In the period under review, no such risks materialized, 
and no legal proceedings or judicial procedures were pending 
that would have had any essential significance for the Group 
operation. 

Decisions by the Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The Annual General Meeting of Teleste Corporation on April 9, 
2010 confirmed the financial statements for 2009 and dischar
ged the Board of Directors and the CEO from liability for the 
financial period. The AGM confirmed the dividend of EUR 0.08  
per share proposed by the Board. The dividend was paid out on  
April 21, 2010. 
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Composition of the Board remained unchanged. Marjo Miettinen 
was appointed Chairman while the appointed Board Members 
include Pertti Ervi, Tero Laaksonen, Pertti Raatikainen,  
Kai Telanne and Petteri Walldén. 

Authorised Public Accountants KPMG Oy Ab continue as the 
auditor until the next AGM. Accountant authorised by the Central 
Chamber of Commerce of Finland Esa Kailiala was chosen 
auditor-in-charge. 

The AGM authorised the Board to acquire the maximum of 
1,400,000 of the company’s own shares and to convey the 
maximum of 1,779,985 company’s own shares. The AGM 
also authorised the company Board to issue 10,000,000 new 
shares. Pursuant to the special rights provided by the company, 
the maximum number of significant shares is 5,000,000; 
these special rights are included in the authorisation to issue 
10,000,000 new shares. 

The authorizations are valid until the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders for year 2011. The Board has not exercised these 
rights. 

Shares and Changes in Share Capital

On 31 December 2010, EM Group Oy was the largest single 
shareholder with a holding of 21.02%.

In the period under review, the lowest company share price 
was EUR 3.63 (2.25) and the highest was EUR 5.33 (4.30).
Closing price on 31 December 2010 stood at EUR 4.41 (3.72).
According to Euroclear Finland Ltd the number of shareholders 
at the end of the period under review was 5,184 (5,440). Foreign 
ownership accounted for 8.38% (9.69%). From 1 January to 31 
December 2010, trading with Teleste share at NASDAQ OMX 
Helsinki amounted to EUR 14.2 (28.5) million. In the period under 
review, 3.2 (7.8) million Teleste shares were traded on the stock 
exchange. 

In March 2010, Teleste Board of Directors decided on a directed 
share issue of 381,000 shares to Teleste Management Oy 
established by the Management Team of Teleste Corporation. This 
directed share issue was authorized by the AGM on 7 April 2009.

At the end of December 2010, the number of own shares in the 
Group possession stood at 760,985 (379,985) out of which 
parent company Teleste Corporation had none (0) while other 
Group or controlled companies had 760,985 shares, respectively. 
At the end of the period, the Group’s holding of the total amount 
of shares amounted to 4.18% (2.13%). 

Based on the rights of options, the company amount of shares 
may increase by 840,000 shares equaling to 4.41% of all shares 
and votes. 

On 31 December 2010, the registered share capital of Teleste 
stood at EUR 6,966,932.80 divided in 18,186,590 shares. 

Ownership by Management and Members of the 
Governing Bodies on 31 December 2010

On the balance sheet date, CEO and the Members of the Board 
owned 98,482 Teleste Corporation shares equalling to 0.54% of 
all shares and votes. 

Based on Teleste 2007 stock option rights, CEO was entitled 
to subscribe 120,000 shares. On the balance sheet date, the 
ownership including rights of options by the CEO and the Board 
amounted to 218,482 shares, which is equal to 1.15% of all 
shares and votes. On 31 December 2010, other members of 
the Management Team were not in the possession of Teleste 
Corporation shares. On 31 December 2010, Teleste Management 
Oy (a company incorporated for the management incentive 
scheme) was in the possession of 381,000 Teleste Corporation 
shares. CEO’s holding in the Teleste Management shares 
stands at 34.4% while the ownership by other members of 

Teleste Corporation’s Management Group equals 65.6%. On 31 
December 2010, in addition to CEO’s stock options, members 
of Teleste Corporation’s Management Team owned a total of 
255,000 Teleste 2007 options. 

Teleste Corporation complies with the Finnish Corporate 
Governance Code, which was issued by the Securities Market 
Association on 15 June 2010, and entered into force on  
1 October 2010. The Corporate Governance Statement will be 
issued separately from the Company’s Annual Report, and it will 
be available on Teleste’s website under Investors. Since 1 March 
2000, Teleste complies with the insider guidelines issued by the 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy in their valid form at any given time. 

Outlook for 2011

In 2011, deliveries of equipment and solutions by Video and 
Broadband Solutions to its customer base of operators in our 
target markets will at least achieve the level of 2010. European 
telecom operators are about to launch their TV distribution 
investments, and we believe that our video headend and optical 
network products are competitive in this new emerging market.  
Deliveries related to security and traffic control will grow from 
the 2010 level. 

Demand for services provided by Network Services will remain 
relatively stable on the annual basis. We believe that in Germany, 
our main market, profitability will improve from the 2010 level 
thanks to the ongoing streamlining measures. This improvement 
in profitability will, in our estimation, mainly be seen in the 
second half of 2011. 

Teleste expects to maintain its strong market position in its core 
markets. Severe weather conditions in Central Europe and the 
low order backlog of the early year may hold back our deliveries 
in the first quarter of 2011. 

We believe the net sales for the entire 2011 to increase slightly 
and the operating profit to improve somewhat over the 2010 
level. 

Board of Directors’ Proposal for Dividends

The parent company’s distributable equity at the balance sheet 
date equals EUR 30.6 million.

Regarding the Annual General Meeting scheduled for 8 April 
2011, the Board proposes that a dividend of EUR 0.12 (EUR 
0.08) per share would be paid for the outstanding shares for the 
year 2010. 

 

1 February 2011
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Consolidated Income Statement

1 000 euros Note 1.1.–31.12.2010 1.1.–31.12.2009 Change, %

Net sales 1 167 836 141 651 18.5 

Other operating income 2 1 460 3 124 –53.3 

Raw material and consumables used –82 054 –69 962 17.3 

Employee benefits expense 3 –50 824 –44 584 14.0 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 4 –5 896 –5 582 5.6 

Impairment of goodwill 4 0 –800 n/a

Other operating expenses 5 –23 090 –21 323 8.3 

Operating profit 7 432 2 524 194.5 

Financial income 6 84 105 –20.0 

Financial expenses 7 –773 –710 8.9 

Share of profit of associates 0 –544 n/a

Profit before taxes 6 743 1 375 390.4 

Income tax expense 8 –1 959 –959 104.3 

Profit for the financial period 4 784 416 1050.1 

Attributable to: 9

Equity holders of the parent 4 784 416 1050.1 

Earnings per share for profit of the year attributable to the 
equity holders of the parent

(expressed in € per share)

Basic 0.27 0.02 1037.2 

Diluted 0.27 0.02 1019.9 

Total comprehensive income for the period (tEUR)

	 Net profit 4 784 416 1050.1 

	 Translation differences 277 189 46.6 

	 Fair value reserve –70 –116 –39.7 

	 Total comprehensive income for the period 4 991 489 920.7 

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 4 991 489 920.7 

Consolidated Balance Sheet

1 000 euros Note 31.12.2010 31.12.2009 Change, %

assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 10 8 836 9 960 –11.3 

Goodwill 11 30 959 31 657 –2.2 

Other intangible assets 11 6 709 7 664 –12.5 

Available-for-sale investments 12 713 713 0.0 

47 217 49 994 –5.6 

Current assets

Inventories 14 21 000 20 682 1.5 

Trade and other receivables 15 32 819 26 884 22.1 

Cash and cash equivalents 16 15 203 12 518 21.4 

69 022 60 084 14.9 

Total Assets 116 239 110 078 5.6 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 

Share capital 17 6 967 6 967 0.0 

Share premium 17 1 504 1 504 0.0 

Translation differences –95 –372 –74.5 

Invested nonrestricted equity 2 737 2 737 0.0 

Other reserves –186 –116 60.3 

Retained earnings 39 183 35 949 9.0 

Share of non controlling interest 292 0 n/a

50 402 46 669 8.0 

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 18 11 847 12 237 –3.2 

Other liabilities 3 865 6 461 –40.2 

Deferred tax liabilities 13 511 265 92.8 

Provisions 19 657 513 28.0 

16 880 19 476 –13.3 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 20 30 161 32 372 –6.8 

Current tax payable 21 1 240 0 n/a

Provisions 19 1 313 1 026 28.0 

Interest-bearing liabilities 18 16 243 10 535 54.2 

48 957 43 933 11.4 

Total liabilities 65 837 63 409 3.8 

Total equity and liabilities 116 239 110 078 5.6 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

1 000 euros Note 1.1.–31.12.2010 1.1.–31.12.2009

Cash flows from operating activities

	 Profit for the period 4 784 416

	 Adjustments for:

		  Non-cash transactions 23 6 143 6 666

		  Interest and other financial expenses 773 710

		  Interest income –72 –95

		  Dividend income –12 –10

		  Income tax expense 1 959 959

	 Changes in working capital and provisions

		  Increase in trade and other receivables –4 650 12 008

		  Increase in inventories 1 265 –384

		  Increase in trade and other payables –3 942 –7 702

		  Decrease in provisions 431 –92

		  Paid interests and dividends –565 –1 042

		  Received interests and dividends 84 105

		  Paid taxes –786 –1 708

Net cash from operating activities 5 412 9 831

Cash flows from investing activities

	 Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired –3 643 –10 281

	 Purchases of property, plant and equipment (PPE) –1 022 –3 272

	 Proceeds from sales of PPE 306 500

	 Purchases of intangible assets –1 499 –1 327

	 Proceeds from sale of shares 0 0

	 Purchases of shares 0 –10

Net cash used in investing activities –5 858 –14 390

Cash flows from financing activities

	 Proceeds from borrowings 5 520 20 542

	 Repayments of borrowings –966 –9 921

	 Payment of finance lease liabilities –596 –702

	 Dividends paid –1 394 –2 035

	 Purchases of own shares 0 –264

	 Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 289 0

Net cash used in financing activities 2 853 7 620

Change in cash

	 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 12 518 9 268

	 Effect of currency changes 277 189

	 Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 15 203 12 518

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

1 000 euros Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Trans-
lation 
diffe

rences

Re-
tained 

earnings

Invested 
non-rest-

ricted 
equity

Other 
reserves

Total Non 
cont-

rolling 
interest

Total 
equity

At 1 January 2009 6 967 1 504 –561 37 284 1 451  46 645 0 46 645

	 Total comprehensive income for the period 189 416 –116 489 0 489

	 Total recognised income and expense for  
	 the year 0 0 189 416 0 –116 489 0 489

	 Dividends –2 035 –2 035 –2 035

	 Equity-settled share-based payments     1 286 1 286 1 286

	 Used share options   284 0 284 284

0 0 0 –1 751 1 286 0 –465 0 –465

At 31 December 2009 6 967 1 504 –372 35 949 2 737 –116 46 669 0 46 669

	 Total comprehensive income for the period 277 4 784 –70 4 991 4 991

	 Total recognised income and expense for 
	 the year 0 0 277 4 784  –70 4 991 4 991

	 Issue of new shares* 289 289

	 Dividends –1 424 –1 424 30 –1 394

	 Changes in subsidiary interest –373 0 –373 –27 –400

	 Equity-settled share-based payments   247 0 247 247

0 0 0 –1 550 0 0 –1 550 292 –1 258

At 31 December 2010 6 967 1 504 –95 39 183 2 737 –186 50 110 292 50 402

* Part of Teleste management incentive program
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Accounting Principles
Company Profile

Teleste Corporation (the”Company”) is a Finnish public limited 
liability company organised under the laws of Finland and domi-
ciled in Turku in Finland. Its registered address is Seponkatu 1, 
20660 Littoinen.

Founded in 1954 Teleste is a technology company running its 
two business units Video and Broadband Solutions and Network 
Services; in both fields, we are among the global leaders. Video 
is at the core of our business activities, with a focus on the 
processing, transmission and management of video and data for 
operators and public authorities who provide multiple video-
related information, entertainment and security services to end-
users. Video and Broadband Solutions business segment has the 
emphasis on product solutions for broadband access networks, 
video service platforms and video surveillance applications. Net-
work Services segment deliver comprehensive network service 
solutions including new construction, rebuilding, upgrading, 
planning and maintenance services of cable networks. The parent 
company of Teleste Group, Teleste Corporation, has operations 
in Australia, China, Denmark, the Netherlands and a subsidiary in 
twelve countries outside Finland. Teleste Corporation has been 
listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange since 1999.

A copy of the consolidated financial statements can be obtained 
either from Teleste’s website www.teleste.com or from the 
parent company’s head office, the address of which is mentioned 
above.

Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) in force 
as at 31 December 2010. International financial reporting stand-
ards, referred to in the Finnish Accounting Act and in ordinances 
issued based on the provisions of this Act, refer to the stand-
ards and their interpretations adopted in accordance with the 
procedure laid down in regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the EU. 
The notes to the consolidated financial statements also include 
additional information in accordance with the Finnish accounting 
and company legislation.

Teleste adopted IFRSs as from 1 January 2005. Prior to IFRSs 
Teleste’s financial statements were based on Finnish accounting 
standards (FAS) applicable to listed companies in Finland. IFRS 1 
First-time adoption of IFRS was applied in the transition. Teleste’s 
date of transition to IFRSs was 1 January 2004.

The Group has applied the following new and revised standards 
and interpretations as of 1 January 2010: 

Revised IFRS 3 Business Combinations (effective for financial 
year beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The revised standard 
includes significant changes for the Group’s point of view. 
According to the revised standard, business combinations are 
still accounted for using the acquisition method, although the 
standard has been significantly revised compared to the prior 
IFRS 3. For example, the consideration transferred in a business 
acquisition is measured at fair value at the acquisition date, and 
some contingent considerations classified as liabilities are subse-
quently measured at fair value and recognised in other com-
prehensive income. After each acquisition, the Group chooses 
whether to measure the share of non-controlling interests at 
fair value or based on a proportional value of the net assets of 
the acquired company. All costs related to the acquisition are 
expensed as incurred. Consequently, the amendments affect the 

amount of goodwill recognised on an acquisition, as well as the 
gains on disposal of businesses. The amendments also have an 
impact on items recognised in profit or loss on both the acquisi-
tion period and on reporting periods during which contingent 
consideration is transferred or further acquisitions are executed. 
According to the transitional provisions of the standard, business 
combinations are not adjusted if the acquisition date is earlier 
that the effective date of the revised standard.

Amended IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial State
ments (effective for financial year beginning on or after 1 July  
2009). According to the amended standard, if the parent com-
pany retains control, impacts of changes in the ownership inter-
est in a subsidiary are recognised directly within Group’s equity. 
If control of a subsidiary is lost, any investment retained is meas-
ured at its fair value through profit and loss. Similar accounting 
policy is applied also to associated companies (IAS 28) and joint 
ventures (IAS 31). As a result of the amendments, losses of a 
subsidiary may be allocated to non-controlling interests even 
if the losses exceed the invested amount of non-controlling 
interests. 

Amendment to IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and 
measurement – Designation of items as hedged items (effective 
for financial year beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The amend-
ments relate to hedge accounting. They specify the guidance of 
IAS 39 on hedging against one-sided risks and inflation risk when 
items of financial assets or liabilities are in question. 

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners (effective 
for financial year beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The inter-
pretation provides guidance on the accounting for distribution of 
non-cash dividends to owners and for distribution of dividends 
when the owners have an option to choose between cash and 
non-cash dividends.

IFRIC 18 Transfers of assets from customers (effective for 
financial year beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The interpreta-
tion clarifies the requirements for agreements in which an entity 
receives from a customer an item of property, plant, and equip-
ment or cash that must be used to acquire that item of property, 
plant and equipment and the entity must then use the item 
to either connect the customer to a network or to provide the 
customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services, 
or both. 

Improvements to IFRS (April 2009, mainly effective for financial 
year beginning on or after 1 January 2010). Annual improve-
ments procedure gathers all minor and less urgent amendments 
into one collection that is implemented once a year. The annual 
amendments concern 12 standards and the effects of the 
amendments vary between different standards.

Amendment to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment – Intra-group cash-
settled share-based payment transaction (effective for financial 
year beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The purpose of the 
amendments is to clarify that an entity that receives goods or 
services from the supplier of those goods or services has to 
apply IFRS 2 even if it does not have an obligation to make 
necessary cash-settled share-based payment transactions.

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
thousands of euro (TEUR) and have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the 
accounting principles.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the contents of the financial statements as well as use 
judgement when applying accounting principles. The estimates 
and assumptions are based on the management’s current best 
knowledge reflecting historical experience and other reasonable 
assumptions. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Accounting estimates mainly relate to goodwill, obsolete inven-
tories and warranty provisions. The chapter “Accounting policies 
requiring management’s judgement and key sources of estima-
tion uncertainty” discusses judgements made by management 
and those financial statement items on which judgements have a 
significant effect.

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the 
parent company Teleste Corporation and all those subsidiaries in 
which it holds, directly or indirectly, over 50 per cent of the voting 
rights or in which it otherwise has control (together referred 
to as “Group” or “Teleste”). Control exists when the Group has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The companies 
acquired during the financial periods presented have been consoli-
dated from the date of acquisition, when control commenced. The 
companies disposed during a financial period are included in the 
consolidated financial statements up to the date of disposal.

Associates

Associates included in the consolidated financial statements are 
those entities in which Teleste Group holds voting rights over 
20 per cent or in which it otherwise has significant influence, but 
not control, over the financial and operating policies. Holdings in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method from the 
date that significant influence commences until the date that 
significant influence ceases. The Group’s proportionate share 
of associates’ net income for the financial year is presented 
as a separate line item in the consolidated income statement. 
The unrealised profits between the Group and associates are 
eliminated in proportion to share ownership. The carrying amount 
of an investment in an associate includes the carrying amount 
of goodwill resulted from its acquisition. When Teleste’s share 
in an associate’s losses exceeds its interest in the associate, 
the Group’s carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition 
of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the 
Group has incurred obligations in respect of the associate or 
made payments on behalf of the associate. At the end of the 
reporting period the Group had no investments in associates.

Joint Ventures

Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group 
has joint control, established by contractual agreement. The 
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s proportion-
ate share of the joint ventures’ assets, liabilities, revenue and 
expenses on a line by line basis, from the date that joint control 
commences until the date that joint control ceases. At the end of 
the reporting period the Group had no interests in joint ventures.

Principles of Consolidation

Acquisitions of companies are accounted for by using the pur-
chase method. All intercompany income and expenses, receiva-
bles, liabilities and unrealised profits arising from intercompany 
transactions, as well as distribution of profits within the Group 
are eliminated as part of the consolidation process. The alloca-
tion of the profit for the period attributable to equity holders of 
the parent company and non-controlling interest is presented 
on the face of the income statement and the non-controlling 
interest is also disclosed in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Non-controlling interests are disclosed separately under 
consolidated total equity. 

Teleste has applied the exemption under IFRS 1 according to 
which the classification and accounting treatment of business 
combinations occurred prior to the IFRS transition date do not 
have to be restated but previous values under FAS are taken as 
a deemed cost.

Financial Statements of Foreign Subsidiaries

The functional currency of the parent company is euro and 
the consolidated financial statements are presented in euro. 
The functional currency is the currency that best reflects the 
economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances 
relevant to that entity. In preparing the consolidated financial 
statements income statements and cash flows of those foreign 
subsidiaries whose functional and presentation currency are not 
the euro, are translated into euro at the average exchange rate 
during the financial period. Their balance sheets are translated 
at the closing rate at the balance sheet date. Goodwill and fair 
value adjustments to assets and liabilities that arose on the 
acquisition of a foreign entity occurred prior to 1 January 2004 
are translated into euro using the rate that prevailed on the date 
of the acquisition. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arisen on 
the acquisitions after 1 January 2004 are treated as part of the 
assets and liabilities of the acquired entity and are translated at 
the closing rate.

All translation differences arising from consolidation of foreign 
shareholdings are recognised as a separate item in the com-
prehensive income. In accordance with the exemption included 
in IFRS 1 those cumulative translation differences arisen until 
the transition date have been reclassified to retained earnings 
and consequently they will not be later released in the income 
statement. From the transition date onwards translation differ-
ences arising on the consolidation are presented as a separate 
component of equity. If an interest in a foreign entity is disposed 
of all, or part of, that entity, related cumulative translation differ-
ences deferred in equity are recognised in the income statement 
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end 
of the accounting period, foreign currency monetary balances 
are translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet date. 
Non-monetary items stated at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair 
value was determined. Other non-monetary items are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Gains and 
losses resulting from transactions in foreign currencies and trans-
lation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement.  
Foreign exchange gains and losses on trade receivables and pay-
ables are adjusted to revenues and operating expenses, respec-
tively. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented as 
financial income and expenses.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical 
cost less cumulative depreciation and any impairment losses. 
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of 
property, plant and equipment. Interest costs which are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or manufacturing 
of an asset that meets the determined criteria, in which case 
they are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Ordinary 
maintenance, repairs and renewals are expensed during the 
financial period in which they are incurred. In Teleste there are 
no such significant inspection or maintenance costs that should 
be capitalised. The Group recognises in the carrying amount of 
an item of property, plant and equipment the subsequent costs 
when that cost is incurred if it is probable that future economic 
benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of perform-
ance of the existing asset will flow to the Group and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. Such renewals and repairs are 
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depreciated on a systematic basis over the remaining useful life 
of the related asset. Gains and losses on sales and disposals are 
calculated as a difference between the received proceeds and the 
carrying amount and are included in other operating income and 
expenses, respectively.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item 
of property, plant and equipment. Expected useful lives and 
residual values of non-current assets are reassessed at each bal-
ance sheet date and where they differ from previous estimates, 
depreciation periods are changed accordingly. The estimated 
useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 25–33 years•	
Machinery and equipment 3–5 years•	
Computers 0–3 years•	
Software 3 years•	

Land is not depreciated.

Leases

Group as Lessee
Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership have been trans-
ferred to the Group are classified as finance leases. These assets 
are capitalised and are stated at an amount equal to the lower 
of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments at inception of the lease less cumulative depreciation 
and any impairment losses. The associated lease liabilities are 
included in interest-bearing liabilities in accordance with their 
maturity.

These assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated as 
comparable owned assets over the shorter of the useful lives dis-
closed above for property, plant and equipment or lease period 
and are adjusted for impairment charges, if any. Lease payments 
are apportioned between the reduction of the outstanding lease 
liability and finance charge. In respect of finance leases, the 
depreciation on the leased assets and the financial charge on the 
lease liability are shown in the income statement. The financial 
charge is allocated to the income statement so as to achieve 
a constant interest rate on the outstanding liability during the 
lease term.

An operating lease is a lease of property, plant and equipment 
where the lessor retains significant risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership. Payments made thereunder are charged to the 
income statement as rental expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

Group as Lessor
Those leases under which Teleste is a lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Leased assets are presented in the lessor’s bal-
ance sheet under property, plant and equipment according to the 
nature of the asset. They are depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives in accordance with the depreciation policy used for 
comparable assets in own use. Lease income is recognised in the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intangible Assets

An intangible asset is recognised only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the Group and if the cost of the asset can be measured 
reliably. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Goodwill
After 1 January 2004 goodwill represents the Group’s share of 
difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value 
measured at the acquisition date of the net identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. The difference is 
first allocated, where applicable, to the underlying assets. The 
rest of the excess is presented as goodwill as a separate item 
in the consolidated balance sheet. Goodwill has been allocated 
to segments and in respect of associates, the carrying amount 
of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment 
in the associate. Goodwill is stated at cost less any cumulative 

impairment losses. Goodwill (together with other intangible 
assets with indefinite lives) is not amortised but is tested annu-
ally for impairment. Consequently goodwill was amortised on a 
straight-line basis over the expected useful life until 31 Decem-
ber 2003, after which the amortisation was discontinued.

Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are expensed as they are 
incurred, except for certain development costs, which are capi-
talised when certain criteria are met. Significant future product 
platforms for which the potential demand and future cash flows 
can be estimated with sufficient degree of accuracy have been 
capitalised as intangible assets. Amortisation of such capitalised 
development projects is commenced after the completion of the 
subprojects related to the product platform concerned. They are 
amortised on a systematic basis over their expected useful life, 
which is three years.

Other Intangible Assets
Other intangible assets of the Group mainly consist of connec-
tion fees and these are not amortised.

Those intangible assets which have estimated useful lives are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their known or esti-
mated useful lives.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Customer relationships 2–4 years•	
Trademarks 5–10 years•	
Technology 3–5 years•	

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale  
and Discontinued Operations

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for 
 sale when its carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. It 
is measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell. Such assets and associated liabilities are presented 
separately in the balance sheet. Assets held for sale are not 
depreciated (or amortised) after the classification as held for sale.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business 
that represents a separate major line of business or a geographi-
cal area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively 
with a view to resale. The result of discontinued operations is 
presented separately on the face of the consolidated income 
statement.

Impairment

The carrying amounts of assets are assessed for potential impair-
ment at each balance sheet date and whenever there is any 
indication that an asset may be impaired. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the cash generating 
unit level, which is the lowest level for which there are separately 
identifiable, mainly independent, cash inflows and outflows. 
Goodwill, unfinished intangible assets and intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives, if any, are in all cases tested annually. All 
goodwill items of the Group have been allocated to segments. If 
there is an indication of an impairment, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the asset or cash generating unit. When 
the recoverable amount of the asset or cash generating unit is 
lower than the carrying amount, the difference is immediately 
recognised as an impairment loss in the income statement. If the 
impairment loss is to be allocated for a cash-generating unit, it is 
allocated first by writing down any goodwill and then on pro rata 
basis to other assets of the unit.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash 
generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell or value in use. 
Teleste has applied value in use in its calculations in which case 
the estimated future net cash flows expected to be derived 
from the asset or cash generating unit are discounted to their 
present value. Expenditures to improve assets’ performance, 
investments or future restructurings are excluded from the cash 
flow estimates.

An impairment loss relating to property, plant and equipment and 
other intangible assets excluding goodwill is reversed if there is 
an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and 
there has been a positive change in the estimates used to deter-
mine the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating 
unit. An impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amorti-
sation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. However, an impairment loss in respect of goodwill  
is never reversed.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable 
value. Cost is assigned by using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) 
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of comple-
tion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The 
cost of inventories comprises all direct costs incurred in acquiring 
the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and 
condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in 
progress, cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based 
on normal operating capacity.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

In Teleste hedge accounting as defined under IAS 39 is applied 
only for interest swap contracts for specific loans. IFRS 7 has 
been applied since 1 January 2007.

Since 1 January 2004 financial assets are classified into catego-
ries as follows: financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, held-to-maturity assets, loans or receivables (assets) and 
available-for-sale assets. Financial assets are classified when 
initially acquired based on their purpose of use. In the case of a 
financial asset not measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs are included in the acquisition cost. Fair value is 
the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability 
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s 
length transaction. All purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognised or derecognised using trade date accounting.

A financial asset is derecognised when the Group has lost its 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset or 
when it has transferred substantially all the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset to an external party.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either 
classified as held for trading, or they are designated by the Group 
as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.  
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired 
or incurred principally for the purpose of short-term profittaking 
from changes in market prices or it is a derivative that does not 
qualify for hedge accounting. Financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognised on the balance 
sheet using trade date accounting. They are measured at their 
fair values, which is the bid price at the balance sheet date based 
on published price quotations in an active market. Both financial 
assets held for trading and other financial assets maturing in 12 
months after the balance sheet date are included in the current 
assets. A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value, 
realised or unrealised, is recognised in the income statement as 
incurred.

Derivatives and Hedge Accounting
Derivatives, including embedded derivatives, are included in the 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. They are 
recognised on the balance sheet at cost, equivalent to the fair 
value, and are subsequently fair valued at each balance sheet 
date. The Group uses forward exchange agreements and the 
Group’s hedging policy is to cover all material currency risks at 
least six months ahead. Hedge accounting is applied for inter-
est swap contracts hedging the interest risk for specific loans. 
Changes in fair value of instruments designated as hedging 

instruments are recognised in profit or loss. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are included in operating 
profit unless the hedged item relates to financing when fair 
value changes are recognised in financial income or expenses. 
Fair values are determined utilising public price quotations and 
rates as well as generally used valuation models. The data and 
assumptions used in the valuation model are based on verifiable 
market prices. Derivatives that mature within 12 months after 
the balance sheet date are included in current assets or liabilities. 
Derivatives are not used for speculative purposes. Changes in the 
fair values of derivative instruments, for which hedge accounting 
is applied and which are effective hedging instruments, are recog-
nised in profit or loss in congruence with the hedged items. 

On initial designation of the hedge, the Group documents the 
relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument, 
and the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking 
the hedge transaction. The Group documents and assesses both 
at the inception of the hedge relationship and at least at each 
reporting date, the effectiveness of the hedging relationship by 
monitoring the ability of the hedging instrument to offset the 
changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged 
item. The interest element of interest rate swaps used to hedge 
variable rate loans is recognised in profit or loss within financial 
items and the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument 
is recognised in equity.

Available-for-sale Assets
This category comprises those non-derivative financial assets 
that are designated as available for sale or are not classified 
into other categories. In Teleste available-for-sale investments 
consist of holdings in listed and unlisted companies and they are 
normally measured at their fair value. Investments in listed com-
panies are measured at the bid price at the balance sheet date 
based on published price quotations in an active market. Such 
unlisted shares whose fair value cannot be reliably determined, 
are measured at cost. Unrealised changes in value of available-
for-sale investments, net of tax, are recognised in the compre-
hensive income and in equity in fair value reserve. Cumulative fair 
value changes are released to the income statement when the 
investment is sold or disposed of. Such significant impairment 
losses for which there is objective evidence, are recognised in 
the income statement immediately. Normally available-for-sale 
investments are included in non-current assets unless the Group 
has the intention to hold them for less than 12 months after the 
balance sheet date.

Loans and Receivables
Financial assets that belong to this category meet the following 
criteria: they are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
The Group does not hold them for trading purposes either. 
Loans and receivables arise when money, goods or services are 
delivered to a debtor. They are included in current or non-current 
assets in accordance with their maturity. Loans granted by the 
Group are measured at cost. An impairment loss is recognised on 
loan receivables if their carrying amount exceeds their recover-
able amount.

Held-to-maturity Investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that 
the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. 
They are stated at amortised cost less impairment losses and 
presented within non-current assets. At the end of the reporting 
period the Group had no assets classified as held-to-maturity 
investments.

Financial Liabilities
Since 1 January 2004 financial liabilities are classified either 
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or as 
other liabilities. Teleste only has liabilities classified to the latter 
category. On initial recognition a loan is measured at its fair 
value that is based on the consideration received. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, these liabilities are stated at amortised cost 
calculated using the effective interest method. Interest expenses 

44 45



are recognised in the income statement over the term of the loan 
using the effective interest method.

Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are recognised at the original invoice amount 
to customers and stated at their cost less impairment losses, 
if any. The amount of doubtful receivables and assessment of a 
potential impairment is based on risk of individual receivables. 
Trade receivables are measured at their probable value at the 
highest. An impairment loss is recorded when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of the receivables. Bad debts 
recognised in the income statement are included in other operat-
ing expenses.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash balances, call deposits 
and other short-term highly liquid investments with original matu-
rities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Bank 
overdrafts, if any, are included within current liabilities.

Treasury Shares

Teleste Corporation’s own shares acquired by the Group, includ-
ing directly attributable costs, are presented as a deduction from 
total equity in the consolidated financial statements. Purchases 
or subsequent sales of treasury shares are presented as changes 
in equity.

Dividends

The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is not recog-
nised until approved by a general meeting of shareholders.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation. The amount recognised 
as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. If the 
effect of the time value of money on the amount of a provision 
is material, a provision is discounted. Provisions can arise from 
warranties, onerous contracts and restructurings. A warranty pro-
vision is recognised when the underlying products are sold. The 
provision is based on historical warranty data and an estimate. 
A provision for non-cancellable purchase commitments of the 
Group is recognised, if these commitments result in inventory in 
excess of forecasted requirements. A provision for onerous con-
tracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by 
the Group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost 
of meeting its obligations under the contract. A reimbursement 
from a third party related to a provision is recognised as a receiv-
able only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has a 
detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring has 
either commenced or has been announced publicly to those it 
concerns. The plan identifies at least the following: the business 
concerned, the principal locations affected, the location, function, 
and approximate number of employees who will be compensated 
for terminating their services, the expenditures that will be under
taken and when the plan will be implemented. Future operating 
costs are not provided for.

Revenue Recognition and Net Sales

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the income 
statement when all significant risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred to the buyer, which normally takes place 
when a commodity is delivered. Revenue from services is recog-
nised when the service has been performed.

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised either on a 
percentage-of-completion basis, using units of delivery (based 
on predetermined milestones) or by applying the cost-to-cost 
method of accounting as the measurement basis. Estimated 
contract profits are recognised in earnings in proportion to 
recorded sales, when a certain predetermined milestone has 
been achieved. In the cost-to-cost method, revenue and profits 
are recognised after considering the ratio of cumulative costs 
incurred to estimated total costs to complete each contract (the 
stage of completion). Recognition of profit requires the outcome 
of a construction contract be estimated reliably. If this is not 
the case, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract 
costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable; and contract 
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. In 
the event that the Group can be held as the main contractor of 
a construction contract, various product expenses including raw 
materials and labour costs will be accounted for in the calculation 
of the stage of completion. Possible changes in the expected 
total expenses of a construction contract are expensed as 
incurred. The expected loss is charged to the income statement 
immediately.

Costs related to a construction contract for which revenue is 
not yet recognised are included in inventories under unfinished 
construction contracts. If costs incurred together with recognised 
profits exceed the amount billed, the difference is included in the 
balance sheet item “trade and other receivables”. When costs 
incurred together with recognised profits are lower than the 
amount billed, the difference is shown under “trade and other 
payables”.

Net sales include revenue from services rendered and goods 
sold, adjusted for discounts granted, sales-related taxes and 
effects of the translation differences.

Other Operating Income

Other operating income comprises income not generated from 
primary activities, such as rental income and gains from disposal 
of assets.

Government Grants

Government grants that compensate the Group for expenses 
incurred are recognised as revenue in the income statement on a 
systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are 
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an 
asset are recognised by deducting the grant from the carrying 
amount of the asset.

Employee Benefits

Pension Arrangements
Pension plans are classified as either defined contribution plans 
or defined benefit plans. The plans the Group has currently are 
classified as defined contribution plans. Contributions to defined 
contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the 
income statement in the year to which they relate. The statutory 
pension plans of Finnish subsidiaries in the Group are funded 
through pension insurance. Subsidiaries outside Finland have 
various pension schemes in accordance with local requirements 
and practices.

Share-based Payments
Teleste has applied IFRS 2 Share-based payments to granted 
share options to the extent that such share option plans are in the 
scope of this standard, i.e. to those share option arrangements 
in which share options have been granted after 7 November 
2002 that had not yet vested until 1 January 2005. The options 
granted before this have not been expensed in the income state-
ment. The granted share options are measured at their fair values 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at the grant date 
and are recognised as an employee expense during the vesting 
period with a corresponding increase in equity. When the options 
are exercised, the proceeds received, net of any transactions 
costs, are credited to share capital (nominal value) and the share 
premium reserve.

Operating Profit

Operating profit is not defined under IAS 1 Presentation of Finan-
cial Statements. In Teleste it is defined as a net amount that is 
comprised of the following items:

net sales
+ other operating income
– raw material and consumables used adjusted for changes in 
   inventories of finished goods and work in progress
– employee benefits expense
– depreciation and amortisation expense and impairment losses
– other operating expense

 
= operating profit / loss

All other items not mentioned above are presented under the 
operating profit. Translation differences relating to sales and 
purchases are treated as adjustments to these items. All other 
translation differences are included in financial income and 
expenses.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are generally expensed in the period in which 
they are incurred, except if they are directly attributable to the 
construction of an asset that meets the determined criteria, in 
which case they are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. 
These criteria are that the borrowing costs incurred for the con-
struction of a major investment. However, incremental transac-
tion costs directly related to acquiring a loan are included in the 
initial cost and are amortised as an interest expense using the 
effective interest rate method. The Group had no such capitalised 
transaction costs in its balance sheet at the end of the reporting 
period. 

Interest and Dividend Income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method. Dividend income is recognised when the right to the 
dividend has established.

Income Taxes

The income taxes in the consolidated income statement consist 
of current tax and the change in the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities. Current tax includes taxes of the Group companies 
calculated on the taxable profit for the period determined in 
accordance with local tax rules, as well as the tax adjustments 
related to previous years. Deferred tax relating to items charged 
or credited directly to comprehensive income is itself charged or 
credited directly to comprehensisive income and equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are provided in the consoli-
dated financial statements using the balance sheet liability 
method, providing for all temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The main 
temporary differences arise from the treatment of development 
costs, the depreciation difference on property, plant and equip-
ment and effects of consolidation and eliminations. Deferred 
taxes are not provided for impairment of goodwill, which is not 
deductible for tax purposes, nor for undistributed profits of 
subsidiaries to the extent that is it probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
tax liabilities are recognised at their full amounts in the balance 
sheet, and deferred tax assets are recognised at estimated 
realisable amounts. The enacted or substantially enacted tax  
rate at the balance sheet date is used as the tax rate.

Accounting Policies Requiring Management’s 
Judgement and Key Sources of Estimation  
Uncertainty

Management’s estimates regarding obsolete inventories, bad 
debts and warranties are based on approved financial models 
and case-specific judgments. Both historical experience and 

management’s current view on the market situation have been 
employed when using the financial models. Management has 
used the best information available during the process of prepar-
ing the financial statements when making case-specific judge-
ments. Impairment tests reflect assumptions made by manage-
ment and underlying sensitivity analyses of the future cash flows. 

By the issuance of the consolidated financial statements Teleste 
is not aware of any significant uncertainties regarding estimates 
made at the balance sheet date, nor of such future key assump-
tions that might have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

Application of New and Revised Ifrs Standards

IASB has published the following new or revised standards and 
interpretations that the Group has not yet adopted. The Group 
will adopt these standards as of the effective date of each of 
the standards, or if the effective date is not the first day of the 
reporting period, as of the beginning of the next reporting period 
following the effective date.

Revised IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (effective for financial 
year beginning on or after 1 January 2011). The definition of a 
related party is clarified and certain disclosure requirements for 
government related entities are changed.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for financial year begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2013). IFRS 9 is the first phase of an 
extensive project to replace IAS 39 with a new standard. Differ-
ent measurement methods are retained but they have been sim-
plified. Financial assets are divided into two classifications based 
on their measurement: financial assets measured at amortised 
cost and financial assets measured at fair value. The classification 
depends on entity’s business model and the contractual provi-
sions of the instrument. Guidance of IAS 39 on impairment and 
hedge accounting remains effective. Figures of prior reporting 
period do not need to be adjusted if the standard is adopted on 
a reporting period beginning before 1 January 2012. The stand-
ard has not yet been endorsed by the European Union.

Improvements to IFRS (May 2010, mainly effective for financial 
year beginning on or after 1 July 2010). Annual improvements 
procedure gathers all minor and less urgent amendments into 
one collection that is implemented once a year. The effects of the 
amendments vary between different standards but the amend-
ments will not have any major effects on the consolidated finan-
cial statements. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by 
the European Union.

Improvement to IAS and IFRS standars and IFRIC interpretation are 
estimated not to have significant impact on Teleste’s reporting.

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (effec-
tive for financial year beginning on or after 1 July 2011). 

Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – 
Classification of rights issues (effective for financial year begin-
ning on or after 1 February 2010). 

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instru-
ments (effective for financial year beginning on or after 1 July 
2010). 

Amendments to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding 
Requirement (effective for financial year beginning on or after 1 
January 2011). 

Amendments to IAS 12 - Defered Tax: Recovery of Underlying 
Asset (effective for financial year beginning on or after 1 January 
2012). 
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Teleste Group is organised in two reporting segments. These 
segments are based on the Group’s organisational and internal 
reporting structure. The Group has adopted IFRS 8 since  
1 January 2009.

Business Segments

The Group comprises two business segments that are Networks 
Services and Video and Broadband Solutions.  They have been 
introduced on 1 January 2010.

Video and Broadband Solutions business segment has the 
emphasis on product solutions for broadband access networks, 
video service platforms and video surveillance applications. Major 
clientele of the business area consists of cable operators but 
includes also resellers and public sector organizations. The main 
market of the business area is Europe.

Network Services segment deliver comprehensive network 
service solutions including new construction, rebuilding, upgrad-
ing, planning and maintenance services of cable networks. The 
clientele consists mainly of large European cable operators. 
Implementation and scope of the relevant services vary by client 
ranging from standalone applications to integrated turnkey 
deliveries. Most deliveries are based on frame agreements. 
The services also include Teleste’s own product solutions. Our 
know-how in services covers all the sectors related to the cable 
network technology from installation and maintenance of head 
ends to upgrading of house networks. Services are also provided 
through a network of subcontractors.

Geographical Division

The two segments operates in four geographical areas:

Finland•	
Other Nordic countries•	
Other Europe•	
Others (North America, Asia and Other countries)•	

The main market area of Video and Broadband Solutions is 
Europe where the business unit is present with its 23 dedicated 
offices supported by several support and integration partners. 
Apart from Europe, offices have been established in Australia, 
China, India and USA. 

The geographical division of sales are shown based on customer 
location. Assets and investments are presented by geographical 
location of assets.

There are no major inter-segment sales in the Group.

Unallocated Items

Unallocated income statement items include costs and incomes 
which follow earnings after depreciations. Assets not allocated 
to the segments represent cash. Unallocated liabilities are inter-
est bearing liabilities and tax liabilities.

Business Segments

2010 1 000 euros Video and 
Broadband 

Solutions

Network 
Services

 Group

External sales
	 Services 3 379 85 829 89 208
	 Goods 78 628 0 78 628

Total external sales 82 007 85 829 167 836

Operating profit of segments 6 345 1 087 7 432

Operating profit 7 432
Financial items    –689

Shares of associates 0

Profit before taxes 6 743

2009 1 000 euros Video and 
Broadband 

Solutions

Network  
Services

 Group

External sales

	 Services 3 449 65 371 68 820

	 Goods 72 831 0 72 831

Total external sales 76 280 65 371 141 651

Operating profit of segments  –692 3 216 2 524

Operating profit 2 524

Financial items  –605

Shares of associates –544  –544

Profit before taxes 1 375

Impairment of goodwill 800 0 800

Geographical division

2010 1 000 euros Finland Nordic  
countries

Other  
Europe

Others  Group 

Sales by origin 11 272 17 932 129 512 9 120 167 836
Assets 29 877 7 922 77 272 1 168 116 239
Capital expenditure 2 190 25 1 511 25 3 751

2009 1 000 euros Finland Nordic  
countries

Other  
Europe

Others  Group 

Sales by origin 11 630 17 964 107 011 5 046 141 651
Assets 32 611 11 843 64 547 1 077 110 078
Capital expenditure 4 611 20 20 580 30 25 241
 

Major customer
Revenues from one customer of the Group’s Network Services segment represents approximately 51.6 Meur in 2010 (33.6 Meur in 
2009), which is 30.7% (23.7%) of Group net sales.

Segment Reporting
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At 14 April 2010 Networks Services segment was strengthened 
by acquiring 100% of shares of a Swiss company Freycom S.A. 
The company’s business area is in upgrading and maintenance of 
cable and house networks.  

At 1 September 2010 Video and Broadband solution segment 
was strengthened by acquiring 100% of shares of Polish 
company Satlan Sp. z o.o, a system integrator focusing on IP 
video and broadband solutions for Polish operators and service 
providers.

The acquisitions resulted in EUR 1 228 thousand of intangible 
assets, which was allocated to trade marks, customer relation-
ships. Teleste personnel increased with 52 persons. The goodwill, 
amounted EUR 5 103 thousand, is mainly due to future revenue 
expectation. The goodwill include estimated amount of the con-
ditional supplementary contract price for Satlan. Total considera-
tion is estimated to be EUR 6 330 thousand depending on the 
profitability development during next two years. The fair value of 
Satlans trade receivables EUR 1 305 thousand were EUR 109 
thousand less than the total value based on agreements. The 
difference is expected to realize as credit losses. All costs related 
to the acquisitions, EUR 94 thousand, are expensed in other 
operating expenses. The goodwill is mainly due to expected return 
in the future. 

The ownership in Cableway AG rose in August 2010 to 100%.

The impact of the acquisition of Freycom on Teleste’s net sales 
during the period 14.4.2010–31.12.2010 was EUR 1 970 
thousand and on the profit EUR 24 thousand. If Freycom would 
have been consolidated since 1 January 2010, the Group revenue 
would have been EUR 605 thousand higher and the Group profit 
would have decreased EUR 230 thousand.

The impact of the acquisition of Satlan on Teleste’s net sales dur-
ing the period 1.9.2010–31.12.2010 was EUR 3 631 thousand  
and on the profit EUR 656 thousand. If Satlan would have been 
consolidated since 1 January 2010, the Group revenue would 
have been EUR 3 707 thousand higher and the Group rprofit 
would have increased EUR 82 thousand.

The range of products and services of Network Services was 
strengthened by acquisition of 100% of shares of German com-
panies, Antel GmbH, MKS and Young-Net GmbH was purchased 
at 1 January 2009. At 1 July 2009 100% of shares in AVC 
Systemhaus GmbH was purchased. With these purchases Teleste 
ownership in Cableway AG increased to 75%. The purchase prices 
amounted totally EUR 10 954 thousand and was paid in cash.

The acquisition resulted in EUR 2 977 thousand of intangible 
assets, which was allocated to trade marks, customer relation-
ships and tehnology. Teleste personnel increased with 624 per-
sons. The goodwill, amounted EUR 15 260 thousand, is mainly 
due to future revenue expectation and to personnel synergy 
effects in the future. The goodwill include estimated amount of 
the conditional supplementary contract price. 

The impact of the acquisition on Teleste’s net sales during the 
period 1.1.2009–31.12.2009 was EUR 62 271 thousand and on 
the net profit EUR 1 431 thousand. If Cableway and AVC System
haus had been consolidated since 1 January 2009, the Group 
net sales would have been EUR 14 750 thousand higher and the 
Group net profit would have decreased EUR 537 thousand.

The fair values determined in the business combination are based 
on the following estimates:

The fair value of acquired trade marks is determined to equate •	
with the discounted royalties, which have been managed to 
be avoidable by owing the trademarks in question. A reason-
able royalty per cent, that an external party would pay for a 
licensing agreement, has been estimated when determining 
the fair values.

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet

1  CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS		

Group revenue includes EUR 2 708 thousand in 2010 (EUR 2 911 thousand in 2009 ) of income from construction contracts.
 
Revenue recognised in the consolidated income statement from construction contracts in progress amounted to EUR 412 thousand  
(EUR 434 thousand). No advance payments included to balance sheet at the closing time.

1 000 euros 2010 2009

2  OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Government grants related to development costs 1 148 1 602
Rental income 59 117
Government grants 253 1 405
Total 1 460 3 124

3 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Wages and salaries –39 425 –35 015
Pension expenses
	 Defined contribution plans –7 412 –6 581
Other post employment benefits –4 387 –3 190
Activated R&D salaries and social costs 647 486
Equity-settled share-based transactions –247 –284
Total –50 824 –44 584

Information on the remuneration of (and loans to) the Group management is presented  
in the note Related party transactions.

The average number of employees during the financial year 1 215 1 103

4 DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Depreciation and amortisation by asset type:

	 Tangible assets
		  Buildings –348 –211
		  Machinery and equipment –1 302 –1 539
		  Other tangible assets –618 –347
Total –2 268 –2 097

	 Intangible assets
		  Capitalised development expenses –2 379 –2 367
		  Other intangible assets –1 249 –1 118
Total –3 628 –3 485

	 Impairment losses
		  Goodwill 0 –800
Total 0 –800

5 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Rental expenses –4 237 –3 485
External services –2 889 –2 228
Other variable costs –3 975 –4 222
Travel and IT costs –4 736 –4 371
R&D costs –3 187 –3 103
Other expenses –4 066 –3 914
Total –23 090 –21 323

Audit expenses 

KPMG
Auditing assignments –164 –165
Tax consultancy –27 –43
Other assignments –17 –23
Other auditors
Auditing assignments –36 –23
Other assignments –21 –37

Business Combinations Acquired  
During 2010 and 2009

The fair value of acquired technology is determined to equate •	
with the discounted product development costs, which have 
been managed to be avoidable by owing the technology in 
question.
Determination of fair value of the customer relationships is •	
based on the estimated life time of the customer relation-
ships and the discounted cash flows to be derived from the 
existing customerships.

Calculation of recognised fair values on  
acquisition

1 000 euros

Fair values used in consolidation
Trade marks (inc. in intangible assets) 43
Customer relationship  (inc. in intangible assets) 188
Book values used in consolidation
Tangible assets 107
Inventories 280
Other receivables 217
Liquid funds 340

Total assets 1 175

Book values used in consolidation
Deferred tax liabilities 60
Other liabilities 914

Total liabilities 974

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 201

Total consideration 571
Goodwill on acquisition 370

Consideration paid in cash –571
Cash and cash equivalents in acquired subsidiary 197

Total net cash outflow on the acquisition –374

Preliminary calculation of recognised fair values 
on acquisition of Satlan

1 000 euros

Fair values used in consolidation
Trade marks (inc. in intangible assets) 154
Customer relationship  (inc. in intangible assets) 843
Inventories 1 314
Trade receivables 1 305
Book values used in consolidation
Tangible assets 51
Other receivables 219
Liquid funds 333

Total assets 4 219

 

Book values used in consolidation
Deferred tax liabilities 259
Other liabilities 2 363

Total liabilities 2 622

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 1 597

Total consideration 6 330

Goodwill on acquisition 4 733

Consideration paid in cash  –2 780
Cash and cash equivalents in acquired subsidiary 333

Total net cash outflow on the acquisition  –2 447
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Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet

1 000 euros 2010 2009

6 FINANCIAL INCOME

Interest income 72 64

Dividend income 12 10
Other financial income 0 31

Total 84 105

7 FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Interest expenses –659 –526
Exchange losses –36 0
Other financial expenses –78 –184

Total –773 –710

Other financial expenses includes interests from financial leasing expenses during the period 36 teur (120 teur in 2009).  
Losses from forward exchange contratcs are included in operating profit.

8 INCOME TAXES

Recognised in the income statement
Current tax expense
	 Current year –1 764 –923
	 Adjustments for prior years –230 –76
Deferred tax expense 35 40

Total –1 959 –959

Reconciliation of the tax expense, EUR –1 959 thousand,  
calculated using the Teleste Group’s domestic corporation 26% tax rate:

Profit before tax 6 743 1 375

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate (26%) –1 753 –357
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions –86 –194
Tax exempt revenues 0 0
Tax debt increase related to balance sheet items 35 40
Non-deductible expenses –76 –436
Taxes from previous year –230 –76
Effect of tax losses utilised		  150 64

Income tax income/expense reported in the consolidated income statement		  –1 959 –959
 

9 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share is calculated as follows: The diluted earnings per share is calculated as follows:

 
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 
(diluted)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the financial year

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the financial year (diluted)

The number of ordinary shares outstanding excludes the 
treasury shares.

The changes in the number of the shares are presented in  
the note 17 Capital and reserves.

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet

2010 2009

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent (1 000 euros) 4 784 416

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year (1 000 shares) 17 425 17 229

Basic earnings per share (euros/shares) 0.27 0.02

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year (1 000 shares) 17 425 17 229
Effect of share options on issue (1 000 shares) 268 78
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year (diluted) (1 000 shares) 17 693 17 307
Diluted earnings per share (euros/share) 0.27 0.02

The share options granted by the Group have a dilutive effect, i.e. they increase the number of the ordinary shares when their subscripti-
on price is below the fair value of the share. The dilutive effect equals the number of the shares gratuitously issued; this difference arises 
when the Group can not issue the same number of shares at their fair value using the proceeds received on the exercise of the options. 

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

1 000 euros Land areas Buildings Machinery 
and equip-

ment

Other  
tangible 

assets

Total

 

Balance at 1.1.2010 153 8 900 19 373 4 583 33 009
Additions 0 209 578 222 1 009
Acquisitions through business combinations 0 19 116 0 135

Balance at 31.12.2010 153 9 128 20 067 4 805 34 153

Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1.1.2010 0 –3 490 –15 835 –3 724 –23 049
Depreciation charge for the year 0 –348 –1 302 –618 –2 268

Balance at 31.12.2010 0 –3 838 –17 137 –4 342 –25 317
 

Carrying amounts at 1.1.2010 153 5 410 3 538 859 9 960

Carrying amounts at 31.12.2010 153 5 290 2 930 463 8 836
 

1 000 euros Land areas Buildings Machinery 
and equip-

ment

Other  
tangible 

assets

Total

Balance at 1.1.2009 176 5 843 17 289 4 017 27 325
Additions 0 3 184 1 070 566 4 820
Acquisitions through business combinations 0 105 1 014 0 1 119
Disposals –23 –232 0 0 –255

Balance at 31.12.2009 153 8 900 19 373 4 583 33 009

Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1.1.2009 0 –3 279 –14 296 –3 377 –20 952
Depreciation charge for the year 0 –211 –1 539 –347 –2 097

Balance at 31.12.2009 0 –3 490 –15 835 –3 724 –23 049
 

Carrying amounts at 1.1.2009 176 2 564 2 993 640 6 373
Carrying amounts at 31.12.2009 153 5 410 3 538 859 9 960

Carrying amount of production machinery and equipment at 31.21.2010 2 930
Carrying amount of production machinery and equipment at 31.21.2009 3 145

Property, plant and equipment include assets leased under financial leases as follows:
 
 1 000 euros Machinery and  

equipment

31.12.2010

Historical cost 2 606
Cumulative depreciation –1 797

Carrying amount at 31.12. 809

31.12.2009
Historical cost 3 605
Cumulative depreciation –2 333

Carrying amount at 31.12. 1 272
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Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet

1 000 euros Goodwill Develop-
ment costs

Other 
intangible 

assets

Total

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Balance at 1.1.2010 32 457 12 029 6 002 50 488
Additions 5 103 1 742 1 160 8 005
Disposals –5 801 0 –229 –6 030

Balance at 31.12.2010 31 759 13 771 6 933 52 463

Amortisation and impairment losses
Balance at 1.1.2010 –800 –8 193 –2 174 –11 167
Amortisation for the year 0 –2 379 –1 249 –3 628

Balance at 31.12.2010 –800 –10 572 –3 423 –14 795
 

Carrying amounts at 1.1.2010 31 657 3 836 3 828 39 321
Carrying amounts at 31.12.2010 30 959 3 199 3 510 37 668
 

1 000 euros Goodwill Develop-
ment costs

Other 
intangible 

assets

Total

Balance at 1.1.2009 13 865 10 432 2 915 27 212

Additions 18 592 1 597 3 087 23 276

Balance at 31.12.2009 32 457 12 029 6 002 50 488

Amortisation and impairment losses
Balance at 1.1.2009 0 –5 825 –1 056 –6 881
Amortisation for the year –800 –2 368 –1 118 –4 286

Balance at 31.12.2009 –800 –8 193 –2 174 –11 167
 

Carrying amounts at 1.1.2009 13 865 4 607 1 859 20 331
Carrying amounts at 31.12.2009 31 657 3 836 3 828 39 321

For the purposes of impairment testing goodwill items of the Group have been allocated to the segments, each of which represents 
a separate cash-generating unit. The aggregate goodwill amount totalled EUR 31.0 million at 31 December 2010. Goodwill has been 
allocated to the following cash-generating unit (Meur):

Video and Broadband Solutions         23.2
Network Services                               7.8

The recoverable amount of the segments is based upon value-in-use calculations. Those calculations use cash flow projections based 
upon the strategy and budgets approved by the management. Calculations are prepared covering a 10 years’ period, the cash flow for 
both segments covers the five first years and is extrapolated using a 5 per cent growth rate (Video and Broadband Solutions first  
2 years is based on 0 growth rate and during the next 3 years the expected growth rate is 5 per cent and for Network Services first  
5 years is based on 5 per cent yearly growth rate). The expected future cash flows for a further 5 year period are extrapolated using a  
5 per cent (2 per cent) growth rate. 

Management’s view on the cash flows is cautious as the changes of the industry are difficult to foresee. A discount rate of 12.7 per 
cent (12.3 per cent) has been used in discounting the projected cash flows. The terminal value of the segments is calculated by using a 
growth rate of 2 per cent. The impairment test process included the sensitivity analysis of the segment or a cash generating unit (CGU) 
in the segment, in which the specific yearly cash flow estimates were reduced by 1–3 percentage units and the discount interests were 
increased by 1–2.3 percentage units. Based on the sensitivity analysis, no potential future impairment losses have been foreseen in the 
Network Services segment. 

For Video and Broadband Solutions an impairment loss is possible if the estimated growth rate doesnt realize for one CGU. The allocated 
goodwill for this CGU stood at EUR 1 807 thousand at 31 Dec. 2010. 

The Group received a grant amounting to EUR 1.4 million from Tekes (National Technology Agency of Finland) towards development 
costs in 2010 (2009: EUR 2.0 million). From the grant received EUR 0.22 million (2009: EUR 0.36 million) has been recognised to deduct 
the carrying amount of the asset. 

The grant has the condition, according to which 10% of the total costs of the project have to be incurred through subcontracting work in 
Finnish small and medium-sized companies.

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet

1 000 euros 1.1.2010 Recognised 
in the income 

statement

31.12.2010

13 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Movements in temporary differences during 2010

Deferred tax assets:

Effects of consolidation and eliminations 1 698 –804 894

Unused tax losses 0 333 333

Provisions 244 0 244

Other items 41 31 72

Cumulative depreciation difference 442 –172 270

Total 2 425 –612 1 813

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Capitalisation of intangible assets –991 160 –831

Fair value adjustments to intangible and tangible assets on acquisition –1 160 247 –913

Cumulative depreciation difference –256 –77 –333

Other taxable temporary differences –283 36 –247

Total –2 690 366 –2 324

In the consolidated financial statements deferred tax receivables and liabilities have been offset.

The change in liabilities doesn’t match the deferred tax recognised the income statement due to recognition of deferred tax liabilities for 
other intangible assets and group internal eliminations.

1 000 euros 1.1.2009 Recognised 
in the income 

statement

31.12.2009

Movements in temporary differences during 2009

Deferred tax assets:

Effects of consolidation and eliminations 737 961 1 698

Provisions 244 0 244

Other items 0 41 41

Cumulative depreciation difference 388 54 442

Total 1 369 1 056 2 425

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Capitalisation of intangible assets –1 197 206 –991

Fair value adjustments to intangible and tangible assets on acquisition –444 –716 –1 160

Cumulative depreciation difference –285 29 –256

Other taxable temporary differences –402 117 –283

Total –2 328 –364 –2 960

In the consolidated financial statements deferred tax receivables and liabilities have been offset.  

At 31 December 2010 the Group had unused tax losses in subsidiaries amounting EUR 1,185 thousand (31 December 2009: EUR 1,855 
thousand). Deferred tax asset of EUR 333 thousand has been recognised as the Group can utilise the benefit. The Group has also defer-
red tax asset abroad EUR 378 thousand (31 December 2009: EUR 448 thousand). These are not included in the calculations due to the 
unceraintity if Group can utilise them.

No deferred tax liability has been provided for the undistributed profits of the foreign subsidiaries amounting to EUR 3,105 thousand at 
31 December 2010 (31 December 2009: EUR 4,314 thousand). This is because the parent company has the power to decide the time 
when the tax obligation would realize. The realization of this tax is unlikely in the near future.

1 000 euros 2010 2009

14 INVENTORIES

Raw materials and consumables 3 963 4 156
Work in progress 11 398 11 651
Finished goods 5 639 4 875

Total 21 000 20 682

The amount of the impairment losses of inventories to the net realisable value recognised as an expense during the financial period is 
EUR 700 thousand. At the end of the financial year EUR 5,152 thousand was deducted from the inventory value to the net realisable 
value (31 December 2009: EUR 6,152 thousand).

1 000 euros 2010 2009

12 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Unlisted shares 713 713

Total 713 713
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1 000 euros 2010 2009

15 TRADE AND OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES
 

Trade receivables 28 082 22 144
Accrued income and prepayments 2 070 2 280
Other receivables 2 667 2 460

Total 32 819 26 884

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and in hand and call deposits 15 203 12 518

Total 15 203 12 518

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 15 203 12 518

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet

17 Share-based payments

Teleste Corporation had two option schemes in operation during the period: Stock Options 2004 and Stock Options 2007. The 
schemes were approved by Teleste annual general shareholders’ meetings in 2004 and in 2007. The stock options have an average 
maturity of 6 years from the plan launch including a waiting period and a two-year share subscription period. Under the schemes out-
standing at the end of the period the annual general meeting of shareholders has authorized Teleste board of directors to grant up 
to 1 140 000 options to the Group key employees or to Teleste subsidiary, which may be authorized to grant options further to the 
Group key personnel. The options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest. The options expire unless 
not distributed or exercised by the end of the share subscribtion period. Dilution effect of the new shares potentially subscribed with 
the outstanding stock options the after share capital increase currently amount to 4%, at maximum. Key characteristics and terms of 
the Teleste option schemes in operation at the end of the period are listed in the table below.

17 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

1 000 euros Number of  
shares, 

1 000 pcs

Number of 
own shares,  

1 000 pcs

Number of  
shares, total,  

1 000 pcs

Share  
capital,  

1000 euros

Reserve  
fund, 

 1000 euros

At 1.1.2009 17 039 766 17 805 6 967 1 504
Share options exercised by employees 0 0 0 0 0
Own shares purchased –78 78 0 0 0
Own shares sold 465 -465 0 0 0

At 31.12.2009 17 426 379 17 805 6 967 1 504

Issue of new share (Teleste Management) 0 381 381 0 0
Share options exercised by employees 0 0 0 0 0
Own shares purchased 0 0 0 0 0
Own shares sold 0 0 0 0 0

At 31 December 2010 17 426 760 18 186 6 967 1 504

The number of Teleste Oyj shares was 18,186,590 at 31 December 2010 (31 December 2009 17,805,590 shares). All shares is-
sued have been fully paid.

The Annual General Meeting of Teleste Oyj held on 9 Arpril 2010 decided to authorize the Board of Directors to repurchase Compa-
ny’s own shares in accordance with the proposal of the Board of Directors. Based on the authorization, the Board of Directors may 
repurchase a maximum of 1,400,000 own shares of the Company otherwise than in proportion to the holdings of the shareholders 
by using the non-restricted equity at the market price prevailing at the time of the acquisition in NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd. 

Based on the authorization, a maximum of 10,000,000 new shares may be issued and a maximum of 1,779,985 of own shares 
held by the Company may be conveyed. The number of shares to be issued to the Company itself together with the shares repur-
chased to the Company on the basis of the authorization to repurchase own shares shall be at the maximum 1,400,000 shares. 
The maximum number of new shares that may be subscribed and own shares held by the Company that may be conveyed by virtue 
of the special rights granted by the Company is 5,000,000 shares in total which number shall be included in the above maximum 
numbers of new shares and own shares held by the Company. On the basis of authorization granted by the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders of Teleste on 7 April 2009, the Board of Directors of Teleste decided on a share issue against payment directed 
to Teleste Management to be formed. In the share issue, a total of 381,000 new shares in Teleste was offered for subscription by 
Teleste Management, in derogation from the shareholders’ pre-emptive subscription rights.

At the end of December 2010, the number of own shares in the Group possession stood at 760,985. 

The annual general meeting of Teleste Oyj held on 7 April 2009 authorised the Board to acquire the maximum of 900,000 of the 
company’s own shares and to convey the maximum of 1,744,721 company’s own shares. The AGM also authorised the company 
Board to issue 10,000,000 new shares. Pursuant to the special rights provided by the company, the maximum number of significant 
shares is 5,000,000; these special rights are included in the authorisation to issue 10,000,000 new shares.

On 10 June 2009, the number of company’s own shares conveyed by authorisation granted by the Annual General Meeting of 2009 
for the additional purchase price of DINH Telecom acquired on 2 April 2007 was 464,736, making 2.61% of the share capital. In the 
review period 78,530 (421,470) shares were purchased. At the end of December, the number of own shares in the Group possession 
stood at 379,985. The minority share from acquisitions in Germany is not calculated due to the fact that equity is negative.

Shares subscribed for pursuant to the share option plans will entitle to dividend when the increase of the share capital is registered 
with the Finnish trade register. Voting and other shareholder rights will commence on the date on which the increase of the share 
capital is registered with the Finnish trade register.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
subsidiaries. 

Dividends
After the balance sheet date the dividend of EUR 0.12 per share (2009 EUR 0.08 per share) was proposed by the Board of Directors.

Basic information Stock Options 
2004

Stock Options 2007 Total

2010 2004B 2007A 2007B 2007C

31.12.2010
Annual General Meeting date 16.3.2004 3.4.2007 3.4.2007 3.4.2007
Grant date(s) 15.6.2004 24.8.2007 15.10.2008 21.9.2009

4.4.2006
15.11.2004

Maximum number of stock options 300 000 280 000 280 000 280 000 1 440 000
The number of shares subscribed  
by one option

1 1 1 1

Initial exercise price*, EUR 6.59 12.89 6.94 3.57
	 Dividend adjustment Yes Yes Yes Yes
	 Exercise price 31.12.2008 5.87 12.45 6.70 –
	 Exercise price 31.12.2009 5.75 12.33 6.58 3.57
	 Exercise price 31.12.20010 ** 5.67 12.25 6.50 3.49
	 Beginning of exercise period 
	 (vesting)

1.4.2008 1.4.2010 1.4.2011 1.4.2012

	 End of excercise period  
	 (expiration)

30.4.2010 30.4.2012 30.4.2013 30.4.2014

Maximum contractual life, years 6.1 5.1 6.1 7.1
Remaining contractual life, years expired 1.3 2.3 3.3
Number of persons 31.12.2010 vested vested 33 41
Vesting conditions Employment 

Share ownership 
requirement (for 
the management) 
Performance 
criteria (order 
intake, EBIT, 
ROCE and EPS)

Employment until beginning of exercise period

*	 Share subscription price is the trade volume weighted average quotation of the Teleste share on the Helsinki Exchanges 
during and April 2005 for the stock options 2004B, respectively. Share subscription price for stock options 2007 is the 
volume weighted average price plus 10% of Teleste share in NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd during April 2007, April 2008 and 
April 2009 for the stock options 2007A, 2007B and 2007C, respectively.

**	Share subscription price at the expiration if the stock options expired during the period.
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Options Granted in 
2009

Granted in 
2008

Share price, euros 4.21 3.50
Exercise price, euros 3.57 6.70
Expected volatility, %* 43 32
Maturity, years 4.6 4.5
Risk-free rate, % 2.5 3.9
Expected dividends, euros 0 0
Valuation model BS BS
Expected forfeitures, % 10 14
Fair value, euros 454 791 101 816

* Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical 
volatility of the Group’s share using monthly observations over 
corresponding maturity.

The fair value of options have been determined at grant date and the fair value is expensed until vesting. The fair value of stock  
options have been determined by using Black–Scholes valuation model. No new options were granted during the period 2010.  
The effect of all options on the Group’s earnings during the period was EUR 0.244 million. The pricing of the options granted  
during the period was determined by the following inputs:

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet

Changes during the period 2010 Stock Options 2004 Stock Options 2007

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
life, years

2004B

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price in 

euros

2007A 2007B 2007C

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price in 

euros

1.1.2010
Outstanding at the beginning  
of the period

253 900 5.75 239 000 263 000 268 000 7.32

Changes during the period
Granted 0 – 0 0 0 –
Forfeited 0 – 15 000 23 000 0 8.77
Exercised 0 – 0 0 0 –
Expired 253 900 5.67 0 0 0 –
Weighted average share price, euros *** 4.32 4.56 – –

31.12.2010
Outstanding at the end of the period 0 – 224 000 240 000 268 000 7.16 2.39
Exercisable at the end of the period 0 – 0 0 0 –

*** weighted average price for Teleste share during the time that particular option could have been exerciced.

Changes during the period 2009 Stock Options 2004 Stock Options 2007

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
life, years

2004B

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price in 

euros

2007A 2007B 2007C

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price in 

euros

1.1.2009
Outstanding at the beginning of the period 253 900 5.57 251 000 275 000 0 9.44 

Changes during the period
Granted 0 – 0 0 268 000 3.57 
Forfeited 0 – 12 000 12 000 0 9.46 
Exercised 0 – 0 0 0 –
Expired 0 5.14 0 0 0 –
Weighted average share price, euros *** 3.63 – – –

31.12.2009
Outstanding at the end of the period 253 900 5.75 239 000 263 000 268 000 7.32 2.62
Exercisable at the end of the period 253 900 5.75 0 0 0 –

*** weighted average price for Teleste share between 1 January and 30 April 2009 for stock options 2004A and between 1 January 
and 31 December 2009 for stock options 2004B, respectively.
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1 000 euros 2010 2009

18 INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Non-current
	 Loans from financial institutions 11 515 11 500
	 Finance lease liabilities 332 737

Total 11 847 12 237

Current
	 Loans from financial institutions 15 629 9 908
	 Finance lease liabilities, current portion 614 627

Total 16 243 10 535

Interest-bearing loans from financial institutions are carried at amortised cost and finance lease 
liabilities are carried at fair value.

The currency mix of the Group long-term interest-bearing liabilities was as follows:

1 000 euros 31.12.2010 31.12.2009

EUR 11 847 12 237

11 847 12 237

Group long-term interest-bearing liabilities – interest rates are as follows:
Bank loans 1.2% 2.6%
Finance lease liabilities 3.9% 4.3%

The currency mix of the Group short-term interest-bearing liabilities:

EUR 100% 100% 

100% 100% 

Group short-term interest-bearing liabilities – interest rates are as follows:
Bank loans 1.8% 2.0%
Finance lease liabilities 3.9% 4.3%

Finance lease liabilities of the Group are payable as follows:

Minimum lease payments

Less than one year 645 678
Between one and five years 340 792

Total 985 1 470

Present value of minimum lease payments 

Less than one year 614 627
Between one and five years 332 737

Total 946 1 364

Future finance charges 39 106

Total finance lease liabilities 985 1 470

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet

1 000 euros Warranties Total

19 PROVISIONS

Balance at 1.1.2010 1 539 1 539
Provisions made during the year 431 431

Balance at 31.12.2010 1 970 1 970

2010

Non-current 657

Current 1 313

Total 1 970

Warranties
The Group grants 12–36 months guarantees for its certain products. If defects are detected during the warranty period, the Group 
either repairs the product or delivers a comparable new product. The amount of the warranty provision is based on the past experi-
ence on defective products and an estimate of related expenses.

1 000 euros 2010 2009

20 TRADE AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current

	 Trade payables 11 048 9 493
	 Personnel, social security and pensions 5 465 5 493
	 Accrued interest expenses and other financial items 78 51

	 Other accrued expenses and deferred income 8 717 6 664

	 Advances 748 2 937

	 Other liabilities 4 105 7 734

Total 30 161 32 372

Non current

	 Other liabilties 3 865 6 461

21 INCOME TAX PAYABLE FOR THE PERIOD

At the end of the period there was income tax payable EUR 1,240 thousand on the profit for the period (31 December 2009 there 
was no tax payable).
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Assets and liabilities in foreign currency translated at closing rate: 

2010 2009

USD SEK NOK GBP USD SEK NOK GBP

Current assets 770 1 596 1 450 1 275 1 040 1  232 1 478 3 333

Current liabilities 1 389 894 367 228 1 401 931 1 782 463

Cash flow hedges at 31.12.2010:

Currency position

Currency Exposure Hedge Net Hedge 
instrument

Hedge

USD 1 089 1 149 60 Forward 
exchange 
contract

105%

SEK 866 759 107 Forward 
exchange 
contract

88%

NOK 2 025 1 487 538 Forward 
exchange 
contract

73%

GBP 1 776 753 1 024 Forward 
exchange 
contract

42%

Cash flow hedges at 31.12.2009:

Currency position

Currency Exposure Hedge Net Hedge 
instrument

Hedge

USD 1 066 938 128 Forward 
exchange 
contract

88 %

SEK 1 531 1 502 29 Forward 
exchange 
contract

98 %

NOK 1 883 1 566 317 Forward 
exchange 
contract

83 %

GBP 3 383 3 019 364 Forward 
exchange 
contract

89 %

Financial Risk Management

The objective of the Group’s financial risk management is to identify, evaluate and hedge financial risks to reduce the impacts of price 
fluctuations in financial markets and of other factors on earnings, balance sheet and cash flows as well as to guarantee cost-efficient 
funding for the Group at all times. 

The Board has approved financial risk management guidelines and the allocation of responsibilities defined in the Group risk manage-
ment policy and related operating policies covering specific areas. The Board oversees the Group’s risk management framework. The 
Group’s administration is responsible for the coordination and control of the Group’s total financial risk position and external hedging 
transactions with banks in the name of the parent company. Teleste is risk averse in its treasury activities. The identification of the 
exposure is a common task of the business units and the Group administration. 

The hedge accounting principles as defined in IAS 39 are applied in Teleste only for hedging the interest risk for specific long term 
loans. Financial risks comprise market, credit, liquidity and cash flow interest rate risk, which are discussed more in detail below. The 
Group’s exposure to price risk is low.

Market risk
Market risk includes three types of risk: currency risk, price risk and fair value interest rate risk. Fluctuations of foreign exchange 
rates, market prices or market interest rates may cause a change in the value of a financial instrument. These changes may have an 
effect on the consolidated earnings, balance sheet and cash flows.

Currency risk
Transaction risk
The Group’s currency position is divided into the transaction position and net investments in foreign operations. Foreign exchange 
exposures of the Group’s units arise from receivables and accounts payables denominated in foreign currency, sales and purchase 
contracts and from forecast sales and purchases. Major part of the Group’s sales is in Euro. The most significant non-euro sales cur-
rencies are US dollar (accounts for 4 per cent of the net sales), Swedish and Norwegian crowns (9 per cent) and UK pound sterling 
(5 per cent). Significant part of expenses, 80 per cent, arise in euro and in US dollar almost 12 per cent. The hedging decisions are 
based on the expected net cash flow for the following six months.

In principle Teleste hedges forecast and probable cash flows. The Group only uses forward exchange agreements. According to the 
Group’s currency risk management policy all material currency risks are hedged at least six months ahead and the Group’s transaction 
position shall at all times be hedged 80–100% by currency. The level of hedges is monitored on a monthly basis. Currency risk is also 
managed through, among others, operational planning, pricing and offer terms. Reprising interval varies between 3 and 24 months. 

At the year-end 2010 the fair value of currency derivatives amounted to EUR 8.3 million (31. December 2009: EUR 8.0 million).

Translation risk
Since the Group’s currency risk exposure regarding net investments in foreign operations is relatively low, the equity position, i.e. 
differences in the calculatory euro values of these amounts (translation risk) is not actively hedged. At 31 December 2010 the total 
non-euro-denominated equity of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries amounted to EUR 3.0 million (31 December 2009: EUR 4.3 million).

Sensitivity to market risk

Sensitivity to market risks arising from financial instruments as required by IFRS 7

2010
Profit or  

Loss

2009
Profit or  

Loss

+–10% change in EUR/USD exchange rate +–6 +13

+–10% change in EUR/SEK exchange rate +–11 +–3

+–10% change in EUR/NOK exchange rate +–54 +–32

+–10% change in EUR/GBP exchange rate +–102 +–36

Fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk 
Teleste’s interest rate risk mainly comprises cash flow interest rate risk that arises from the interest-bearing liabilities. The Group 
can have floating or fixed interest loans and use interest swap contracts to achieve financial objectives. At the end of the reporting 
period EUR 15,144 thousand have short-term interest as a reference rate. The interest period is of less than one year. During 2009 
the group withdrew a 3-year loan of EUR 11,500 million to finance the acquisitions in Germany. For this loan which is hedged by a 
3 years interest swap contract, 2.6%, hedge accounting is applied. The change in the fair value of this hedging instrument, EUR –70 
thousand, is recognised in equity. The fair value of the interest swap contract is EUR –256 thousand. All Group loans are denomina-
ted in euro. In 2010, the average interest rate of the loan portfolio was 1.8% per cent. All finance lease agreements are fixed-rate. 

The Group does not hedge the risk position resulting from the fair value interest rate risk as the position is small. The average balan-
ces of the variable rate loans realized during the period have been used in calculating the sensitivity analysis required by IFRS 7. At 
the closing date 31 December 2010, the effect on variable rate interest-bearing liabilities on profit before taxes would have been 
EUR +–150 thousand had the interest rate increased or decreased by 1 percentage point.

Period in which repricing occurs Within 
1 year

Within  
1 year– 
5 years

Over  
5 years

Total

Financial instruments with floating interest rate
Financial liabilities
	 Loans from financial institutions 15 144 15 144

Financial instruments with fixed interest rate
Financial liabilities
	 Loans from financial institutions 11 500 11 500

Credit risk 
The Group’s accounts receivables are dispersed to a number of customers worldwide. Thus the primary responsibility for commercial 
credit risks lies with the Group’s geographical areas. Commercial credit risks are managed in accordance with the Group’s credit policy 
and are reduced for example with collaterals. Credit risks are approved and monitored by the Group management team.

The credit risk related to financial instruments, i.e. counterparty risk is managed in the Group administration. Counterparty risk 
realises if a counterparty is unable to meet its obligations. In order to minimise counterparty risks, Teleste seeks to limit the coun-
terparties, such as banks and other financial institutions, to those which have good credit rating. Liquid funds are invested in liquid 
instruments with low credit risk, e.g. in short-term bank deposits and commercial papers.
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All receivables are without collaterals. There are no significant concentrations of risk with respect to the receivables of the Group. 
Impairment losses on trade receivables are shown in note 5 Other operating expenses.

2010 2009

Analysis of trade receivables by age Gross Impairment 
loss

Net Gross Impairment 
loss

Net

Undue trade receivables 21 155 21 155 16 551 16 551
1–30 days 4 330 4 330 3 704 3 704
31–60 days 1 412 1 412 807 807
Over 60 days 3 109 –1 923 1 186 2 468 –1 386 1 082

Total 30 005 28 082 23 530 22 144
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 2010 2009

Loans and receivables 32 756 26 884 

Available for sale financial assets 713 713 
 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is monitored through Group’s cash flow forecasts. The Group seeks to reduce liquidity risk through sufficient cash 
reserves and credit facility arrangements as well as with balanced maturity profile of loans. Efficient cash and liquidity management 
also reduces liquidity risk. At the year-end 2010 the Group’s cash reserves totaled EUR 15.2 million and its interest-bearing net 
debt EUR 28.1 million. The Group administration raises the Group’s interest-bearing debt centrally. At 31 December 2010 Teleste 
had committed and available credit facilities as well as other agreed and undrawn loans amounting to EUR 40 million. Group’s loan 
agreements and committed loan facilities include profitability and cash flow covenants.

The recognition and measurement principles applied to derivatives are described in the accounting principles for the consolidated 
financial statements. The nominal and fair values of derivatives at the balance sheet date are presented in the note Commitments 
and contingencies to the consolidated financial statements.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to secure the continuity of the business and to make investments possible with 
optimal capital structure. The capital structure of the Group is reviewed by the Board of Directors on a regular basis.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of leverage ratio, the ratio of interest-bearing net debt to interest-bearing net debt, plus 
total equity. Interest-bearing net debt is calculated as borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s objective to maintain 
the leverage less than 50%.

The leverage ratio as of 31 December 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

2010 2009

Total borrowings 28 090 22 772 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 203 12 518
Interest-bearing net debt 12 887 10 254 
Total equity 50 402 46 669 
Interest-bearing net debt and total equity 63 289 56 923 

Leverage ratio 20.4% 18.0% 

22 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

All other financial assets and liabilities are measured at their fair values in the consolidated balance sheet except for the long-term 
bank loan, which is measured at amortised cost.

Derivative instruments
Teleste uses forward exchage contracts to hedge its balance sheet items against transaction risk. The changes in the fair values of 
forward exchage contracts designated as hedging instruments are fully recognised through profit and loss. The fair value changes 
of forward exchange contracts amounted to EUR –293 thousand in 2010 (2009: EUR –228 thousand) and they are recognised as 
adjustements to sales. Long term bank loans are hedged by a interest swap contract. For this interest swap contract Teleste apply 
hedge accounting. The fair value changes of interest swap contracts amounted to EUR –256 thousand of which EUR –70 thousand 
is entered in the total comprehensive income. The currency exchange contracts and interest swap contracts are in level 2. 

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise unlisted shares that are measured at cost. They are in level 3. The fair value of these in-
vestments could not be determined reliably and the estimate fluctuates significantly or the probabilities within the range of different 
estimates are not reasonably determinable to be used to estimate the fair value. 

Finance lease liabilities 
The fair values of finance lease liabilities are based on the discounted future cash flows. The discount rate used is the market interest 
rates for homogeneous lease agreements. 

Trade and other payables or receivables
For trade payables and other receivables than those arising from derivative instruments the notional amount equals their fair value 
as the discounting has no material effect considering the short maturity of these items.

Following discount rates were used for determining fair value:

2010 2009

Finance lease liabilities 3.9% 4.3%

As of 31 December 2010, the contractual maturity of interest-bearing liabilities was as follows:

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Loans from financial institutions 15 433 138 11 501
Trade payables 11 048
Finance lease liabilities 645 170 161 10
Forward exchange contracts
	 Outflow –8 283
	 Inflow 7 990
Other 78

As of 31 December 2009, the contractual maturity of interest-bearing liabilities was as follows:

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Loans from financial institutions 10 941 301 301 11 502
Trade payables 9 493
Finance lease liabilities 678 461 164 157 10
Forward exchange contracts
	 Outflow –8 043
	 Inflow 7 802
Other 51
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1 000 euros 2010 2009

23 ADJUSTMENTS TO CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Non-cash transactions:

	 Depreciation and amortisation 5 896 5 582
	 Impairment loss 0 800
	 Employee benefits 247 284

	 Total 6 143 6 666

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet

Carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities by measurement categories

Note Financial 
assets and 
liabilities at 

fair value 
through 
income 

statement

Loans and 
receivables

Available 
for sale 
financial 

assets

Financial 
liabilities 

measured 
at amorti-

zed cost 

Carrying 
amount 

by balance 
sheet item

Fair value

2010 Balance item

Non-current financial assets

Other financial assets 12 713 713 713
Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables 15 28 082 28 082 28 082

Carrying amount by category 0 28 082 713 0 28 795 28 795

Non-current financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 18 332 11 515 11 847 11 847
Current financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 18 614 15 629 16 243 16 243
Forward exchange contracts 25 293 293 293
Interest swap contracts 25 256 256 256
Trade and other payables 20 11 048 11 048 11 048
Other current liabilities 20 78 78 78

Carrying amount by category 1 495 0 0 38 270 39 765 39 765
 

2009 Balance item

Non-current financial assets

Other financial assets 12 713 713 713
Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables 15 22 144 22 144 22 144

Carrying amount by category 0 22 144 713 0 22 857 22 857

Non-current financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 18 737 11 500 12 237 12 237
Current financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 18 627 9 908 10 535 10 535
Forward exchange contracts 25 228 228 228
Interest swap contracts 25 157 157 157
Trade and other payables 20 9 493 9 493 9 493
Other current liabilities 20 51 51 51

Carrying amount by category 1 769 0 0 30 952 32 721 32 721

24 OPERATING LEASES

Group as lessee

Minimum lease payments on non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Less than one year 653 898
Between one and five years 1 601 1 345

Total 2 254 2 243

The Group leases factory and office facilities outside Finland under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of 2–5 years, 
normally with an option to renew the lease after that date. According to the index clauses of the leases lease payments are increased 
every two years. From 2009 figures leasing liabilites for machines have been deducted.
 
The Group has sublet part of its production and office property in Finland to an external company. The agreeement is valid until further 
notice. In 2010 the lease payments in respect of this part of property amounted to EUR 54 thousand (2009: EUR 117 thousand).

1 000 euros 2010 2009

25 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Collateral for own commitments
	 Other commitments 640 120

Rental and leasing liabilities
	 Rental liabilities 2 254 2 243
	 Lease liabilities 4 227 3 773

Currency derivatives
	 Value of the underlying forward contracts 8 283 8 043
	 Market value of the forward contracts –293 –228

Interest swap contracts
	 Value of the underlying interest swap contracts 11 500 11 500
	 Market value of intersest swap contracts –256 –157
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26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Teleste Group has related party relationships with its Board members and CEO.

Companies owned by the Group and parent company Group  
holding,  

%

Group  
voting,  

%

Parent company Teleste Oyj, Turku, Finland 100 100
Cableway Süd GmbH (former Antel GmbH), Munchen, Germany 100 100
Cableway Mitte GmbH ( former AVC Systemhaus GmbH) Cottbus, Germany 100 100
Cableway AG, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 100
DINH TechniCom S.A., Herstal, Belgium 100 100
DINH TeleCom S.A., Herstal, Belgium 100 100
Flomatik A/S, Porsgrun, Norway 100 100
Flomatik Network Services Ltd, Fareham, UK 100 100
Freycom S.A., Yverdon, Switzerland 100 100
Kaavisio Oy, Turku, Finland 100 100
Cableway Nord GmbH (former MKS MediaKom GmbH), Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 100
Cableway Nord GmbH & Co. KG (former MKS Nord GmbH & Co. KG), Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 100
Cableway Nord West GmbH & Co.KG (former MKS West GmbH & Co. KG), Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 100
Cableway Mitte GmbH & Co.KG (former MKS Mitte GmbH & Co. KG), Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 100
Cableway Cyber Optic GmbH & Co. KG (former MKS Cyber Optic GmbH & Co. KG), Bergisach Gladbach, Germany 100 100
Cableway Management GmbH (former MKS Management GmbH), Bergiscg Gladbach, Germany 100 100
Promacom AB, Tukholma, Sweden 100 100
Satlan Sp. z o.o., Wroclaw, Poland 100 100
Suomen Turvakamera Oy, Vantaa, Finland 100 100
Teleste India Ptv. Mumbai, India 100 100
Teleste Incentive Oy (former Suomen Yhteisantennit Oy), Turku, Finland 100 100
Teleste Belgium SPRL, Bryssel, Belgium 100 100
Teleste d.o.o., Ljutomer, Slovenia 100 100
Teleste Electronics (SIP) Co., Ltd, Shuzhou, China 100 100
Teleste France SAS, Paris, France 100 100
Teleste GmbH, Hannover, Germany 100 100
Teleste Kaurakatu Oy, Turku, Finland 100 100
Teleste LLC, Georgetown Texas, USA 100 100
Teleste Services GmbH, Hildesheim, Germany 100 100
Teleste Sweden AB (former Flomatik AB), Stockholm, Sweden 100 100
Teleste UK Ltd, Cambridge, UK 100 100
Teleste Video Networks Sp. z o.o. (former S-Link ssp), Krakova, Poland 100 100

The key management personnel compensations
1 000 euros 2010 2009
CEO
Salaries and other short-term benefits 499 311

During 2010 no options were granted to the management of Teleste (2009: 40,000 options). The terms of the management share 
option plans are similar to those of other employees’ share option plans, except for the terms of 2004 and 2007 options. According 
to the 2004 and 2007 option terms the recipient has to subscribe Teleste shares to the amount that equals his net annual salary. At 
31 December 2010 management had 120 000 (2009: 160 000) options, of which 0 were exercisable (2009: 0). Management of the 
parent company has 0,54% or 98 482 of the parent company’s shares (2009: 0,56% or 98 956 shares). Ceo’s holding in the Teleste 
management stands at 34.4%.

A voluntary pension fee for CEO amounted EUR 56 thousand (EUR 71 thousand in 2009). 

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet

1 000 euros 2010 2009

Remuneration to Board members and Managing Director

Chairman of the Board 47 38
Members of the Board 152 123
CEO 499 311

Total 698 471

The contractual age of retirement of CEO of the parent company, Jukka Rinnevaara, is 60. As to the contract, his term of notice has 
been specified as six (6) months in case the President and CEO decides to withdraw, and eighteen (18) months should the contract 
be terminated by the company. A fixed remuneration for the Board is paid as shares of the company in accordance with the decision 
of the Annual General Meeting. Remuneration of Board Meetings are paid in cash.

No cash loans were granted to nor commitments assumed or collaterals given regarding CEO or the members of the Board of 
Directors in 2010 and 2009.

The Board of Directors of Teleste Corporation decided 3 March 2010 on a new incentive plan directed to the members of the 
Teleste Management Group. The purpose of the plan is to commit the members of the Management Group to Teleste Corporation 
(“Teleste”) by encouraging them to acquire and hold Teleste’s shares and this way increase Teleste’s shareholder value in the long 
run. Through this incentive plan, the members of the Management Group personally invest a considerable amount of their own funds 
in Teleste’s shares. The directors finance their investments partly themselves and partly by a loan provided by Teleste. The actual 
owner risk will be carried out personally by the directors for the part of their personal investment in the plan. For the purpose of the 
share ownership, the members of the Management Group established a limited company named Teleste Management Oy (“Teleste 
Management”), whose entire share capital they own. Teleste Management acquired a total of 381,000 Teleste’s shares from Teleste. 
The share acquisition was financed by capital investments in Teleste Management by the members of the Management Group, in 
the maximum total amount of approximately EUR 290 000, as well as by a loan provided by Teleste. Some of the members of the 
Management Group financed their capital investments in Teleste Management by selling Teleste’s shares they held. After the plan 
was implemented in full, the members of the Management Group hold 2.1% of the Teleste’s shares through Teleste Management. 

27 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group management is not aware of any significant events occurred after the balance sheet date, which would have had an 
impact on the financial statements.
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Statement of Income

1 000 euros Note 2010 2009

Net sales 1 55 451 50 403
Change in inventories of finished goods 817 –2 348
Other operating income 2 3 668 4 649

Materials, supplies and services 3 –23 140 –18 648
Wages, salaries and social expenses 4 –18 015 –17 826
Depreciation and amortisation 5 –709 –764
Other operating expenses –13 216 –15 926

Operating profit 4 858 –459

Financial income and expenses 6 3 722 357

Profit before extraordinary items 8 580 –102

Extra ordinary items 7 –761 –450

Profit before taxes 7 819 –552

Appropriations 8 –220 –49

Direct taxes 9 –1 414 –103

Profit for the financial period 6 185 –703

Balance Sheet

1 000 euros Note 2010 2009

assets

Non-current assets
	 Property, plant and equipment 10 5 342 5 771
	 Long-term receivables 11 26 822 24 726
	 Investments 12 24 760 21 319

56 925 51 817

Current assets
	 Inventories 13 4 959 4 208
	 Trade and other receivables 14 14 063 11 687
	 Cash and cash equivalents 15 9 841 5 315

28 863 21 210

Total assets 85 789 73 028

Equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

	 Share capital 16 6 967 6 967
	 Share premium 16 1 504 1 504

	 Invested non-restricted equity 16 4 185 2 736
	 Retained earnings 16 20 257 22 384
	 Profit for the financial period 16 6 185 –703

39 097 32 888

Appropriations 8 722 502

Provisions 17 949 759

Liabilities
	 Long-term liabilities 18 11 500 11 500
	 Short-term liabilities 19 33 521 27 379

45 021 38 879

Total equity and liabilities 85 789 73 028
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Cash Flow Statement

1 000 euros 2010 2009

Cash flow from operations
	 Operating profit 4 858 –459
	 Adjustments to operating profit 899 668
	 Change in net working capital –1 866 11 986
	 Interest income 1 128 823
	 Interest expenses –648 –556
	 Dividend income 2 255 877
	 Paid group contribution –761 –450
	 Other financial items 236 12
	 Taxes paid –257 223

Cash flow from operations 5 843 13 124

Investments
	 Payment of other tangible assets –1 064 –3 021
	 Sale of other tangible assets 262 500
	 Sale of shares 0 0
	 Long term receivables –2 096 –21 796
	 Investments in subsidiary shares –3 442 –605

Cash flow from investments –6 340 –24 922

Cash flow before financing –497 –11 798

Financing
	 Short-term liabilities 5 000 1 000
	 Long-term liabilities 0 11 500
	 Paid dividends –1 424 –2 035
	 Purchases of own shares 0 –264
	 Other reserves 1 160 0
	 Share issue 287 0

Financing total 5 023 10 201

Change in liquid funds 4 526 –1 598
	 Liquid funds 1.1. 5 315 6 913
	 Liquid funds 31.12. 9 841 5 315

Accounting Principles  
of Teleste Corporation
Teleste Corporation is the parent company of the Teleste Group. 
Business ID of Teleste Corporation is 1102267-8 with registered 
office in Turku. The company registered address is Seponkatu 1, 
20060 Littoinen.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end 
of the accounting period, unsettled foreign currency balances are 
translated into the accounting currency at the closing rate on the 
balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses on trade 
accounts receivable and payable are adjusted to revenues and 
operating expenses, respectively. Other foreign exchange gains 
and losses are recorded as financial income and expenses.

Derivatives

The company has  currency forward exchange agreements. 
Exchange agreements are designed to eliminate the effect of 
currency exposures on the company performance and financial 
standing. The interest swap agreements are taken for specific 
long term floating interest loans to eliminate the interest risk.

Our corporate hedging policy is to cover all material currency 
risks at least six months ahead. The effect on company perform-
ance of the exchange rate agreements is recorded on their 
exercise day. 

Valuation of Fixed Assets

The balance sheet values for fixed assets are stated as historical 
cost, less the accumulated depreciation and amortisation. Depre-
ciation and amortisation is calculated on straight-line basis over 
the expected useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives for 
various assets are:

Intangible assets .................................................................. 3 years
Goodwill ............................................................................... 10 years
Other capitalised expenditure.............................................. 3 years
Buildings.................................................................... 25 to 33 years
Machinery....................................................................... 3 to 5 years
Computers...................................................................... 0 to 3 years

Write-downs on permanent impairment of the assets are 
recorded when it becomes evident that the carrying amount is 
not recoverable.
Companies acquired or established during the financial period are 
included in the subsidiary shares as of date of acquisition or for-
mation. Companies disposed of in the financial period have been 
included in the subsidiary shares up to the date of disposal.
Long-term investments and receivables include financial assets, 
which are intended to be held for over one year. 

Leased Assets

Purchases made under operating leases and capital leases are 
entered into income statement as renting expenses. 

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable 
value. Acquisition cost is determined using the first-in-first-out 
(FIFO) method. In addition to variable expenditure, value of 
inventory includes their share of the fixed expenditure under 
purchases and manufacturing.

Cash

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and in bank. 
Short-term investments include other funds equivalent to cash, 
such as commercial papers.

Net Sales

Net sales include revenue from services rendered and goods 
sold, adjusted for discounts granted, sales-related taxes and 
effects of the translation differences. Revenue is recognised 
when services are rendered, or when the goods are delivered to 
the customer. 

Percentage of completion method: sales and anticipated profits 
under significant long-term engineering and construction con-
tracts are recorded on a percentage-of-completion basis, using 
units of delivery (based on predetermined milestones) or the 
cost-to-cost method of accounting as the measurement basis. 
Estimated contract profits are recorded in earnings in proportion 
to recorded sales. In the cost-to-cost method, sales and profits 
are recorded after considering the ratio of accumulated costs to 
estimated total costs to complete each contract. In the event 
that the company can be held as the main contractor of a long-
term delivery contract, various product expenses, including raw 
materials and labour costs, will be accounted for in the calcula-
tion of the completion percentage. Possible changes in the 
anticipated total expenses or loss related to a long-term delivery 
contract are expensed as incurred.

Research and Development

R&D expenses are recorded as revenue expenditure. 

Pension Arrangements

The statutory pension liabilities of Finnish subsidiaries in the 
company are funded through pension insurance.

Income Taxes

Income tax includes tax on profit for the current financial period 
and the accrual adjustment for the preceding financial period.

Treasury Shares 

Treasury shares acquired by the Group are not included in bal-
ance. As to this, final accounts for the year of comparison have 
been adjusted by eliminating the value of treasury shares from 
the company fixed assets and the equity. This adjustment is 
based on an amendment of the Finnish accounting legislation. 
Use of own shares are recognised in invested non-restricted 
equity since 3 April 2007.
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Notes to the Parent Company Income Statement and Balance Sheet

1 000 euros 2010 2009
 

5 Depreciation according to plan

Other capitalized expenditure 243 323
Buildings 291 173
Machinery and equipment 174 215
Goodwill on consolidation 0 52

Total 708 764

6 Financial income and expenses

Interest income 40 11
Interest income from Group companies 1 089 811
Interest expenses –540 –452
Interest expenses to Group companies –108 –104
Loss on investment 0 –800
Currency differences –44 26
Other financial income and expenses 281 –13
Dividend income from Group companies 2 996 876
Dividend income 9 2

Total 3 723 357

7 Extra ordinary items

Paid group contribution 761 450

8 Appropriations and deferred tax assets and liabilities in the parent company

Change in accumulated depreciation difference
Buildings –220 –49
Other capitalized expenditure 0 0

Total –220 –49

Accumulated depreciation in excess of plan 722 502

9 Income taxes

Direct taxes 1 157 27
Taxes from previous years 257 76
Total 1 414 103

Notes to the Parent Company Income Statement and Balance Sheet

1 000 euros 2010 2009
 

1 Net sales

Net sales by segments

Video and Broadband Solutions 55 451 50 403
Network Services 0 0

Total 55 451 50 403

Net sales by market area
 

Finland 10 497 9 826
Nordic countries 8 355 9 758
Other Europe 27 479 25 773
Others 9 120 5 046

Total 55 451 50 403

2 Other operating income

R&D subvention and others 3 668 4 649

Total 3 668 4 649

3 Materials, supplies and services

Purchases 22 928 17 496
Change in inventories –65 1 191

22 863 18 687

Purchased services 277 –39

Total 23 140 18 648

4 Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries 14 783 14 650
Pension costs 2 452 2 151
Other personnel costs 780 1 026

Total 18 015 17 826

Remuneration to Board members and Managing Directors 698 471

Cash loans, securities or contingent liabilities were not granted to the President or to the members 
of the Board of Directors.

Year-end personnel 366 399
Average personnel 378 421

Personnel by function at the year-end

Research and Development 102 117
Production and Material Management 210 228
Sales and marketing 29 26
Administration 25 28

Total 366 399

10 Tangible and intangible assets

Tangible assets

Intangible  
rights

Land Buildings Machinery Other  
capitalized 

expenditure

Total

Acquisition cost 1.1.                                      7 579 99 8 036 8 669 3 713 20 517

Increases 0 0 448 82 0 530
Decreases                                                 0 0 –251 0 0 –251
Acquisition cost 31.12. 7 579 99 8 233 8 751 3 713 20 796

Accumulated depreciation 1.1. 7 579 0 3 020 8 372 3 354 14 746
Depreciation 0 0 291 174 243 708
Accumulated depreciation 31.12. 7 579 0 3 311 8 546 3 597 15 454

Book value 31.12.2010 0 99 4 922 205 116 5 342

Book value of machinery and equipment 31.12.2010 120
Book value of machinery and equipment 31.12.2009 149
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Notes to the Parent Company Income Statement and Balance Sheet

1 000 euros 2010 2009

17 Obligatory provisions

Provision for guarantees 949 759

18 Long term liabilities

Bank loans 11 500 11 500

19 Short term liabilities

Bank loans 15 000 10 000
Advance payments received 422 0
Accounts payables 4 099 2 950
Accounts payables from Group companies 999 980
Other current liabilities 1 513 340
Other current liabilities from Group companies 6 081 7 090
Accrued liabilities 5 408 6 019

Total 33 521 27 379

20 Contingent liabilities and pledged assets

Leasing liabilities
For next year 663 784
For later years 542 854

Total 1 205 1 638

Rental liabilities 1 635 1 832

Liabilities on own behalf
Bank guarantees 0 0
Guarantees given on behalf of subsidiaries 0 0

21 Currency derivates

Value of underlying forward contracts 5 195 6 815
Market value of forward contracts –277 –266

Forward contracts are used only for hedging currency exchange risks.

Notes to the Parent Company Income Statement and Balance Sheet

1 000 euros 2010 2009

11 Long-term receivables

Subordinated loan from group company 1 200 1 600
Other long term receivables from group companies 25 455 23 126
Other long term receivables 167 0

Total 26 822 24 726

12 Investments

Parent Company Shares in group companies Shares others Total

Acquisition cost 1.1. 22 090 714 22 804
Increase 3 441 0 3 441
Acquisition cost 31.12. 25 531 714 26 245

Accumulated depreciation 1.1. –1 485 0 –1 485
Impairment 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12. –1 485 0 –1 485

Book value 31.12.2010 24 046 714 24 760

13 Inventories 2010 2009

Raw materials and consumables 1 010 1 075
Work in progress 3 001 2 290
Finished goods 948 842

Total 4 959 4 208

14 Current assets

Accounts receivables 7 904 8 373
Accounts receivables from Group companies 5 111 2 071
Other receivables from Group companies 5 170
Accrued income 1 043 1 073

Total 14 063 11 687

15 Liquid funds

Cash and cash equivalents 9 841 5 315

16 Changes in shareholders’ equity

Share capital 1.1. 6 967 6 967
Share capital 31.12. 6 967 6 967

Share premium fund 1.1. 1 504 1 504
Share premium fund 31.12. 1 504 1 504

Invested non-restricted equity 1.1. 2 737 1 450
Share issues 0 0
Purchases of own shares 0 –264
Own share 1 448 1 550
Invested non-restricted equity 31.12. 4 185 2 736

Retained earnings 1.1. 21 681 24 419
Dividends –1 425 –2 035
Retained earnings 31.12. 20 257 22 384
Profit for the financial period 6 185 –703
Accumulated profit 31.12. 26 441 21 681

Total 39 097 32 888

Company’s distributable equity 31.12. 30 626 24 418

Company’s registered share capital consists of one serie and is divided into 18,186,590 shares at 1 vote each.
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Notes to the Parent Company Income Statement and Balance Sheet
Group’s 

share,  
%

Parent 
company’s

share, %

22 Companies owned by the Group and parent company

Cableway Süd GmbH (former Antel GmbH), Munchen, Germany 100 0 
Cableway Mitte GmbH (former AVC Systemhaus GmbH) Cottbus, Germany 100 0 
Cableway AG, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 12.5 
DINH TechniCom S.A., Herstal, Belgium 100 1 
DINH TeleCom S.A., Herstal, Belgium 100 0 
Flomatik A/S, Porsgrun, Norway 100 100 
Flomatik Network Services Ltd, Fareham, UK 100 100 
Freycom S.A., Yverdon, Switzerland 100 100 
Kaavisio Oy, Turku, Finland 100 100 
Cableway Nord GmbH (former MKS MediaKom GmbH), Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 0 
Cableway Nord GmbH & Co. KG (former MKS Nord GmbH & Co. KG), Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 0 
Cableway Nord West GmbH & Co. KG (former MKS West GmbH & Co. KG), Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 0 
Cableway Mitte GmbH & Co. KG (former MKS Mitte GmbH & Co. KG), Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 0 
Cableway Cyber Optic GmbH & Co. KG (former MKS Cyber Optic GmbH & Co. KG), Bergisach Gladbach, Germany 100 0 
Cableway Management GmbH (former MKS Management GmbH), Bergiscg Gladbach, Germany 100 0 
Promacom AB, Stockholm, Sweden 100 100 
Satlan Sp. z o.o., Wroclaw, Poland 100 100 
Suomen Turvakamera Oy, Vantaa, Finland 100 100 
Teleste India Ptv., Mumbai, India 100 100 
Teleste Incentive Oy (former Suomen Yhteisantennit Oy), Turku, Finland 100 100 
Teleste Belgium SPRL, Bryssel, Belgium 100 100 
Teleste d.o.o., Ljutomer, Slovenia 100 100 
Teleste Electronics (SIP) Co., Ltd, Shuzhou, China 100 100 
Teleste France SAS, Paris, France 100 100 

Teleste GmbH, Hannover, Germany 100 100 
Teleste Kaurakatu Oy, Turku, Finland 100 100 
Teleste LLC, Georgetown Texas, USA 100 100 
Teleste Services GmbH, Hildesheim, Germany 100 100 
Teleste Sweden AB (former Flomatik AB), Stockholm, Sweden 100 100 
Teleste UK Ltd, Cambridge, UK 100 100 
Teleste Video Networks Sp. z o.o. (former S-Link ssp), Krakov, Poland 100 100 

23 Own shares

Number
of shares

Nominal value,
EUR

Percentage of 
share capital 

and votes

Teleste Oyj owns own shares 31.12.2010 0 0 0.00

24 Shares and owners

 Number
of shares

Percentage of 
share capital 

and votes

Major shareholders 31.12.2010

EM Group Oy 3 822 813 21.02
Mandatum Life 1 679 200 9.23
Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 936 776 5.15
Kaleva Mutual Pension Insurance Company 824 641 4.53
Op-Suomi Small Cap 545 925 3.00
Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 521 150 2.87
State Pension Fund 500 000 2.75
Aktia Capital Mutual Fund 450 000 2.47
Skagen Vekst Verdipapierfond 437 000 2.40
Teleste Management Oy 381 000 2.09

Notes to the Parent Company Income Statement and Balance Sheet

Shareholders by number of shares 31.12.2010

Sector Dispersion of Shareholders Number of  
shareholders

Percentage 
 of total shares

Number of 
shares

Percentage 
 of total shares

Corporations 316 6.09 5 824 703 32.02

Financial and insurance corporations 12 0.23 3 760 250 20.67
Public institutions 9 0.17 2 325 976 12.78
Non-profit organizations 35 0.67 384 611 2.11
Private individuals 4 775 92.11 4 366 549 24.00
Foreign and nominee-registered 37 0.71 1 524 501 8.38

Total 5 184 100.00 18 186 590 100.00

Number of shares Owners % Shares  %

1–100 1 151 22.20 79 858 0.43

101–1 000 3 030 58.44 1 264 333 6.95
1 001–10 000 907 17.49 2 511 430 13.80
10 001–100 000 77 1.48 1 834 252 10.08
100 001–1 000 000 17 0.32 6 994 704 38.46
1 000 001– 2 0.03 5 502 013 30.25
Total 5 184 100.00 18 186 590 100.00

Management interest

Number of 
shares

Percentage  
of shares

Percentage 
of votes

CEO and Board Members 98 482 0.54 0.54

Option programs

Number of shares entitled to subscribe with options

Number of 
shares

Number of  
shares and 
votes after 

exercised 
options, %

CEO 120 000 0.63 
Other option holders 616 000 3.24 
2007 program warrants hold by the group 104 000 0.55 

Total 840 000 4.41 

Audit expenses 2010 2009

Auditing assignments 44 39
Tax consultancy 27 43
Other assignments 8 36
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To the Annual General Meeting of Teleste Oyj

We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, the report of the Board of Directors, and the administration 
of Teleste Oyj for the year ended 31 December, 2010. The financial statements comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position, (income statement), statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement, cash flow 
statement and notes to the financial statements.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for the 
preparation of financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in accordance with the laws 
and regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The Board 
of Directors is responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of the company’s accounts and finances, and the Managing 
Director shall see to it that the accounts of the company are in compliance with the law and that its financial affairs have been 
arranged in a reliable manner.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements, on the consolidated financial statements and on the report of 
the Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act requires that we comply with the requirements of professional ethics. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors are free 
from material misstatement, and whether the members of the Board of Directors of the parent company and the Managing Director 
are guilty of an act or negligence which may result in liability in damages towards the company or have violated the Limited Liability 
Companies Act or the articles of association of the company. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
and the report of the Board of Directors. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements and report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements and the report of the Board of Directors.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and cash 
flows of the group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. 

Opinion on the Company’s Financial Statements and the Report of the Board of Directors

In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated 
and the parent company’s financial performance and financial position in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the 
preparation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The information in the report of the Board 
of Directors is consistent with the information in the financial statements. 

Helsinki 1.2.2011

KPMG OY AB

Esa Kailiala
Authorised Public Accountant

Auditor’s reportProposal for the Distribution  
of Earnings
Board of Directors’ Proposal for the Distribution of Earnings

The parent company’s distributable equity as of 31 December 2010 stood at EUR 30,625,114.11. 

As to the Annual General Meeting scheduled for 8 April 2011, the Board proposes that a dividend of EUR 0.12 per share be paid for 
the outstanding shares for the year 2010.

Helsinki 1 February 2011

Teleste Corporation
Board of Directors

Marjo Miettinen	 Pertti Ervi	 Tero Laaksonen
Chairman	 Member	 Member

Pertti Raatikainen	 Kai Telanne	 Petteri Walldén
Member	 Member	 Member

Jukka Rinnevaara
CEO

The Auditor’s Note

Our auditors report has been issued today.

Helsinki 1 February 2011

Esa Kailiala
Authorised Public Accountant
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Financial Indicators 2006–2010 IFRS 2010 IFRS 2009 IFRS 2008 IFRS 2007 IFRS 2006

Profit and loss account, balance sheet
Net sales, Meur 167.8 141.7 108.7 125.1 101.8
Change % 18.5 30.3 –13.1 22.9 23.2 
Sales outside Finland, % 93.3 91.8 90.2 91.2 90.6 
Operating profit, Meur 7.4 2.5 5.6 13.2 9.8
% of net sales 4.4 1.8 5.2 10.5 9.6 
Profit after financial items, Meur 6.7 1.4 5.1 12.7 9.3
% of net sales 4.0 1.0 4.7 10.1 9.1 
Profit before taxes, Meur 6.7 1.4 5.1 12.7 9.3
% of net sales 4.0 1.0 4.7 10.1 9.1 
Profit for the financial period, Meur 4.7 0.4 5.5 9.4 6.9
 % of net sales 2.8 0.3 5.1 7.5 6.8 
R&D expenditure, Meur 10.3 10.8 13.5 13.1 9.8
% of net sales 6.1 7.6 12.4 10.5 9.7 
Gross investments, Meur 3.8 25.2 3.9 12.3 6.2
% of net sales 2.2 17.8 3.6 9.8 6.1 
Interest bearing liabilities, Meur 28.1 22.8 11.0 9.5 8.0
Shareholder's equity, Meur 50.4 46.7 46.6 46.7 37.7
Total assets, Meur 116.2 110.1 75.5 77.9 68.2

Personnel and orders
Average personnel 1 215 1 103 702 681 608
Order backlog at year end, Meur 17.0 33.1 24.0 21.5 28.1
Orders received, Meur 167.2 151.0 118.6 118.5 107.2

Key metrics
Return on equity, % 9.9 0.9 11.8 22.2 19.7 
Return on capital employed, % 10.2 3.3 10.4 27.1 24.3 
Equity ratio, % 43.6 43.6 61.7 60.2 55.3 
Gearing, % 25.5 22.0 3.6 3.8 3.2 
Earnings per share, eur 0.27 0.02 0.32 0.55 0.41
Earnings per share fully diluted, eur 0.27 0.02 0.32 0.52 0.38
Shareholders equity per share, eur 2.90 2.68 2.74 2.69 2.22

Teleste share
Highest price, eur 5.33 4.30 7.49 12.34 12.75
Lowest price, eur 3.64 2.25 1.90 6.47 6.46
Closing price, eur 4.41 3.72 2.24 6.71 11.63
Average price, eur 4.49 3.62 4.52 10.10 9.83
Price per earnings 16.3 154.1 7.0 12.3 28.6
Market capitalization, Meur 80.2 66.2 39.9 118.6 202.2
Stock turnover, Meur 14.2 28.5 51.1 72.4 138.9
Turnover, number in millions 3.2 7.8 11.5 7.2 14.2
Turnover, % of capital stock 17.4 44.0 64.6 40.5 81.4 
Average number of shares 18 093 689 17 805 590 17 708 782 17 494 435 17 363 102
Number of shares at the year-end 18 186 590 17 805 590 17 805 590 17 671 305 17 389 302
Average number of shares, diluted  
w/o own shares

17 693 605 17 229 154 17 372 555 17 971 752 18 022 505

Number of shares at the year-end, diluted 
w/o own shares

17 693 605 17 425 605 17 039 399 17 972 785 18 034 752

Paid dividend, Meur * 2.1 1.4 2.0 4.2 3.4
Dividend per share, eur  *0.12  0.08 0.12 0.24 0.20
Dividend per net result, % 43.7 331.3 37.4 43.9 49.1 
Effective dividend yield, % 2.7 2.2 5.4 3.6 1.7 
* The Board’s proposal to the AGM

Calculation of Key Figures 
 
Return on equity: Profit/loss for the financial period

x 100
Shareholders’ equity (average)

 
Return on capital employed: Profit/loss for the period after financial items + financing charges

x 100
Total assets – non-interest-bearing liabilities (average)

 
Equity ratio: Shareholders’ equity

x 100
Total assets – advances received

 
Gearing: Interest bearing liabilities – cash in hand and in bank – interest bearing assets

x 100
Shareholders’ equity

 
Earnings per share: Profit for the period attributable to equity holder of the parent

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period
 
Earnings per share, diluted: Profit for the period attributable to equity holder of the parent (diluted)

Average number of shares – own shares + number of options at the period-end
 
Equity per share: Shareholders’ equity

Number of shares – number of own shares at year-end
 
Price per earnings (P/E): Share price at year-end

Earnings per share
 
Effective dividend yield: Dividend per share

Share price at year-end
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The Petronas Towers, or Twin Towers, a world famous 
landmark of Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, were the tallest buildings 
in the world from 1998 to 2004. The construction of Tapei 101 
meant that the claim to fame is now revised to be the world’s 
tallest twin buildings. The buildings were completed in 1998 
after a seven year build, which was undertaken as a construction 
‘race’ between a Japanese and two South Korean companies. The 
South Koreans, who started second, won the race by completing 
Tower 2 before the Japanese.

The building has 88 floors, and was designed to reflect 
Malaya’s Muslim roots, with a facade of Islamic motifs. The 
concrete construction has, at 120 meters, the world’s deepest 
foundations. The two storey bridge between the two towers is 
retractable in adverse weather. Given the height of the buildings 
it will not surprise you to know that the curvature of the earth 
results in the distance between the towers at ground level, being 
less than it is at the top.

The security system, which includes CCTV, was installed as a star 
network into a number of control rooms. These control rooms are 
then interconnected over fibre optics by a multi-channel CFO700 
system. Sadly obsolete now in this digital age, CFO700 was THE 
vehicle that transported Teleste Video Networks from a peripheral 
CCTV player, to a global influence that we are today.

Teleste’s shares are listed on the NASDAQ 
OMX Helsinki. The company has one series 
of shares. On December 31, 2010  the 
number of registered shareholders was  
5 184.

Shares and  
Shareholders
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Investor Relations

CEO, Mr. Jukka Rinnevaara is in charge of investor relations. In 
addition to the CEO, the top management of the company is 
committed to serving various participants of the capital market.

Objectives and Principles

Our communication aims at providing all the market participants 
with equally correct and relevant information, which supports 
the value formation of the company share. The principles guiding 
Teleste’s disclosure policy include up-to-dateness, truthfulness 
and simultaneity. Corner stones of our regular financial commu-
nications also include coherence of the released information and 
continuity. For all meetings, any specified information involving 
corporate strategy and development is based on previously 
published data. 

Teleste has formulated a Diclosure Policy, approved by the Board 
of Directors, which defines the principles and procedures by 
which Teleste Corporation communicates with the capital market. 

Contact Information

Jukka Rinnevaara, CEO
Phone +358 2 2605 611, fax +358 2 2605 812

Tiina Vuorinen, Investor Relations and Press Office
Phone +358 2 2605 611, fax +358 2 2605 812

Email: investor.relations@teleste.com

Share Basics

Teleste Corporation is listed on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy 
in the Information Technology sector. In 2010, the company 
was included in the small cap segment. The company shares are 
included in the book-entry securities system.

Facts about the share:
Listed on...........................................................................30.3.1999
ISIN code.................................................................. FI0009007728
Trading code..............................................................................TLT1V
Reuter’s ticker symbol......................................................TLT1V. HE
Bloomberg ticker symbol...................................................TLT1V FH

12 months high.......................................................................... 5.33
12 months low........................................................................... 3.63
All-time high (7.9.2000).................................................. EUR 39.00
All-time low (12.12.2008)................................................ EUR 1.90 

Financial Information

Annually, Teleste releases the Financial Statement bulletin, 
Annual Report and three Interim Reports. Teleste meets inves-
tors, analysts and representatives of the media in news confer-
ences set up in connection with releases of financial reports.

Teleste exercises a Silent Period of two weeks preceding publica-
tion of financial statements and interim reports. During these 
periods Teleste will not participate in any meetings with inves-
tors or analysts and Group representatives are not allowed to 
comment upon company results. 

Financial Releases in 2011:
Interim report January to March.....................................27.4.2011
Interim report January to June......................................... 3.8.2011
Interim report January to September......................... 26.10.2011
Financial Statements......................................................... 1.2.2012

These publications including the stock exchange releases are 
available in Finnish and English at the company website.

Publications may be subscribed to at Teleste’s website or via the 
company’s investor relations, investor.relations@teleste.com,  
tel. +358 2 2605 611. 

The company announcements are available for subscription by 
direct email at the Company website.

Changes in Shareholders’ Contact Information

The shareholder register is maintained by Euroclear Finland Oy. 
Shareholders are kindly requested to inform the custodian of 
their book-entry account of any changes in contact details.

In the event Euroclear Finland Oy acts as the account operator, 
any changes should be notified to the address:
Euroclear Finland Oy
P.O. Box 1110
FI-00101 Helsinki FINLAND
Street address: Urho Kekkosen katu 5 c
Telephone: +358 20 770 6000
Email: info.finland@euroclear.eu

Analyst Coverage

According to information available to us, analysts listed below 
(the list may not be exhaustive) monitor Teleste’s performance 
on their own initiative publishing investment analyses about us. 
Teleste takes no responsibility for the opinions expressed by 
analysts or for any evaluations presented by them.

For analyst contact information visit our company website.
Carnegie Investment Bank Ab, Ilkka Haavisto
SEB Enskilda Equities, Artem Beletski
Handelsbanken Capital Markets, Karri Rinta
Danske Markets Equities, Ilkka Rauvola
Nordea Markets, Martti Larjo
Pohjola Pankki Oyj, Hannu Rauhala
Swedbank, Pekka Rouhiainen
Ålandsbanken Equities, Matti Riikonen

Shares and Shareholders
Annual General Meeting

Teleste Corporation’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) will be held 
on Friday, 8 April 2011, commencing at 3 p.m., in Helsinki Hall at 
Finlandia Hall in Helsinki, 13 e Mannerheimintie. Registration and 
distribution of voting tickets begins at 2 p.m.

Right to Participate and Registration

Shareholders registered on the list of shareholders with 
Euroclear Finland Oy on Tuesday, 29 March 2011 are entitled 
to participate in the Annual General Meeting. A shareholder 
whose shares have been registered on his/her personal Finnish 
book-entry securities account has been entered into the list of 
company shareholders. 

Shareholders wishing to attend the Annual General Meeting must 
sign up with the company no later than by 4 p.m. on Thursday, 
31 March 2011. Sign up to the AGM by one of the following:

Such notice can be given: 
by email investor.relations@teleste.com;
by telephone +358 2 2605 611;
by telefax +358 2 2605 812; or
by regular mail to the address Teleste Corporation,  
Tiina Vuorinen, P.O. Box 323, FI-20101 Turku, Finland.

The registration notice must be delivered before the deadline 
stated above. Please specify your name, person ID, address, 
telephone number and the name and person ID of assistant 
or representative, if any. Personal information provided by the 
shareholder to Teleste Corporation will be used only for the AGM 
and the related necessary registration purposes. 

Use of Representative and Proxies

A shareholder is entitled to attend the AGM and exercise his/her 
rights at it through a representative.

The appointed representative of this shareholder must produce a 
dated proxy, or by other reliable means confirm his/her authorisa-
tion for the representation of the shareholder. Should a share-
holder participate in the meeting by means of several authorized 
representatives representing the shareholder with shares in dif-
ferent book-entry accounts, the shares by which each authorized 
representative represents the shareholder shall be identified in 
connection with the registration.

Possible powers of attorney should be delivered in originals to 
the address Teleste Corporation, Tiina Vuorinen, P.O. Box 323, 
FI-20101 Turku, Finland by Thursday, 31 March 2011 at 4 p.m. at 
the latest.

Holder of Nominee-registered Shares

The owner of nominee-registered shares is entitled to attend the 
meeting by virtue of the shares pursuant to which he would be 
entitled to be registered with Euroclear Finland Oy’s shareholder 
register on 29 March 2011. Participation also requires that the 
shareholder of the relevant shares has been entered temporarily 
in the shareholder register maintained by Euroclear Finland Oy 
no later than 5 April 2011 at 10:00 a.m. For nominee registered 
shares, this shall be deemed as registration for the meeting.

A holder of nominee-registered shares is advised to request the 
necessary instructions regarding temporary registration in the 
company’s shareholder register, the issuing of proxy documents 
and registration for the General Meeting from his/her custodian 
bank well in advance. The account management organisation of 
the custodian bank must have the holder of a nominee-registered 
share who wishes to participate in the AGM to be temporarily 
entered in the shareholder register no later than the deadline 
specified above. 

Other Information

Shareholders attending the AGM are entitled, as specified under 
the Companies Act section 5 paragraph 25, to put forth ques-
tions regarding issues dealt with in the Meeting.

On the date of this notice of meeting, the total number of shares 
and votes in Teleste Corporation is 18,186,590.

Dividend Policy

Teleste wishes to be an attractive investee corporation in which 
the investment’s increase in value and the dividend yield form a 
competitive combination. The annual proposal for the dividend is 
validated by the Board in consideration of profitability, financial 
situation and needs for investment necessitated by profitable 
growth.

Proposal for Distribution of Dividend 2010

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting 
that, based on the adopted balance sheet, a dividend of EUR 
0.12 per share be paid for shares other than those in company 
possession for the fiscal year that ended on 31 December 2010. 
The dividend will be paid to shareholders who on the record date, 
13 April 2011, have been entered in the Company’s Shareholder 
List, which is kept by Euroclear Finland Oy. This dividend will be 
paid on 20 April 2011.

Payment of Dividend in 2011

Annual General Meeting...................................................  4.8.2011
Dividend ex date...............................................................11.4.2011
Dividend record date........................................................13.4.2011
Payment of dividend........................................................20.4.2011

Dividend history, EUR
1999  2000  2001 2002 2003 2004  2005  2006  2007   2008 2009 2010*

 0.10  0.12  0.16  0.08  0.08  0.12  0.16  0.20 0.24 0.12 0.08 0.12*

* Proposal by the Board

For proposals by the Board for the General Meeting and other 
additional information about the AGM is available at Teleste’s 
website: www.teleste.com/AGM

Minutes of the Annual General Meeting will be available at  
Teleste’s website no later than 23 April 2011.
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Shareholders

According to the Finnish Central Security Depository the number 
of shareholders at the end of the period under review was 5,184 
(5,440). Foreign ownership accounted for 8.38% (9.69%). For 
more information on shareholders and shares see the parent 
company notes 24.

Price Development and Trading in 2010 

As to the company share price in 2010, the low was EUR 3.63  
(2.25) and the high EUR 5.33 (4.30). Closing price on 31 Dece
mber 2010 stood at EUR 4.41 (3.72). From 1 January to 31 
December 2010, trading with Teleste share at NASDAQ OMX 
Helsinki amounted to EUR 14.2 (28.5) million. In the period under 
review, 3.2 (7.8) million Teleste shares were traded on the stock 
exchange.

Market capitalization at the year-end stood at EUR 80,202,862 
(2009: 66,236,795).

Share Capital and the Number of Shares

Teleste has one series of shares. In Annual General Meeting each 
share carries one vote and confers an equal right to a dividend. 

On 31 December 2010, the registered share capital of Teleste 
stood at EUR 6,966,932.80 divided in 18,186,590 shares.

In the period under review Teleste received no flagging notifi-
cations pursuant to Section 2, Paragraph 9, of the Securities 
Market Act.
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Share Turnover 2006–2010

Key Figures per Share

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Earnings per share, eur 0,27 0,02 0,32 0,55 0,41

Earnings per share fully diluted, eur 0,27 0,02 0,32 0,52 0,38

Shareholders equity per share, eur 2,90 2,68 2,74 2,69 2,22

Dividend distribution, Meur 2,1* 1,4 2,0 4,2 3,4

Dividend per share, eur  0,12*  0,08 0,12 0,24 0,20

Dividend per net result, % 43,7 331,3 37,4 43,9 49,1 

Effective dividend yield, % 2,7 2,2 5,4 3,6 1,7 

Closing price, eur 4,41 3,72 2,24 6,71 11,63

Price per earnings (P/E) 16,3 154,1 7,0 12,3 28,6

Market capitalisation, Meur 80,2 66,2 39,9 118,6 202,2

Turnover, Meur 14,2 28,5 51,1 72,4 138,9

Turnover, number in millions 3,2 7,8 11,5 7,2 14,2

Turnover, % of share capital 17,4 44,0 64,6 40,5 81,4 

Average number of shares 18 093 689 17 805 590 17 708 782 17 494 435 17 363 102

Number of shares at the year-end 18 186 590 17 805 590 17 805 590 17 671 305 17 389 302

* The Board’s proposal to the Annual General Meeting

January 04	 A summary of Teleste´s stock exchange releases  
in 2009.

January 22	 The results of Teleste´s co-determination nego
tiations. During the negotiations it was agreed 
to terminate employment contracts with 8 white 
collar and 16 blue collar employees.

February 3	 Financial Statement of Teleste Corporation  
1 January to 31 December 2009.

March 3	 Notice to the Annual General Meeting of Teleste 
Corporation to be held on April 9, 2010.

March 3	 The Board of Directors of Teleste Corporation 
decided on a new incentive plan directed the 
members of the Teleste Management Group.

March 18	 Announcement that Teleste´s Annual Report 
2009 has been published.

March 24	 Teleste Corporation approved share subscrip-
tion of the directed share issue related to the 
management incentive plan. A total of 381 000 
new shares were subscribed. 

March 31	 New shares subscribed in the share issue, in total 
381 000 shares, have been entered into the 
Trade Register and will be applied for public trad-
ing on Nasdaq OMX Helsinki Ltd on April 1, 2010.

April 6	 Teleste published the new reclassification of 
financial information as of January 1, 2010. The 
new reporting units are Video and Broadband 
Solutions and Network Services.

April 9	 Decisions of the Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
were published. The AGM resolved to distribute 
a dividend of EUR 0.08 per share for year 2009. 
Mrs. Marjo Miettinen was re-elected as the Chair-
man of the Board of Directors and Mr. Pertti 
Ervi, Mr. Tero Laaksonen, Mr. Pertti Raatikainen, 
Mr. Kai Telanne and Mr. Petteri Walldén were re-
elected as members of the Board of Directors.

April 15	 Investor News 
Teleste has entered the Swiss services market by 
acquiring a local services company, Freycom S.A., 
specialising in network maintenance and upgrades 
of cable and house networks.

April 28	 Teleste Corporation Interim Report 1.1.–31.3.2010.

July 1	 Teleste won an order from IBM to build video sur-
veillance centralised recording solution for French 
National Railways. Value of the order exceeds EUR 
one million.

July 21	 Teleste Corporation Interim Report 1.1.–30.6.2010.

August 2	 Teleste signed a four year frame agreement with 
HOT Telecom from Israel. Order value was esti-
mated to EUR 16 million.

September 1	 Teleste entered the Polish system integrator 
market of IP video solutions through acquiring  
the total share capital of Satlan Sp. z o.o..

September 27	Teleste published the financial calendar for year 
2011.

October 25	 Teleste´s subsidiary Cableway AG signed a three 
year contract extension with Kabel Deutschland. 
The estimated annual value of this frame agree-
ment equals approximately EUR 50 million.

October 27	 Teleste Corporations Interim Report  
1.1.–30.9.2010.

October 29	 Teleste undersigned an agreement with INEO (GDF 
Suez Group) to provide a video surveillance system 
for Paris police organisation.Value of the order is 
approximately EUR 6.9 million.

A Summary of Teleste Corporation’s Stock Exchange Releases and Announcements During 2010
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The releases can be viewed at: www.teleste.com/Investors > Stock Exchange Releases

Some of the information included in the releases might be out of date.
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Teleste Corporation 

Postal address: P.O. Box 323, FI-20101 Turku, Finland

Visiting address: Seponkatu 1, FI-20660 Littoinen

Telephone (switchboard): +358 2 2605 611

Telefax: +358 2 2605 812

www.teleste.com

Business ID 1102267-8

Teleste Corporation 

Postal address: P.O. Box 323, FI-20101 Turku, Finland

Visiting address: Seponkatu 1, FI-20660 Littoinen

Telephone (switchboard): +358 2 2605 611

Telefax (switchboard): +358 2 2446 928

Telefax (Investor Relations): +358 2 2605 812

www.teleste.com

Business ID 1102267-8
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